# Fifty-third Session of the WHO Regional Committee for Africa

Johannesburg, South Africa, 1–5 September 2003

# **Final Report**



# Fifty-third Session of the WHO Regional Committee for Africa

Johannesburg, South Africa, 1–5 September 2003

# **Final Report**

World Health Organization

Regional Office for Africa Brazzaville • 2003

AFR/RC53/18

## © WHO Regional Office for Africa (2003)

Publications of the World Health Organization enjoy copyright protection in accordance with the provisions of Protocol 2 of the Universal Copyright Convention. All rights reserved.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

Printed in the Republic of Congo

#### **CONTENTS**

	Pag	ges
ABBREVIA	TIONS	viii
	PART I	
PROCEDUI	RAL DECISIONS	
Decision 1:	Composition of the Subcommittee on Nominations	3
Decision 2:	Election of the Chairperson, the Vice-Chairpersons and the Rapporteurs	3
Decision 3:	Appointment of members of the Subcommittee on Credentials	4
Decision 4:	Credentials	4
Decision 5:	Replacement of members of the Programme Subcommittee	4
Decision 6:	Provisional agenda of the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee .	5
Decision 7:	Agenda of the one-hundred-and-thirteenth session of the Executive Board	5
Decision 8:	Method of work and duration of the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly	5
Decision 9:	Choice of subjects for the Round Tables in 2004	6
Decision 10:	Dates and places of the fifty-fourth and fifty-fifth sessions of the Regional Committee	7
Decision 11:	Nomination of representatives of the African Region to the Policy and Coordination Committee (PCC) of the Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction (HRP)	7
Decision 12:	Nomination of representatives of the African Region on the Roll Back Malaria Partnership Board	8
Decision 13:	Qualifications and selection of the Regional Director	8

#### **RESOLUTIONS**

AFR/RC53/R1:	Macroeconomics and health: The way forward in the African
	Region
AFR/RC53/R2:	Strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems11
AFR/RC53/R3:	Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation
	and agenda for action
AFR/RC53/R4:	Women's health: A strategy for the African Region
AFR/RC53/R5:	Food safety and health: Situation analysis and perspectives16
AFR/RC53/R6:	Scaling up the interventions against HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and
	malaria
AFR/RC53/R7:	Vote of thanks
	PART II
REPORT OF T	HE REGIONAL COMMITTEE
	Paragraphs
OPENING OF	Paragraphs THE MEETING1–36
Statements	THE MEETING
Statements ORGANIZATI	THE MEETING
Statements ORGANIZATI Compositi	THE MEETING
Statements ORGANIZATI Compositi Election of	THE MEETING
Statements ORGANIZATI Compositi Election of Adoption of	THE MEETING
Statements ORGANIZATI Compositi Election of Adoption of	THE MEETING
Statements ORGANIZATI Compositi Election of Adoption of Adoption of Adoption of	THE MEETING
Statements ORGANIZATI Compositi Election of Adoption of Adoption of Appointm THE WORK O	THE MEETING
Statements ORGANIZATI Compositi Election of Adoption of Adoption of Appointm THE WORK O REPORT OF TE	THE MEETING
Statements ORGANIZATI Compositi Election of Adoption of Adoption Appointm THE WORK O REPORT OF THE General properties	THE MEETING
Statements ORGANIZATI Compositi Election of Adoption of Adoption of Appointm THE WORK O REPORT OF TI General pr Health sys	THE MEETING

Family and reproductive health	114–123
Healthy environments and sustainable development	
Administration and finance	132–139
Adoption of the Annual Report	140
CORRELATION BETWEEN THE WORK OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE,	
THE EXECUTIVE BOARD AND THE WORLD HEALTH ASSEMBLY	141–165
Ways and means of implementing resolutions of regional interest adopted by the World Health Assembly and the Executive Board (document AFR/RC53/3)	142 154
Agendas of the one-hundred-and-thirteenth session of the Executive Board, the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly and the fifty-fourth session	
of the Regional Committee (document AFR/RC53/4)	155–158
Method of work and duration of the World Health Assembly (document AFR/RC53/5)	159–162
Evaluation of the implementation of resolution WHA51.31, Regular budget allocations to regions (document AFR/RC53/14)	
REPORT OF THE PROGRAMME SUBCOMMITTEE	
(document AFR/RC53/7)	166–253
Macroeconomics and health: The way forward in the Africa Region (document AFR/RC53/8 Rev. 1)	169–182
Strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems (document AFR/RC53/9 Rev. 1)	183_192
	.100 172
Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation and agenda for action (document AFR/RC53/10 Rev. 1)	193–202
Women's health: A strategy for the African Region (document AFR/RC53/11 Rev. 1)	203–216
Food safety and health: Situation analysis and perspectives (document AFR/RC53/12 Rev. 1)	217–227
Scaling up interventions against HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria (document AFR/RC53/13 Rev. 1)	228–246
Eradication of dracunculiasis in the WHO African Region (document AFR/RC53/INF/Doc.1)	247
SARS preparedness and response in the WHO African Region (document AFR/RC53/INF/Doc.2)	
\	<b>-</b> /

	Qualifications and selection of the Regional Director document AFR/RC53/15)	. 250–253
	ND TABLES (documents AFR/RC53/RT1, AFR/RC53/RT2, RC53/RT3)	. 254–259
	ES AND PLACES OF THE FIFTY-FOURTH AND FIFTY-FIFTH ONS OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE (document AFR/RC53/17)	. 260–261
	PTION OF THE REPORT OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE ment AFR/RC53/18)	262
	SURE OF THE FIFTY-THIRD SESSION OF THE REGIONAL MITTEE	. 263–273
V	Closing remarks of the Regional Director	267
	PART III	
ANN	EXES	Pages
1.		
	List of participants	71
2.	List of participants	
		87
2.	Agenda and Programme of work	87
<ul><li>2.</li><li>3.</li></ul>	Agenda and Programme of work  Report of the Programme Subcommittee	
<ol> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	Agenda and Programme of work  Report of the Programme Subcommittee  Reports of Round Tables	87 95 118 128
<ol> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> </ol>	Agenda and Programme of work  Report of the Programme Subcommittee  Reports of Round Tables  Reports of special sessions  Speech by Dr Mantombazana Tshabalala-Msimang, Minister of Health,	
<ol> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	Agenda and Programme of work  Report of the Programme Subcommittee  Reports of Round Tables  Reports of special sessions  Speech by Dr Mantombazana Tshabalala-Msimang, Minister of Health, Republic of South Africa  Speech of Professor Rasamindrakotroka Andry, Minister of Health,	87118128134137

10.	Keynote Speech by Honourable Mosiuoa Lekota, Minister of Defence, Republic of South Africa	149
11.	Statement by Philippe Busquin, European Commissioner in Charge	
	of Research	153
12.	Statement by Dr Pascoal Mocumbi, Prime Minister, Republic of Mozambique	162
13.	Draft provisional agenda of the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee	167
14	List of documents	169

#### **ABBREVIATIONS**

AOW Area of work

AU African Union

CAMH Conference of African Ministers of Health

CCS Country Cooperation Strategy

CFI Country Focus Initiative

DOTS Directly-observed treatment, short-course

ECCAC Economic Community of Central African Countries

ECOWAS Economic Community of West African States

EDCTP European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership

EMCCA Economic and Monetary Community of Central Africa

EPI Expanded Programme on Immunization

FCTC Framework Convention on Tobacco Control

FGM Female genital mutilation

GAVI Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization

GFATM Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria

HAART Highly-active antiretroviral therapy

HSR Health sector reforms

IMCI Integrated Management of Childhood Illness

IMPAC Integrated Management of Pregnancy and Childbirth

IOM International Organization for Migration

LHD Long-term health development

MDG Millennium development goal

MDSC Multi-Disease Surveillance Centre

MMR Maternal mortality ratio

NCD Noncommunicable disease

NEPAD New Partnership for Africa's Development

NGO Nongovernmental organization

Regional Committee: Fifty-third session

NID National immunization day

NPAN National plan of action on nutrition

OAU Organisation of African Unity

PHAST Participatory Hygiene and Sanitation Transformation

PLWHA People living with HIV/AIDS

PMTCT Prevention of mother-to-child transmission (of HIV)

PRSP Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper

RBM Roll Back Malaria

SADC Southern African Development Community

TRIPS Trade-Related Intellectual Property Rights (Agreement on)

UNEP United Nations Environment Programme

VCT Voluntary counselling and testing

WHO World Health Organization

WSSD World Summit on Sustainable Development

## Part I PROCEDURAL DECISIONS

AND

**RESOLUTIONS** 

#### PROCEDURAL DECISIONS

#### **Decision 1:** Composition of the Subcommittee on Nominations

The Subcommittee on Nominations met on Monday, 1 September 2003, and was composed of the representatives of the following Member States: Burkina Faso, Central African Republic, Chad, Ethiopia, Guinea, Liberia, Malawi, Mali, Rwanda, Sierra Leone, Swaziland and Zimbabwe.

The Subcommittee elected Dr Abel Dushimimana, Minister of Health, Republic of Rwanda, as its Chairperson.

First meeting, 1 September 2003

## Decision 2: Election of the Chairperson, the Vice-Chairpersons and the Rapporteurs

After considering the report of the Subcommittee on Nominations, and in compliance with Rule 10 of the Rules of Procedure of the Regional Committee for Africa and resolution AFR/RC23/R1, the Regional Committee unanimously elected the following officers:

Chairperson: Dr Mantombazana Tshabalala-Msimang

Minister of Health, South Africa

First Vice-Chairperson: Dr Jean Yagi Sitolo

Minister of Health, Democratic Republic of

Congo

Second Vice-Chairperson: Professor Eyitayo Lambo

Minister of Health, Nigeria

**Rapporteurs:** Mr Patrick Pillay

Minister of Health, Seychelles (French)

Mr Jim Muhwezi

Minister of Health, Uganda (English)

Dr Antonio Serifo Embalo

Minister of Health, Guinea-Bissau (Portuguese)

First meeting, 1 September 2003

#### Decision 3: Appointment of members of the Subcommittee on Credentials

The Regional Committee appointed a Subcommittee on Credentials consisting of the representatives of the following 12 Member States: Angola, Botswana, Côte d'Ivoire, Eritrea, Gambia, Kenya, Mauritania, Mozambique, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal and Togo.

The Subcommittee on Credentials met on 1 September 2003. Delegates of the following Member States were present: Angola, Botswana, Côte d'Ivoire, Eritrea, Gambia, Kenya, Mozambique, Mauritania, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal and Togo.

The Subcommittee on Credentials elected Mrs Suzanne Aho, Minister of Health, Togo, as its Chairperson.

First meeting, 1 September 2003

#### **Decision 4:** Credentials

The Regional Committee, acting on the proposal of the Subcommittee on Credentials, recognized the validity of the credentials presented by representatives of the following Member States: Algeria, Angola, Benin, Botswana, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cameroon, Cape Verde, Central African Republic, Chad, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of Congo, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Gabon, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Kenya, Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, Niger, Nigeria, Republic of Congo, Rwanda, Senegal, Seychelles, South Africa, Swaziland, Tanzania, Togo, Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe, and found them to be in order.

Liberia was in attendance but did not present any credentials.

Comoros, Ethiopia, Sao Tome and Principe, and Sierra Leone did not attend.

First meeting, 1 September 2003

#### Decision 5: Replacement of members of the Programme Subcommittee

The term of office of the Programme Subcommittee of the following countries will expire with the closure of the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee: Democratic Republic of Congo, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Gabon and Gambia. They will be replaced by Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania, Mauritius and Mozambique.

Second meeting, 2 September 2003

## Decision 6: Provisional agenda of the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee

The Regional Committee took note of the draft provisional agenda of the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee.

Second meeting, 2 September 2003

### Decision 7: Agenda of the one-hundred-and-thirteenth session of the Executive Board

The Regional Committee took note of the provisional agenda of the one-hundred-and-thirteenth session of the Executive Board.

Second meeting, 2 September 2003

## Decision 8: Method of work and duration of the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly

#### President of the World Health Assembly

(1) The Chairperson of the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee for Africa will be designated as a Vice-President of the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly to be held in May 2004. The last time the African Region designated a person to be president of the World Health Assembly was in May 2000.

#### Main committees of the World Health Assembly

- (2) The Director-General, in consultation with the Regional Director, will consider before the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly, the delegates of Member States of the African Region who might serve effectively as:
  - Chairperson of the Main Committees A and B;
  - Vice-Chairperson and Rapporteurs of the Main Committees.

#### Members entitled to designate persons to serve on the Executive Board

(3) Following the English alphabetical order, Guinea-Bissau designated a representative to serve on the Executive Board starting from the one-hundred-and-twelfth session, immediately after the Fifty-sixth World Health Assembly, joining Eritrea, Ethiopia, Gabon, Gambia, Ghana and Guinea from the African Region.

- (4) The term of office of Eritrea and Ethiopia will expire with the closure of the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly. These countries will be replaced by Kenya and Lesotho which will attend the one-hundred-and-thirteenth session of the Executive Board in May 2004.
- (5) The Member States entitled to designate persons to serve on the Executive Board should confirm their availability at least six weeks before the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly.
- (6) The fifty-third session of the Regional Committee decided to consider revising its method of work with regard to the nomination of Member States to serve on the Executive Board, and decided to create a task force which will work out the details of this new method of work.
  - (a) The task force will comprise representatives from the following Member States:
    - Equatorial Guinea for Central Africa (ECCAC/EMCCA)
    - Zimbabwe for Southern Africa (SADC)
    - Kenya for East Africa
    - Ghana for West Africa (ECOWAS)
  - (b) The task force will submit a progress report to the informal meeting of the Member States of the African Region during the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly and a final report to the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee.

#### Informal meeting of the Regional Committee

(7) The Regional Director will convene this meeting on Monday, 17 May 2004, at 8.30 a.m. at the *Palais des Nations*, Geneva, to confirm the decision taken by the Regional Committee at its fifty-third session. During the World Health Assembly a coordination meeting of the African delegates will be held every morning.

Second meeting, 2 September 2003

#### Decision 9: Choice of subjects for the Round Tables in 2004

The Regional Committee approved the decision to hold round table discussions during its meetings to promote interaction and the exchange of ideas and experiences among ministers of health and heads of delegation.

Round Table 1: Child sexual abuse: A silent emergency.

Chairperson, Togo, Alternate Chairperson, Chad,

Round Table 2: Challenges to improving the nutritional situation in the African Region.

Chairperson, Zambia, Alternate Chairperson, Mauritania

Seventh meeting, 4 September 2003

## Decision 10: Dates and places of the fifty-fourth and fifty-fifth sessions of the Regional Committee

The Regional Committee, in accordance with the Rules of Procedure, accepted to hold its fifty-fourth session in the Regional Office in Brazzaville, Republic of Congo, from 30 August to 3 September 2004. The Regional Committee will take a decision on the venue of the fifty-fifth session at its fifty-fourth session.

Sixth meeting, 4 September 2003

Decision 11: Nomination of representatives of the African Region to the Policy and Coordination Committee (PCC) of the Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction (HRP)

The term of office of Cameroon will come to an end on 31 December 2003. According to the English alphabetical order, Cameroon will be replaced by Republic of Congo for a period of three years with effect from 1 January 2004. Republic of Congo will join Cape Verde and Comoros which are already members of the PCC.

Eighth meeting, 5 September 2003

## Decision 12: Nomination of representatives of the African Region on the Roll Back Malaria Partnership Board

Ghana, Senegal and Zambia are members of Roll Back Malaria Partnership Board. Their term of office of two years took effect from October 2002. Democratic Republic of Congo will join them on the Committee for two years starting from September 2003.

Eighth meeting, 5 September 2003

#### Decision 13: Qualifications and selection of the Regional Director

The Regional Committee decided to revise the procedure for the nomination of the Regional Director by amending Rule 52 of the Rules of Procedure as follows (amendments are shown in bold):

#### Rule 52

- Not less than six months before the date fixed for the opening of a session
  of the Committee at which the Director is to be nominated, the DirectorGeneral shall inform each Member that he will receive proposals for the
  names of persons for nomination by the Committee for the post of
  Director.
- 2. Any Member may propose for the post of Director the names of one or two persons being citizens of a Member State in the Region, submitting with the proposal the curriculum vitae of each person. Such proposals shall be sent to the Director-General, so as to reach him at the Headquarters of the Organization at Geneva, Switzerland, not less than twelve weeks before the date fixed for the opening of the session.
- 3. If the Director in office is available for reappointment, the Director-General shall inform each Member accordingly at the time when he invites proposals for names of nominees for the post of Director. The name of the Director in office thus available shall automatically be submitted to the Committee and shall not require a proposal from any Member.
- 4. The Director-General shall, not less than ten weeks before the date fixed for the opening of the session of the Committee, cause copies for all proposals for nomination for the post of Director (with the curriculum vitae of each person) received by him within the period specified to be sent to each Member under confidential cover.

- 5. If no proposals have been received by the Director-General in time for transmission to Members in accordance with this Rule, Members shall be informed accordingly not less than ten weeks before the opening of the session of the Committee. The Committee shall itself establish a list of candidates composed of the names proposed in secret by the representatives present and entitled to vote.
- 6. If the Director-General receives more than five candidatures within the period specified in paragraph 2, the Committee shall draw a short list of five candidates at the commencement of its session. To this purpose, the Committee shall hold a secret ballot, and the five candidates obtaining the highest number of votes shall be included in the short list.
- 7. The candidates proposed under paragraph 2, or those shortlisted under paragraph 6, shall be interviewed by the Committee as soon as possible. The interview shall consist of a presentation by each candidate in addition to answers to questions from Members of the Committee. The Committee shall determine, as appropriate, modalities for the interviews.
- 8. The nomination of the Regional Director shall take place at a private meeting of the Committee. The Committee shall make a selection by secret ballot from among the persons who are candidates under **paragraphs 2 or 6** of this Rule, in the following manner:
  - (a) Each representative entitled to vote shall write on the ballot paper the name of a single candidate chosen from the persons proposed **or shortlisted in accordance with this Rule**.
  - (b) The candidate who obtains at a ballot the majority required shall be declared nominated.
  - (c) At a ballot when no candidate obtains the majority required, the candidate who obtains the least number of votes shall be eliminated.
  - (d) When the number of candidates is reduced to two, there shall be as many ballots as are necessary to secure the majority for either candidate.
  - (e) In the event of a tie between the two remaining candidates after three such ballots, the established procedure shall be recommenced on the basis of the original list of candidates.
- 9. The name of the person so nominated shall be submitted to the Executive Board.

Sixth meeting, 4 September 2003

#### **RESOLUTIONS**

## AFR/RC53/R1: Macroeconomics and health: The way forward in the African region

The Regional Committee,

Cognizant of the finding of the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health (CMH) that poor health contributes significantly to poverty and low economic growth;

Aware that investments in health yield substantive returns in terms of poverty reduction and economic development;

Recalling resolution AFR/RC52/R4 on poverty and health, and World Health Assembly resolution WHA55.19 recommending the CMH action agenda as a useful approach to achievement of the millennium development goals;

Recalling the pledge by African Heads of State in Abuja to allocate at least 15% of their annual budgets to the improvement of the health sector;

Appreciating the support being provided under international initiatives such as the highly-indebted poor countries, the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, the Global Forum for Health Research, the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization, Roll Back Malaria, Stop TB, and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation;

Recognizing the WHO comparative advantage in supporting countries to formulate health policies and plans, set health priorities and identify cost-effective interventions, among others;

1. ENDORSES the concepts and generic steps proposed in document AFR/RC53/8 Rev.1 entitled "Macroeconomics and Health: The Way Forward in the African Region";

#### 2. URGES Member States:

- (a) to widely disseminate among all stakeholders the findings and recommendations of the CMH and build consensus for action;
- (b) to establish or strengthen institutional mechanisms for implementing the recommendations of the CMH;
- (c) to develop multi-year strategic plans for scaling up health investment into pro-poor health interventions;

- (d) to revise health sector and health-related development plans, the relevant components of poverty reduction strategy papers and medium-term expenditure frameworks to incorporate strategic plans for scaling up propoor health investments;
- (e) to honour the pledge made by Heads of State in Abuja to allocate at least 15% of their annual budgets to the improvement of the health sector;
- (f) to utilize the multi-year strategic plans to mobilize resources from domestic and external sources in a sustainable manner;
- (g) to closely involve relevant ministries and agencies with responsibility for specific components of the strategic plan (e.g. health services, water, sanitation, nutrition, education, finance, planning) during planning, implementation and monitoring;
- (h) to strengthen health economics and public health capacity within the ministries of health and other relevant sectors in order to enhance health investments, and pre-empt and mitigate negative effects of development projects on public health.

#### 3. REQUESTS the Regional Director:

- (a) to continue advocating for increased investments in health as an effective way of reducing poverty and accelerating economic development;
- (b) to support countries to strengthen their existing institutional arrangements for planning, implementing and monitoring the CMH recommendations;
- (c) to monitor and document lessons emerging from the implementation of the CMH recommendations in different countries and facilitate sharing of lessons learned;
- (d) to provide support to regional institutions that train health economists and conduct health economics research;
- (e) to report annually to the Regional Committee on the progress made in the implementation of the Commission's recommendations.

Sixth meeting, 4 September 2003

## AFR/RC53/R2: Strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems in the African region

The Regional Committee,

Having examined document AFR/RC53/9 Rev. 1 on strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems;

Appreciating the timely manner in which the topic on strengthening hospitals has been brought up for discussion;

Deeply concerned about the current unsatisfactory performance of most hospitals in the region;

Recognizing the need to improve access to quality care and treatment and in view of increasing health challenges posed by HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria;

Realizing the need for hospitals to play a greater role in meeting the needs of victims of natural and man-made disasters;

Convinced of the importance of fully functional hospitals as integral parts of national health systems in the attainment of health for all, including their contribution to retaining suitably qualified health personnel;

Recalling resolution AFR/RC42/R6 on reorientation and restructuring of hospitals based on primary health care, resolution AFR/RC45/R3 on strategies for improving quality of care in health care institutions in the African Region and resolution AFR/RC44/R15 on selection and development of health technologies at district level;

Committed to ensuring that hospitals properly undertake their functions of providing high quality referral care, training and development of health workers, information and research;

1. ENDORSES the orientations contained in document AFR/RC53/9 Rev. 1 aimed at strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems in the region;

#### 2. URGES Member States:

- (a) to develop comprehensive policies for sustainable hospital development that ensure complementarity with other services in the health system at all levels, including enhancing the referral system and ensuring that the poor have access to hospital services;
- (b) to play a strong stewardship role in hospital sector development in order to improve performance beyond just providing medical care to areas such as training of specialist health workers; strengthening of information systems and research; and selection, utilization and development of health technologies;
- (c) to put in place appropriate mechanisms for the management and maintenance of hospitals, including participation of communities and civil society;

(d) to update or develop appropriate legislation aimed at ensuring improved performance of hospitals;

#### 3. REQUESTS the Regional Director:

- (a) to provide adequate support to countries in their hospital development initiatives;
- (b) to establish a regional expert committee to provide technical guidance on hospital development;
- (c) to report on progress made in the implementation of this resolution to the fifty-sixth session of the Regional Committee in 2006.

Sixth meeting, 4 September 2003

## AFR/RC53/R3: Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation and agenda for action

The Regional Committee,

Recalling World Health Assembly resolution WHA27.59 on prevention of road traffic accidents and resolutions WHA49.25 and WHA50.19 on prevention of violence;

Recalling the International Convention on the Rights of the Child and the WHO World report on violence and health;

Concerned by the increase in cases of injury in the Region, due mainly to road traffic accidents, armed conflict and interpersonal violence;

Convinced that improvement in health requires a secure foundation in peace and prevention of conflicts;

Convinced also that through integrated action on environmental and behavioural factors at the individual and community levels, public health action can significantly reduce the burden of injuries on society;

Having carefully examined the Report of the Regional Director contained in document AFR/RC53/10 which outlines the agenda for action against injury in the African Region;

1. APPROVES the agenda for action proposed in document AFR/RC53/10 Rev. 1 entitled "Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation and agenda for action".

#### 2. URGES Member States:

- (a) to undertake continuing advocacy for peace and non-violent resolution of conflicts;
- (b) to sensitize individuals, communities, social services providers, regional and local governments and donors to the importance of public health hazards posed by injury and violence;
- (c) to adopt and implement through consensus building, national policies and programmes on injury and violence prevention and control;
- (d) to improve national programmes on preparedness as well as pre-hospital care, hospital care and rehabilitation in order to reduce the immediate and remote consequences of injury;
- (e) to develop, implement and evaluate an information system for injury and violence prevention;
- (f) to encourage research that will bridge the information gap in matters concerning injury and violence.

#### 3. REQUESTS the Regional Director:

- (a) to provide the countries with guidelines and other tools for advocacy and action;
- (b) to support countries to mobilize the resources needed for injury and violence prevention and build networks and partnerships;
- (c) to support national and regional research on the causes, risk factors and consequences of injury and violence;
- (d) to document and disseminate examples of best practices in injury and violence prevention;
- (e) to assist Member countries to acquire adequate information systems and monitor their operation;
- (f) to report to the fifty-seventh session of the Regional Committee (2007) on the progress made in the implementation of this resolution.

Sixth meeting, 4 September 2003

#### AFR/RC53/R4: Women's health: A strategy for the African region

The Regional Committee,

Recalling previous World Health Assembly resolutions WHA40.27, WHA42.42, WHA43.10 and WHA45.25 on women's health and development;

Bearing in mind the Regional Committee resolutions AFR/RC39/R9 on traditional practices affecting the health of women and children, AFR/RC43/R6 on women, health and development and AFR/RC47/R4 on promotion of the participation of women in health and development;

Adhering to the Health-for-All Policy for the 21st Century in the African Region: Agenda 2020 that calls for the creation of conditions that will enable women to participate in, benefit from and play a leadership role in health development;

Mindful of the human rights instruments stated in international and regional conventions, declarations and charters;

Concerned about the extremely high level of morbidity and mortality in women, and the additional efforts that will be needed by Member States to achieve international goals for women's health, including maternal health;

Convinced of the need for sex-disaggregated data and the incorporation of a gender perspective in health programmes;

- 1. APPROVES the document, "Women's Health: A Strategy for the African Region", which focuses on the health conditions that are exclusive to or more prevalent in women as well as those which have more severe consequences and are associated with specific risk factors for women;
- 2. COMMENDS the Regional Director for advocating for, promoting and supporting women's health in the Region;

#### URGES Member States:

- (a) to accord greater priority to women's health in their national socioeconomic development agenda through strengthening and expanding efforts to meet international targets for improved women's health, particularly the education of the girl-child;
- (b) to make additional efforts to improve advocacy at the highest level for women-sensitive health policies and programmes, resources, partnerships creation, and sustained political commitment to the Abuja Declaration;
- (c) to promote access by all women to a full range of information and quality health services, focusing on the major causes of morbidity and mortality;
- (d) to accelerate the implementation of interventions aimed at eliminating all forms of violence and harmful traditional practices, based on existing international and regional strategies;

(e) to equip health personnel, communities, families and individuals, women and men, with the requisite skills to enable them develop, implement, monitor and evaluate women's health policies and programmes at all levels.

#### 4. URGES the Regional Director:

- (a) to provide technical support to Member States for the development of policies, and the implementation of agreed conventions and declarations towards the attainment of international goals on women's health;
- (b) to continue to advocate for a strategic approach to the reduction of morbidity and mortality in women, including the effective interventions in the Safe Motherhood Initiative, regional plans for the elimination of female genital mutilation and other harmful traditional practices, prevention of violence, and education of the girl-child;
- to mobilize governments, UN agencies, NGOs and other stakeholders to organize symposia, conferences and workshops to refocus women's health in the national development agenda;
- (d) to support public and private institutions and national experts to carry out research on identified priorities and document findings and best practices for use by Member States in the full implementation of cost-effective approaches for improved women's health;
- (e) to maintain WHO commitment to the incorporation of gender perspective in policies and programmes;
- (f) to report to the fifty-sixth session of the Regional Committee and every three years thereafter on the progress made in the implementation of the women's health strategy.

Sixth meeting, 4 September 2003

#### AFR/RC53/R5: Food safety and health: A situation analysis and perspectives

The Regional Committee,

Mindful of the WHO Constitution which includes food safety as part of the Organization's mandate;

Recalling the World Health Assembly resolution WHA53.15 (May 2000) that recognized food safety as an essential public health function;

Considering that the major risks associated with food in the region are microbiological, chemical, physical, radioactive and biotechnological;

Acknowledging that foodborne illness significantly contributes to the burden of disease, particularly among high-risk groups such as the poor, children, travellers and victims of disasters;

Concerned that the lack of adequate research on food safety hinders the development of evidence-based preventive and control strategies and policies;

Approving the document AFR/RC53/12 Rev. 1 entitled "Food Safety and Health: Situation Analysis and Perspectives";

#### 1. URGES Member States:

- (a) to develop or update food safety policies and legislation that are based on scientific risk assessment and prevention along the entire food chain;
- (b) to ensure the harmonization of food safety regulations with international food standards and norms, including active participation in the work of the Codex Alimentarius Commission and its committees;
- (c) to incorporate or strengthen food safety education and information into training programmes for food handlers at all levels, consumers, producers and farmers;
- (d) to integrate or strengthen food safety matters in the curricula from the primary school level to higher learning institutions;
- (e) to provide functional laboratory facilities, adequate resources and networks as part of the national surveillance system ensuring the preparedness and response of countries to food hazards;
- (f) to ensure national, intercountry and regional coordination and networking among the various stakeholders, including the private sector;

#### 2. REQUESTS the Regional Director:

- (a) to continue to advocate for inclusion of food safety in the overall national development goals and strategies;
- (b) to provide technical support for the development and implementation of food safety policies and legislation;
- (c) to promote food safety research and surveillance;
- (d) to strengthen collaboration with other international partners and relevant bodies to make scientific decisions on food safety and health issues relating to new technologies, including genetically modified foods;
- (e) to report to the Regional Committee at its fifty-fifth session, in 2005.

Sixth meeting, 4 September 2003

## AFR/RC53/R6: Scaling up interventions against HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria

The Regional Committee,

Noting with concern that HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria are poverty-associated and the most important communicable diseases in the African Region and acknowledging the efforts made by the Regional Committee in adopting resolutions AFR/RC40/R7 (1990), AFR/RC46/R2 (1996), AFR/RC50/R5 and AFR/RC50/R12 (2000) and by Member States in developing and implementing plans in line with these commitments;

Concerned that implementation of existing strategies for the three diseases has not been effective; that coverage and access to interventions remain low and impact limited due to inadequate human and financial resources and infrastructure and to unaffordable drugs and commodities;

Recalling the commitments made by Heads of State, the United Nations system and international partners in the Abuja Declaration and programmes for action on malaria, HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and other related infectious diseases and the United Nations General Assembly Special Session on HIV/AIDS (UNGASS); and encouraged by the opportunities offered through the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria;

Recognizing the urgent need to scale up the available cost-effective interventions in order to reduce the associated morbidity, mortality and human suffering;

#### 1. URGES Member States:

- (a) to develop appropriate policies and legislation to create a supportive environment for scaling up interventions at district and community levels and strengthen national health systems to enhance interventions against HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria in the context of health as a public good;
- (b) to allocate increased national resources for activities to fight these diseases, ensuring their adequate reflection in national development and health sector plans and budgets;
- (c) to accelerate the implementation of multi-sectoral responses, clarifying the roles and contributions of different sectors and coordination structures or mechanisms and assuring sufficient capacity, in ministries of health, to lead the health sector activities;

- (d) to improve the quantity and quality of staff involved in management, service delivery and monitoring and evaluation of programmes, harnessing the under-utilized capacity in national academic, training and research institutions and advocating with international partners for long-term support towards human capacity development;
- (e) to promote and fund inter alia operational research and research on traditional medicines as part of district health plans, ensuring that solutions to implementation constraints and the most effective approaches to scaling up programmes are identified;
- (f) to engage new and existing partners such as private health care providers, the corporate sector, traditional health care providers, the NGOs and community-based organizations to participate in programme implementation and service delivery related to the three diseases and orientate and train health care workers in participatory approaches and facilitation skills;
- (g) to decentralize the management of programmes and interventions, enhancing capacity at district and local levels and establishing mechanisms for resource allocation and disbursement which ensure adequate financing at these levels;
- (h) to incorporate the existing cost-effective intervention packages for these diseases into the essential health packages for delivery at all levels and accelerate the coordination and integration of planning, training, service delivery, monitoring and evaluation of activities with relevant programmes and services;
- (i) to advocate with the international community for increased resources to support implementation of effective actions;
- (j) to accelerate the implementation of initiatives such as in-country prepackaging, distribution to peripheral levels and bulk purchasing arrangements, in order to make drugs, diagnostic tools and other commodities accessible and affordable to the beneficiary groups;
- 2. REQUESTS international partners to intensify support to countries, particularly in strengthening health facilities as well as human and financial resources at all levels of the health system, in order to reverse the trend of the diseases;

#### REQUESTS the Regional Director:

- (a) to provide technical support to Member States in the development and implementation of strategic plans for scaling up interventions against these diseases and in enhancing the capacity of health systems;
- (b) to support operational research and documentation and disseminate information on effective approaches to scaling up interventions;

- (c) to advocate for more resources and long-term international support to be provided for strengthening human capacity and infrastructure within all levels of health systems;
- (d) to collaborate closely with the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, TB and Malaria, advocating for mechanisms which facilitate rapid disbursement of funds to countries;
- (e) to monitor the scaling up interventions and report on progress to the Regional Committee every year.

Sixth meeting, 4 September 2003

#### AFR/RC53/R7: Vote of thanks

The Regional Committee,

Fully aware of the preparation made by the Secretariat to hold the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee in Johannesburg, South Africa,

Appreciating the tremendous efforts made by His Excellency, Mr Thabo Mbeki, President of the Republic of South Africa, and the Government and the people of the Republic of South Africa, in facilitating the holding of the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee,

Appreciating further the African hospitality accorded to all Member States and their delegations as well as other participants,

- 1. THANKS wholeheartedly the Government of South Africa for all assistance provided to the Regional Office to ensure the success of the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee;
- 2. EXPRESSES its deep gratitude to Mr Thabo Mbeki, President of the Republic of South Africa, for graciously accepting to be represented at the opening of the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee;
- 3. REQUESTS the Regional Director to convey its sincere thanks to Mr Thabo Mbeki, and the Government and people of South Africa.

Eighth meeting, 5 September 2003

### Part II

REPORT OF THE

**REGIONAL COMMITTEE** 

#### **OPENING OF THE MEETING**

- 1. The fifty-third session of the WHO Regional Committee for Africa was officially opened at Sandton Convention Centre, Johannesburg, South Africa, on Monday, 1 September 2003 by the Honourable Mosiuoa Lekota, Minister of Defence, Republic of South Africa. Among those present at the opening ceremony were: Dr Pascoal M. Mocumbi, Prime Minister of Mozambique; cabinet ministers of the Government of South Africa; ministers of health and heads of delegation of Member States of the WHO African Region; Ambassador M.H. Doutoum, the representative of the Secretary-General of the African Union (AU); Dr Jong-Wook Lee, Director-General of WHO; Dr Ebrahim M. Samba, WHO Regional Director for Africa; members of the diplomatic corps; and representatives of United Nations agencies and nongovernmental organizations (see Annex 1 for the list of participants).
- 2. Dr Mantombazana Tshabalala-Msimang, Minister of Health, Republic of South Africa, welcomed the ministers of health and delegates to Johannesburg. She extended a warm welcome to Dr Jong-Wook Lee in his capacity as the new Director-General of WHO and assured him of the support of the African Region.
- 3. She highlighted the fact that this year was the 25th anniversary of the Alma-Ata Declaration which made it a golden opportunity for countries to review progress made and redirect energies to achieve the Millenium Development Goals (MDGs).
- 4. Dr Tshabalala-Msimang observed that this Regional Committee would devote time to discuss ways and means to promote the NEPAD Health Strategy which was presented to ministers during the fifty-second session of the Regional Committee.
- 5. She welcomed the important step taken by the World Trade Organization (WTO) on trade-related aspects of intellectual property rights (TRIPS) and pharmaceuticals which would enable countries to provide affordable medicines, especially generics, to their people. The importance of regional cooperation on this matter was emphasized, including the integration of strategies into NEPAD.
- 6. In conclusion, Dr Tshabalala-Msimang proposed that discussions at the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee include the possibility of changing the method of country representation on the Executive Board so that there is always a balanced sub-regional presence (for full text, see Annex 6).
- 7. Professor A.J. Rasamindrakotroka, Vice-Chairperson of the fifty-second session, informed the delegates that according to rules of procedure, he would chair the opening session of the meeting until the new Chairperson was elected. He said that the major determinants of ill-health in the region were weak health systems, worsening poverty, continued inequality as well as natural disasters, wars and conflicts.

Regional Committee: Fifty-third session (Part II)

- 8. He noted the progress made since the last session of the Regional Committee and stressed the importance of continued inter-country collaboration in solving the problems of Africa (for full text, see Annex 7).
- 9. Ambassador Mahamat H. Doutoum, representative of the Secretary-General of the African Union, thanked the government and people of South Africa for hosting the meeting, and the Regional Director and staff for their untiring efforts to promote health in the African Region.
- 10. He noted that the good collaboration between the AU and WHO, together with the keen involvement of the ministers of health had put Africa's health issues in the centre of policy making for socioeconomic development. He recalled the recommendations made at the first African Union Conference of Ministers of Health in Tripoli, Libya, in April 2003, which were endorsed by the Heads of State at the Maputo Summit in July 2003. The challenge was to turn those commitments into visible action at national level by ensuring community ownership while ministries of health spearhead the implementation process.
- 11. Ambassador Doutoum reminded the delegates about the heavy loss of trained personnel to developed countries and recalled the 2001 Lusaka Summit of African leaders which had declared the year 2004 as the "Year for Development of Human Resources" especially for the health and education sectors. Given the time constraints, he highlighted the challenge of operationalizing the Lusaka Declaration. He informed the meeting that the AU had proposed that this issue be put on the agenda of the next World Health Assembly and eventually at the UN General Assembly (for full text, see Annex 8).
- 12. Dr Ebrahim M. Samba, WHO Regional Director for Africa, thanked His Excellency, President Thabo Mbeki, for his personal dedication to the development of Africa and for his country's impeccable hosting of the Regional Committees in 1997 and 2003.
- 13. He noted that the successful implementation of programmes in 2002 had been due to support from WHO Headquarters, partnerships with other stakeholders in health as well as the efforts made by the Government of the Republic of Congo to rehabilitate the Regional Office and improve security.
- 14. Dr Samba welcomed the strong commitment of African Heads of State in health matters as demonstrated by the AU programmes. He pointed out that NEPAD was the first home-grown initiative for Africa and WHO pledged that all country offices would organize advocacy sessions to support it.

- 15. The Regional Director informed the delegates about the 600 million Euros that the European Union had pledged for biomedical research in Africa. There would be more information and discussion on this matter during this session of the Regional Committee.
- 16. Dr Samba concluded by thanking Dr Gro Harlem Brundtland for her dedication to Africa. He introduced Dr Jong-Wook Lee, as the new Director-General, whom he has known for his work in WHO for more than 20 years.
- 17. Dr Jong-Wook Lee, Director-General of WHO, thanked the Government of South Africa for hosting the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee.
- 18. He noted that it was in the African Region that the fight against HIV/AIDS and other major killer diseases was at its most intense amid poverty, drought, epidemics, civil wars and other disasters. He pointed out that though the path to peace was difficult, it was necessary to pursue stability in order to facilitate change.
- 19. Dr Lee expressed the need to rethink and rebuild health systems as a means to achieve specific goals in disease control, especially with regards to HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria.
- 20. The Director-General pointed out that the occasion of the 25th anniversary of the Alma-Ata Declaration was an opportunity to examine the effects of unequal development and to remind ourselves that "health is for all".
- 21. Concerning the HIV/AIDS catastrophe, Dr Lee reminded the delegates that in the African Region there are 30 million people who are HIV positive and require treatment. As part of the global strategy linking prevention, care and treatment, a new goal is the "3 by 5", that is, 3 million people on antiretrovirals by the year 2005. Strengthened health systems and competent human resources are essential for this to be a success. A comprehensive "3 by 5" strategy, developed in collaboration with other partners, would be announced on World AIDS Day, 1 December.
- 22. The Director-General emphasized the need for sustained action to eradicate polio, reduce maternal deaths by making pregnancy safer and reducing childhood deaths through the Integrated Management of Childhood Illnesses. Effective surveillance systems that had been crucial in the eradication of smallpox and in stopping the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) epidemic would need to be in place for polio eradication.
- 23. Dr Lee mentioned that non-communicable diseases and injuries were increasingly contributing to the burden of disease. He pointed out that the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control adopted by the World Health Assembly (WHA) in May had so far been signed by 50 countries and ratified by only one whereas it was necessary for 40 countries to ratify it to make it enforceable. The

increased mortality associated with road traffic crashes has led to World Health Day 2004 being dedicated to road safety.

- 24. Due to the observed unbalanced nutrition affecting all societies, the Director-General informed the delegates that a WHO Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health would be presented to the WHA in May of 2004.
- 25. The Director-General emphasized the shift in focus to the country level which required more human and monetary resources as well as authority accompanied by sound managerial and financial practices. In the 2006-2007 budget, Headquarters would streamline activities to be better implemented at country level.
- 26. Dr Lee alluded to the need for countries to work together with WHO to find innovative methods to train, deploy, supervise and retain health workers. While the emphasis would be on community and primary health care level, the needs of hospitals and laboratories would not be neglected.
- 27. The Director-General pointed out the inadequacies of health information systems in countries, adding that this problem could be addressed by the health metric network which is being formed by WHO in partnership with Member States, foundations, World Bank and UNICEF.
- 28. Dr Lee emphasized the need for combined strengths as shown by the partnerships created around the UN Millenium Summit in September 2000 as well as for NEPAD.
- 29. Concluding his speech, the Director-General mentioned that he would return to the African Region in November to attend the informal session of the WHO Executive Board to be held in Ghana (for full text, see Annex 9).
- 30. Honourable Mosiuoa Lekota, the Minister of Defence of the Republic of South Africa and guest of honour, in his opening address, welcomed the ministers of health and delegates to Johannesburg. He expressed the appreciation of the honour bestowed on his country to host this session of the Regional Committee on the verge of South Africa's tenth anniversary of democracy and freedom, which had come about through contributions from the whole of Africa. He apologized for His Excellency, President Thabo Mbeki, who could not open the meeting due to other engagements outside the country.
- 31. The Minister pointed out the ever-widening gap between the rich and the poor, the loss of skilled and professional workers by developing nations to developed ones and the strain put on health care systems by new and re-emerging epidemics.

- 32. He encouraged African countries to intensify inter-country collaboration, emphasizing that NEPAD had provided sufficient policy and institutional frameworks for coordination. The challenges faced by Africa required strong leadership if the health sector was to realize the targets stated in the MDGs and various WHO resolutions. Minister Lekota emphasized that Africa had a duty to end all conflicts, promote good governance and efficiently use AU organs and subregional groupings to allow African children to prosper. He pointed out that NEPAD, as a product of the African continent, would contribute to the promotion of good governance, development and better health for the African people. Minister Lekota stated that appropriate human resources development, recruitment and retention were crucial elements of the NEPAD Health Strategy, and governments needed to give it the required attention.
- 33. Minister Lekota gave an example of successful intersectoral collaboration in the Southern African Development Community (SADC) between the ministries of health and defence in the "Race Against Malaria" project. This was a demonstration that resources residing in defence forces can be used for civil purposes such as health promotion. In conclusion, he encouraged African leaders, professionals and citizens to continue to work hard to eliminate underdevelopment (for full text, see Annex 10).

### Statements by guest speakers

- 34. Dr Philippe Busquin, European Commissioner for Research, presented the European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP), which was conceived as a partnership between the countries of Africa and Europe for long-term research. He explained that the EDCTP was the biggest clinical trial programme conducted in Africa, based on the real needs of developing countries. Its budget will be set at 600 million Euros (*see Annex 11*).
- 35. The Prime Minister of Mozambique, Dr Pascoal Mocumbi, stressed that one of the challenges facing the African Region was the need to implement health-related decisions and recommendations made by African Heads of State and Government. While NEPAD provides the appropriate framework, technical capacity and scientific evidence are required for action. Hence, training and research should be regarded as priority steps in our plan of action which the EDCTP intends to provide (*see Annex 12*).
- 36. The Regional Director thanked the guest speakers and underscored the importance of research and capacity building in this area in the African Region. He however expressed the need for more information in order to better understand the modality of implementing the programme, what is expected of the WHO Regional Office for Africa (AFRO) in the implementation process and also the fact that five years would be inadequate for capacity building especially in the field of research.

### **ORGANIZATION OF WORK**

# Composition of the Subcommittee on Nominations

37. The Regional Committee appointed the Subcommittee on Nominations consisting of the following Member States: Burkina Faso, Central African Republic, Ethiopia, Chad, Guinea, Liberia, Malawi, Mali, Rwanda, Sierra Leone, Swaziland and Zimbabwe. The Subcommittee met at 12.30 p.m. on Monday, 1 September 2003, and elected Dr Abel Dushimimana, Minister of Health, Republic of Rwanda, as its Chairperson. The following Member States were absent: Ethiopia, Liberia, Sierra Leone.

## Election of the Chairpersons, Vice-Chairpersons and Rapporteurs

38. After considering the report of the Subcommittee on Nominations, and in compliance with Rule 10 of the Rules of Procedure and resolution AFR/RC23/R1, the Regional Committee unanimously elected the following officers:

Chairperson: Dr Mantombazana Tshabalala-Msimang

Minister of Health, South Africa

First Vice-Chairperson: Dr Jean Yagi Sitolo

Minister of Health, Democratic Republic of

Congo

Second Vice-Chairperson: Professor Eyitayo Lambo

Minister of Health, Nigeria

**Rapporteurs:** Mr Patrick Pillay

Minister of Health, Seychelles (French)

Mr Jim Muhwezi

Minister of Health, Uganda (English)

Dr Antonio Serifo Embalo

Minister of Health, Guinea-Bissau (Portuguese)

# Chairperson of Round Tables

- 1. Dr Albert Toikeusse Mabri (Côte d'Ivoire)
- 2. Dr Aida Theodomira de Nobreza (Mozambique)
- 3. Dr Abdelhamid Aberkane (Algeria)

### Adoption of the agenda

39. The Chairperson of the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee, Dr Mantombazana Tshabalala-Msimang, Minister of Health, South Africa, tabled the provisional agenda (document AFR/RC53/1) and the draft programme of work (document AFR/RC53/1 Add. 1 Rev. 2) which was adopted without amendment. (see Annex 2a and 2b.)

### Adoption of the hours of work

40. The Regional Committee adopted the following hours of work: 8.30 a.m. to 12.30 p.m. and 2.30 p.m. to 5.30 p.m., inclusive of tea breaks.

# Appointment of members of the Subcommittee on Credentials

- 41. The Regional Committee appointed representatives of the following 12 countries as members of the Subcommittee on Credentials: Angola, Botswana, Côte d'Ivoire, Eritrea, Gambia, Kenya, Mauritania, Mozambique, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal and Togo.
- 42. The Subcommittee on Credentials met on 1 September 2003 and elected Dr Suzanne Aho, Minister of Health, Togo, as its Chairperson.
- 43. The Subcommittee examined the credentials presented by the representatives of the following Member States: Algeria, Angola, Benin, Botswana, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cameroon, Cape Verde, Central African Republic, Chad, Cote d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of Congo, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Gabon, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Kenya, Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, Niger, Nigeria, Republic of Congo, Rwanda, Senegal, Seychelles, South Africa, Swaziland, Tanzania, Togo, Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe. These were found to be in conformity with Rule 3 of the Rules of Procedure of the WHO Regional Committee for Africa.
- 44. Liberia was in attendance but did not present any credentials.
- 45. Comoros, Ethiopia, Sao Tome and Principe, and Sierra Leone did not attend.

# THE WORK OF WHO IN THE AFRICAN REGION 2002: ANNUAL REPORT OF THE REGIONAL DIRECTOR (document AFR/RC53/2)

46. The Regional Director informed the Committee that the report under discussion covered the work of the Regional Office and country offices in the year 2002.

47. He then invited the WHO Director of Programme Management and Directors of the various divisions at the Regional Office to present sections of the report relevant to their respective areas of work.

# General programme development and management

- 48. Dr Luis G. Sambo, Director, Programme management, introduced the annual report of the Regional Director (document AFR/RC53/2), which set out the work of WHO in the African Region during the year 2002.
- 49. Dr Sambo explained that the report was structured in two main parts. Part I set forth the implementation, by area of work, of the first year of the 2002-2003 biennial Programme Budget. Part II presented the progress made in the implementation of specific resolutions adopted at previous sessions of the Regional Committee.
- 50. He called the attention of the Committee to the overall context within which the activities contained in the Annual Report were implemented, namely:
  - (a) Africa's progression from the Organization of African Unity to the African Union, keeping priority health issues high on the agenda of the Heads of State;
  - (b) The increasing importance attached to the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD) as the key development instrument of the African Union;
  - (c) The mainstreaming of the health component of the millennium development goals (MDGs) into regional and country health programmes;
  - (d) The acknowledgement by the World Health Assembly that the action agenda of the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health was crucial to achieving the MDGs;
  - (e) The outbreak of natural disasters, for example, the drought in southern Africa, with major health consequences;
  - (f) The recurrence of man-made disasters in some countries in west and central Africa;
  - (g) The increasing burden of disease, especially HIV/AIDS, TB and malaria; and the compelling evidence that HIV/AIDS continues to pose a major public health threat, and despite the multitude of partnerships and initiatives, the resources made available to fight the HIV/AIDS pandemic were still very limited;
  - (h) The development of the WHO Country Focus Initiative geared at strengthening WHO presence and response at country level.

- 51. In that prevailing context, and with the immense contribution of WHO country offices, many significant achievements were made, and are reported in the document under 35 different areas of work that make up the entire programme of WHO in the African Region.
- 52. Dr Sambo reported on the key achievements in the following areas of work (AOW) under General programme development and management: *Director-General's and Regional Director's development programme and initiatives; Budget and management reform; Governing bodies; Research policy and promotion;* and *Evidence for health policy.*
- 53. In the *Director-General's and Regional Director's development programme and initiatives* AOW, support was provided to finance unforeseeable but urgent activities likely to improve the health status of populations at risk. Assistance was thus provided for emergencies such as the arms explosion in an armoury in Nigeria; the yellow fever epidemic in Guinea and Senegal; the sinking of the "Joola" ferry boat in Senegal; and the severe drought in Mozambique, among others.
- 54. In the *Budget and management reform* AOW, guidelines for planning, monitoring and reporting were updated; the WHO Programme Budget for 2004-2005 was drawn up in collaboration with WHO Headquarters and country offices, and the activity management system (AMS) was installed in 15 country offices.
- 55. As regards *Governing bodies*, Member States received briefing to enhance the effectiveness of their participation in the meetings of the Regional Committee, the Executive Board and the World Health Assembly. As a result, particularly at the Regional Committee, delegates of Member States made invaluable contributions and quality proposals that provided clear guidance for the work of WHO and ministries of health in the African Region.
- 56. To improve WHO performance in countries, the Country Focus Initiative was implemented through the development of Country Cooperation Strategies in 23 countries. Therefore, the support to Members States from all levels of the Organization will be enhanced, and technical cooperation with individual countries will be strengthened.
- 57. In *Research policy and promotion,* the African Advisory Committee for Health Research and Development convened in Mauritius to discuss the practical modalities for improving bioethical review in Member States, mechanisms for promoting research in training institutions and prospects for research on noncommunicable diseases. In addition, the WHO Regional Office continued to facilitate the designation and re-designation of WHO collaborating centres in the Region.

- 58. With regard to *Evidence for health policy*, the Regional Office produced and disseminated a brochure entitled "Health situation in the WHO African Region: Basic indicators". This information established baseline indicators for monitoring the targets of the Regional Health-for-All-Policy. Furthermore, 100 senior staff (planners and public health specialists) from 43 Member States were trained in macroeconomics and health so as to facilitate the generation of evidence in national health accounts, health financing and health component of national poverty reduction strategies.
- 59. In addition, Dr Sambo highlighted the key achievements under the six Regional Office divisions: Health systems and services development; Prevention and control of communicable diseases; Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases; Family and reproductive health; Healthy environments and sustainable development; and Administration and finance. He said that the details will be provided by the respective division directors.
- 60. Dr Sambo expressed optimism that African regional integration, the strengthening of regional economic communities, the NEPAD programme of action, as well as support pledged by the international community gave hope for greater peace and stability which would augur well for economic growth and enable countries to allocate more resources to health. The report of the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health acknowledged that the health sector in the African Region was substantially underfunded, hence the dire need for increased funding.
- 61. Dr Sambo said that it was gratifying to note that the first-year implementation of the 2002-2003 Programme Budget was facilitated by a number of favourable factors, such as:
  - (a) growing adherence of Member States to WHO policies and norms;
  - (b) increased global sensitivity and commitment to addressing public health problems;
  - (c) improved coordination within WHO in providing support to Member States;
  - (d) expression of hopes and promises, at international level, to increase funding to improve the health situation, especially of the poor segment of the African population.
- 62. As regards perspectives, Dr Sambo said that the key challenge would be to improve the performance and sustainability of health systems in order to reduce the heavy burden of communicable and noncommunicable diseases. That would obviously lead to better health. He explained that since people who are healthy are more productive, they can contribute more to family income and national economic growth. That would, in turn, contribute to the achievement of the millennium development goals set by world leaders in 2000, for reducing poverty, hunger,

disease, illiteracy, maternal mortality, environmental degradation and discrimination against women by the year 2015.

- 63. He assured the Committee that WHO would accelerate the fight against communicable and noncommunicable diseases and intensify the work on environmental and socioeconomic determinants of health, including health systems.
- 64. Dr Sambo informed the delegates that in order to increase chances of winning the war against disease and poverty, WHO would step up its support to countries to strengthen their national health research systems so that they would generate the evidence needed for effective and equitable national health development.
- 65. He said that WHO would intensify its global and regional activities, both with its longstanding partners like UNICEF, the World Bank and various bilateral donor agencies, and with new partners like the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. The strengthening of partnerships between WHO, governments and civil society should continue as a crucial factor for achieving priority national health objectives, NEPAD targets, and, ultimately, the millennium development goals in the context of the Health-for-All Policy.
- 66. Dr Sambo said that WHO was fully convinced that the NEPAD health strategy would contribute to even greater achievements in ongoing priority health programmes already agreed between WHO and Member States. He informed the Committee that the Regional Office had been providing technical support to the NEPAD Secretariat and had facilitated interaction between the NEPAD Secretariat and the ministries of health. It is expected that appropriate steps would be taken soon to implement the NEPAD health agenda. WHO is determined to strengthen its partnerships to support countries through complementary rather than duplicate efforts.
- 67. The WHO Country Focus Initiative and the development of Country Cooperation Strategies would contribute to addressing country-specific health needs, in consultation with other development partners and under the leadership of the ministries of health.
- 68. On behalf of the WHO Secretariat in the African region, Dr Sambo congratulated Dr Jong-Wook Lee on his recent election and subsequent appointment as WHO Director-General and reiterated Regional Office commitment to the work of the Organization.
- 69. Dr Sambo also recognized the Regional Director, Dr Ebrahim Malick Samba, for his inspiring and wise leadership that had galvanized the action of the entire Secretariat in the African Region.

- 70. Finally, on behalf of the Regional Director, he expressed deepest gratitude to all the Member States of the Region, in particular the ministers of health, for their unfailing cooperation and their fruitful collaboration in the pursuit of common health development agenda.
- 71. In order to enhance the quality of future Regional Directors' reports, Member States suggested that there should be a comparison of the present performance with that of the preceding year. In addition, WHO should not only report on the processes and inputs, but also on the impact.
- 72. With regard to research, evidence generation and dissemination, the delegates applauded the establishment of an African journal of public health. However, they cautioned that for sustainability of the journal, there will be need for a strong editorial team, regular financial support and extensive marketing to ensure submission of quality manuscripts.
- 73. Member States recommended that: (i) in order to ascertain the research gaps, it would be necessary to establish a regional compendium of health research funded by WHO and partners; (ii) to facilitate sharing of experiences, WHO should establish a compendium of best public health practices, e.g. the Mutoko Orphanage Project; (iii) WHO should provide technical support to countries in the development of project proposals for funding; (iv) the Regional Office should compile and share a directory of health experts with countries.
- 74. Recalling the commitment of Heads of State in the Abuja Declaration to allocate at least 15% of the national budgets to health, the Committee requested WHO to provide technical support to ministries of health to strengthen capacity for strongly advocating for increased investment in health to fulfill the commitment.
- 75. Finally, the delegates called on the Regional Office to develop a minimum set of generic indicators for use in monitoring programme performance at country level.

### Health systems and services development

- 76. Dr R. Chatora, Director, Division of Health Systems and Services Development, presented this section of the annual report.
- 77. He informed the Committee that the division was responsible for three areas of work: *Organization of health services (OSD)*, including Systems development and human resources; *Essential drugs and medicines policy (EDM)*, including Traditional medicine; and *Blood safety and clinical technology (BCT)*.
- 78. Dr Chatora urged the Committee, as it considered health systems in the Region, to bear in mind the environment in which they operate in terms of macroeconomic performance, sociopolitical stability as these are major health

determinants. They should also bear in mind the major causes of disease. He pointed out that Africa's real GDP growth rate fell to 3.2% in 2002 from 4.3% in 2001 and that per capita expenditure on health was very low. At individual country level, poverty was worsening, and peace and security remained elusive in many countries.

- 79. The *Organization of health services* (OSD) AOW supported seven countries to review their national health policies and strategic plans. In collaboration with HQ, 18 Member States were supported to undertake World Health Surveys. Evidence was gathered on the magnitude and effects of migration of skilled health workers in six countries. It is alarming to note that, except in two of the countries studied, over half of the health workers indicated an intention to migrate. Human resources for health issues require our urgent and strong action.
- 80. The Essential drugs and medicines policy (EDM) AOW provided support to two countries to develop their national drug policies. The orientation meetings held on trade-related aspects of intellectual property rights (TRIPS) have helped countries to exploit provisions therein towards ensuring availability of drugs especially for HIV/AIDS through, for example, local production. The fifty-second Regional Committee declared 31 August the African Traditional Medicine Day and will be commemorated every year. A pilot study on assessing the quality of antimalarials was undertaken in six countries. The study revealed deficiencies in active ingredient and dissolution profiles of two of the medicines in almost all the six countries.
- 81. The *Blood safety and clinical technology* (BCT) AOW disseminated the Regional strategy for blood safety to all the 46 Members States; 37 new quality control managers were trained and are now operational in countries; and regional databases on blood safety were created. A health laboratory evaluation tool was developed and field tested, and a minimum laboratory service package was defined for the district level. These tools will be made available to countries shortly. WHO will continue to work with countries towards ensuring access to good quality care based on efficient use of health technologies, including safe blood, regular access to high quality drugs and their rational use and the provision of an effective integrated delivery system for a basic package of health services that responds to the specific needs of the majority of the population.
- 82. Member States reported poor access to quality medicines in general, and antiretrovirals in particular, and called for support to put in place a mechanism for proper registration of medicines, inspection of manufacturers and distribution systems, and testing of medicine samples for quality control.
- 83. In view of decentralization, the delegates expressed the need to guide and support the lower levels in terms of various approaches like sub-contracting, community participation and empowerment, as well as modalities for partnership with donors and NGOs. The Regional Office was requested to share examples of good practice on such issues as sector-wide approaches (SWAps), national health

accounts (NHA), decentralization, devolution and sub-contracting, among others, with Member States.

- 84. The high rate of migration of human resources for health, as reported, was of great concern to the countries. The Member States, noting that if nothing was done, the limited achievements so far gained would be heavily compromised. They requested that this needed urgent critical analysis and intervention at country and African Union levels. Furthermore, it was observed that the brain drain depleted the health system of trained and skilled personnel. They called for a WHA resolution on the issue and recommended the strengthening and expanding of the WHO fellowship programme. There was a request to discuss this matter at the United Nations General Assembly.
- 85. Countries reaffirmed the relevance of primary health care but noted that it had either been taken for granted or forgotten. They pledged to strengthen their health sector reforms by re-emphasizing PHC. They requested that a regional meeting be held to review implementation of PHC and propose ways for improvement.
- 86. Several Member States commented on the proportion of the budget to be allocated to health: currently the target is 15% of public expenditure. It was noted that even where this target is met, funds so allocated still fall far short of the US\$ 34 per capita recommended by the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health (CMH). Development of social health insurance was proposed as another option for raising more funds for health.
- 87. The members of the Secretariat confirmed support for the proposals made by the ministers.

### Prevention and control of communicable diseases

- 88. Dr A. Kabore, Director, Division of prevention and control of communicable diseases, introduced this section of the report.
- 89. He informed the Committee that the Division has seven areas of work (AOWs): Communicable disease surveillance (CSR); Communicable disease prevention, eradication and control (CPC); Research and product development for communicable diseases (CRD); Malaria (MAL); Tuberculosis (TUB); HIV/AIDS (HIV); and Immunization and vaccine development (IVD).
- 90. In *Communicable diseases surveillance* (CSR), eight countries evaluated their surveillance system and formulated plans for surveillance, thus bringing to 28 the number of Member States that have plans of action for integrated surveillance and response and to 20 those that are in the process of implementing the integrated surveillance strategy. Thirty-three national laboratories have been formed into a network, backed by improved facilities for internal communication and with

epidemic control services. They also received support for the early detection of epidemics. The multi-disease surveillance centre in Ouagadougou has become operational. For the coming years, it will be necessary to accelerate the implementation of integrated surveillance in Member States.

- 91. In the Communicable disease prevention, eradication and control (CPC) AOW, the incidence of guinea worm disease was reduced by 98% and nine countries initiated the process for its eradication. Support was given to three countries in which leprosy prevalence is still higher than two cases per 10 000. Nine countries received support that enabled them to carry out the mass treatment of 900 000 persons as part of lymphatic filariasis control. Under malaria, lymphatic filariasis, leishmaniasis and trypanosomiasis, six countries trained 325 health personnel, and community health workers in net treatment techniques. For the next biennium, efforts will be stepped up to accelerate the elimination of leprosy and lymphatic filariasis in affected countries and eradicate guinea worm disease in the remaining endemic countries.
- 92. In Research and product development for communicable diseases (CRD), 18 countries where malaria is endemic have developed 48 research projects, 21 of which are currently being implemented. A database has been established at the Regional Office for the monitoring of operational research. In this area of work, efforts will be made in 2003 to identify and adapt traditional medicines that could be used in the existing health structures.
- 93. In the *Malaria* (MAL) AOW, 13 countries assessed the resistance situation and five updated their policy on malaria drugs and treatment. Nine countries received support to improve the proportion of properly managed children which rose from 30% to 35%. Five countries improved the proportion of children under five and pregnant women sleeping under insecticide-treated nets. The latter rose from 5% to 10%. Five countries conducted baseline surveys for the implementation of the "Roll Back Malaria" project, and the Regional Office established a composite database on the main indicators of this project. In the coming years, efforts will be geared towards scaling up implementation, supervision, monitoring and assessment of interventions and promoting the use of insecticide-treated nets by children underfive and pregnant women.
- 94. In the *Tuberculosis* (TUB) AOW, eight countries implemented their strategic plan for the extension of the directly-observed treatment, short course (DOTS) strategy. Thirteen countries received grants through the Global TB Drugs Facility (GDF) and ten countries received support to develop community-based tuberculosis care activities. The eight countries with the highest HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis burden prepared plans of action for the gradual implementation of collaboration activities. For the coming years, efforts will be made to increase the tuberculosis detection rate in order to achieve the global target of 70% and continue to promote the DOTS strategy.

- 95. In the *HIV/AIDS* (HIV) AOW, guidelines and tools for treatment and care, voluntary counselling and testing, and laboratory services were developed and are currently being used by some Member States. Fourteen countries have received support that enabled them to plan and provide care services at district level for voluntary counselling and testing, fight against mother-to-child transmission, management of sexually-transmitted diseases and blood safety. Five Member States have formulated health sector plans for HIV/AIDS, and ten countries have developed and are using health packages for intervention against HIV/AIDS at district level. In the coming years, efforts should focus on scaling up treatment and care programmes, particularly on the use of antiretrovirals (ARVs).
- 96. In *Immunization and vaccines development* (IVD) AOW, 12 modules for training middle-level managers were developed. Twenty-one countries received Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization (GAVI) funds for the introduction of new vaccines and underused vaccines, 21 others received funds to support immunization services and ten countries received funds for injection safety. The number of countries where poliomyelitis is endemic fell from six in 2001 to three in 2002. Forty-two countries set up national polio experts committees and national certification committees. Fifteen out of the 16 laboratories in the Region were accredited in 2002 for polio virus control. Support was given to nine countries for the implementation of supplementary immunization activities for measles and neonatal tetanus. In the coming years, focus will be given to halting the transmission of the wild poliovirus in the remaining three endemic countries.
- 97. A concern was raised over: (i) why only five Member States have health sector plans for HIV/AIDS considering its importance and (ii) continued inaccessibility to antiretroviral drugs, particularly at the time when the HIV epidemic was rapidly spreading in the Region. In this regard, delegates recommended that WHO and Member States vigorously advocate for making antiretrovirals more affordable and accessible.
- 98. Member States lamented over the health challenges caused by malaria. They proposed that the way forward for elimination of the disease is vector control using DDT. Member States called on WHO to provide technical information on the effectiveness of DDT in the prevention and control of malaria.
- 99. On the issue of cross-border transmission of diseases, including polio, WHO was requested to provide guidance on a strategy for prevention and control of communicable diseases.
- 100. An urgent need was expressed for studies to explain the increase in prevalence of TB in some countries which are already using DOTS and to revise the control approaches by using research findings.

101. Countries lamented that trypanosomiasis control was not accorded the appropriate attention. In addition, they wondered why countries were aiming at elimination of leprosy instead of eradication. They requested the Regional Office to provide more information to countries on the Multi-disease Surveillance Centre in Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso.

#### Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases

- 102. In the absence of the Director, Division of prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases (NCD), Dr A. Kabore introduced this section of the report.
- 103. He informed the Committee that the Division covered six AOWs: *Integrated approach to surveillance, prevention and management of noncommunicable diseases* (NCD); *Tobacco* (TOB); *Nutrition* (NUT); *Health promotion* (HPR); *Disability and injury prevention and rehabilitation* (DPR); and *Mental health and substance abuse* (MNH).
- 104. In the area of *Integrated approach to surveillance, prevention and management of noncommunicable diseases*, surveillance of NCD risk factors included the STEPwise approach, a tool developed by WHO, which was adopted by seven countries. Two new centres for cervical cancer screening, follow-up and research were established in the Region. Many professionals have been trained in cervical cancer screening and cancer register. The construction of a regional database on NCDs is being actively pursued. Efforts at implementing the regional NCD strategy will be strengthened.
- 105. In the *Oral health* domain, countries continued to receive direct support. Noma control activities were revitalized. A regional consultative meeting on the appropriateness of oral health training and research on the specific needs of the African Region enabled 22 deans of faculties of dentistry and six directors of auxiliary dental schools to define a new approach to oral health. Greater resource mobilization and support for research have been envisaged.
- 106. In the *Nutrition* AOW, countries continued to receive support for the adoption of national food and nutrition policies and action plans. A workshop on micronutrient deficiencies was held. Evaluators of the Baby-Friendly Hospitals Initiative for 11 countries were trained. Three countries received support for the collection of nutritional baseline data on micronutrients and breastfeeding. Many country-level training activities were supported. The WHO has been providing assistance to southern African countries facing food crises. Partnership with other donors (FAO, World Bank, UNICEF) and mobilization of resources will be enhanced.
- 107. In the *Health promotion* area of work, training of national focal points in planning and implementation of health promotion activities was organized. Five countries received support for the review of their health promotion policies and

programmes. A meeting on the role of partners in health promotion development was jointly organized with the International Union for Health Promotion and Education. The Regional Office coordinated the celebration of World Health Day in countries. In six countries, the start of the school health project was technically and financially supported under the "Life" project. Nine countries received support to evaluate Healthy Schools project activities.

108. In the *Disability and injury prevention and rehabilitation* area of work, the document titled, "Injury Prevention and Control in the African Region: Current Situation and Agenda for Action" was prepared. The Regional Office widely disseminated the *World Report on Violence* and supported some Member States that organized national launch ceremonies. Two countries received support for the setting up of injury and violence surveillance systems. A training workshop on community-based rehabilitation services was organized for eight countries. Six countries were assisted to undertake a situation analysis in hearing impairment and blindness. Advocacy and support for the prevention and surveillance of injuries in the Region will be pursued.

- 109. In the *Mental health* AOW, the implementation of the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy was extended to 17 francophone countries. Technical support was provided to some Member States for the formulation or revision of their national mental health policies and plans. Experts from twelve countries were trained in drug use epidemiology. Lastly, many African experts were trained in the formulation and development of mental health policies and services.
- 110. In the *Tobacco* area of work, nearly all countries participated in intergovernmental negotiations for the Framework Convention for Tobacco Control. Our Region played a leading role in formulating a realistic and relevant Convention document. Countries in the region organized and held two preparatory consensus meetings in Côte d'Ivoire and Malawi. Five countries were supported for the development of comprehensive tobacco control policies during the period under review. Experts from an additional 13 countries were trained in how to conduct the Global Youth Tobacco Survey and ten countries received training in result analysis and reporting. The adoption of the Framework Convention should help accelerate the control of tobacco use in the Region.
- 111. In the area of *Substance abuse*, the Regional Office actively contributed to the first ministerial conference on drug control in Africa held in Yamoussoukro, Côte d'Ivoire. Participating countries of the African Union developed and endorsed a plan of action that included alcohol control. A trainers' training workshop on active substance abuse epidemiology was organized for professionals from 12 countries.
- 112. In view of the nutritional implications of HIV/AIDS and the high level of malnutrition due to food insecurity, nutrition should be accorded the priority it deserves.

113. Member States expressed concern about the weak emphasis accorded to road accidents when they are a major cause of injuries and deaths. They called upon WHO to advocate strongly for a multisectoral approach to road safety.

### Family and reproductive health

114. Dr D. Oluwole, Director, Division of family and reproductive health, introduced this section of the report.

115. She informed the Regional Committee that the division was responsible for four AOWs: Child and adolescent health (CAH) with two programmes: Child health and development, and Adolescent health; Research and programme development in reproductive health (RHR) with three programmes: Reproductive health research, Reproductive health training, and Mother-to-child transmission of HIV/AIDS; Making pregnancy safer (MPS), responsible for the implementation of the Maternal Health and Safe Motherhood Initiative; Women's health and development (WMH) with two programmes: Women's health and development, and Social aspects of family and reproductive health.

116. In *Child and adolescent health* (CAH), support was provided for strengthening newborn health services through training, and procurement of equipment and supplies; development and dissemination in three languages of the brochure "Africa's newborns: the forgotten children"; evaluation of CAH programmes in six countries; analysis and revision of national ADH policies and programmes. Capacity-building efforts included training of NGOs working with street children; development of integrated ADH project on sexual and reproductive health, STI/HIV/AIDS and substance abuse; and application of the Convention on the Rights of the Child in CAH programmes. Tools developed included Framework for implementation of the ADH regional strategy, and Adolescent Health Briefing Kit. Since the adoption of the ADH strategy in 2001, 34 countries have developed or reviewed their national programmes.

117. The Research and programme development in reproductive health (RHR) AOW organized a regional RH programme managers' meeting; established the Regional Reproductive Task Force and organized its first meeting; established a regional RH database and mapped maternal mortality ratios in the Region; provided support to countries for the integration of STI interventions into RH services and implementation of screening programmes for cervical cancer by visual inspection using acetic acid; supported countries to undertake operations research and to strengthen programmes for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV/AIDS; and evaluated the Psychosocial Support Project for HIV-positive women and their families in Zimbabwe.

- 118. The work of the *Making pregnancy safer* AOW included: orientation on and dissemination of tools and guidelines for investigating maternal deaths entitled "Beyond the numbers"; the Integrated Management of Pregnancy and Childbirth; the African Addendum to the Management of Complications in Pregnancy and Childbirth; Framework for the promotion and implementation of community-based interventions; and regional and national advocacy tools based on the "REDUCE" model. Support was provided to countries to strengthen their health system through capacity building, procurement of equipment, establishment of Anglophone and Francophone networks for the integration of Malaria in Pregnancy into RH services; strengthening of community initiatives, including community ambulances; and establishment of community management committees and maternal health care insurance schemes based on cost sharing.
- 119. In *Women's health and development* AOW, National Women's Health and Development profiles were compiled in 18 countries highlighting differences between women and men in terms of health seeking behaviour, accessibility to quality health services, and purchasing capacity. The WMH regional strategy was drafted and reviewed, and a conceptual framework on gender, health and development was presented at the twenty-ninth Regional Programme Meeting to advocate for the integration of gender perspective into WHO work. The WHO Gender Policy was disseminated to countries. Concerning the elimination of female genital mutilation (FGM) and other harmful traditional practices, two major achievements were recorded: the establishment of a multidisciplinary collaborating group on FGM (MCG/FGM) in 10 countries; and the establishment of a regional database on WMH/FGM for the collection, collation and analysis of country data.
- 120. In 2003, emphasis will be on country level implementation with documentation, dissemination and replication of best practices, improved partnerships and resource mobilization for Reproductive Health programmes.
- 121. In the discussions that followed, concern was raised over the high level of maternal mortality in the Region, and education of girls was proposed as one of the effective strategies for the reduction of maternal deaths. In view of the high newborn mortality in the Region, WHO was requested to provide technical advice to Member States for strengthening the newborn care aspect of Making Pregnancy Safer.
- 122. Considering the growing problem of drug and substance abuse among young people, particularly street children, WHO was asked to provide support to countries for setting up special preventive and rehabilitative programmes.
- 123. Support was requested for establishment of maternal mortality audits as a means of improving the quality of care in countries. The importance of multi-disciplinary and multisectoral interventions to address maternal and child health was underscored if the set goals are to be achieved. A specific request was made for support to reverse the trend in the increasing maternal mortality ratio in countries.

### Healthy environments and sustainable development

- 124. Mrs E. Anikpo-Ntame, Director, Division of healthy environments and sustainable development, presented this section of the report.
- 125. She emphasized the linkages between poverty, environment, food and health as well as between health and human development, hence the need to address these determinants of health. She said that WHO had responded to this challenge through the following areas of work: *Sustainable development* (HSD); *Health and environment* (PHE); *Food safety* (FOS); and *Emergency preparedness and response* (EHA).
- 126. Achievements in the *Sustainable development* (HSD) AOW included development of the poverty reduction and health strategy that was endorsed by the fifty-second session of the Regional Committee. A number of meetings were held, including the annual meeting of the African Advisory Committee on poverty and health and four national workshops on Long-term Health Development (LHD). The unit contributed to the preparation of the training module on poverty and health and developed a module on LHD. Technical support was also provided to countries in community development and LHD. The Regional Office will continue to strengthen capacities in countries to meet the long-term challenges facing the health sector and incorporate a poverty dimension in health policy and programmes.
- 127. The *Health and environment* (HPE) AOW developed the Regional Strategy on Health and Environment that was adopted at the fifty-second session of the Regional Committee. A meeting was held for country health and environment focal points, and a training module on environmental risk assessment was started. Capacities of countries to implement environmental health programmes were strengthened, e.g. Burundi. Healthy cities projects were initiated or continued in countries, e.g. Tanzania. The Regional Office initiated discussions with the International Labour Organization on WHO/ILO joint efforts in occupational health (OCH), and processes were initiated for the universities of Benin and Cape Town to serve as WHO collaborating centres. A regional survey and training in OCH were conducted. The Regional Office will focus its efforts on OCH, children's environmental health concerns and modalities for implementation of the Regional Strategy on Health and Environment.
- 128. The *Emergency preparedness and response* (EHA) AOW coordinated humanitarian response to emergencies in the Democratic Republic of Congo. Guinea was supported in the prevention and management of sexual abuse and violence in Kissidougou. Technical assistance, emergency kits, vaccines, drugs and medical supplies were provided to a number of countries, e.g. Burkina Faso, Congo, Côte d'Ivoire, Eritrea and Mali. The Regional Interagency Coordination Support Office for humanitarian crisis in Southern Africa was strengthened. Certain countries were supported to improve their emergency preparedness, e.g. Cameroon and Guinea.

The Regional Office will continue to play a leadership role in coordinating health sector response and preparedness to emergencies.

- 129. The *Food safety* (FOS) AOW conducted a regional survey on food safety and held an awareness-raising workshop in Bamako. Information on food safety was posted on the Regional Office website. As a result of these efforts, Member States have started to respond positively to the need to improve food safety; Botswana conducted awareness raising workshops in six communities, and Kenya developed tools for food surveillance. The Regional Office aims to further strengthen country capacities in food-borne disease surveillance and the development of relevant legislation and standards.
- 130. In order to adequately address the issue of food safety, it is necessary to adopt a multisectoral approach, increase public awareness and strengthen aspects of food inspection. WHO was requested to provide guidance to countries on genetically-modified food products.

#### 131. The Committee recommended that:

- (a) Member States should adopt a multisectoral approach to health development;
- (b) WHO should provide technical support to countries for macroeconomics and health analyses, with a view to identifying cost-effective interventions;
- in order to make timely and appropriate interventions during humanitarian emergencies, WHO should establish sub-regional structures equipped with the necessary facilities for quick response;
- (d) WHO should provide guidance to address pollution-related public health problems created by rapid industrialization.

#### Administration and finance

- 132. Mr B. Chandra, Director, Division of administration and finance, introduced this section of the report.
- 133. He informed the Committee that the division covered three AOWs, namely: *Human resources; Financial management;* and *Informatics and infrastructure services*.
- 134. The work of the *Human resources* AOW included: strengthening of the human resources unit in terms of staffing and equipment; institution of new procedures for testing temporary support staff prior to recruitment; and training of administrative officers and assistants in personnel management as well as administrative and financial procedures. In addition, briefings on the new performance appraisal system were conducted. In future, this AOW will focus on implementing modern human

resource systems and practices in order to meet current and future needs of the World Health Organization in the African Region.

135. In the area of *Financial management*, the ongoing decentralization of financial management functions was extended to include technical divisions. Administrative officers and assistants from country offices were trained in financial management. In support of the implementation of the Regional Programme Budget, budget implementation reports were regularly disseminated to divisions and country offices, and the 2004-2005 Programme Budget tables were prepared. Ongoing challenges are the continued provision of administrative and financial support to the Harare and Brazzaville offices as well as strengthening of controls and the oversight function by the Budget and Finance Unit.

136. The *Informatics and infrastructure services* AOW focused on making both the Harare and Brazzaville offices fully functional, following the return of the Regional Office to Brazzaville. In this regard, personnel and equipment were successfully transferred from Harare to Brazzaville; major improvements made to the office premises in Brazzaville; offices at the Highlands location in Harare renovated; and information and communication infrastructure improved in both locations. The WHO Activity Management system (AMS) and Regional Office Accounting and Finance Information system (RO/AFI) were made fully functional, and a country office connectivity project was begun. For logistical support, timely support was provided through the procurement of goods and services at optimal prices, maximization of cost-effective travel and the smooth running of meetings. In addition to the continued provision of logistical support and maintenance of the Regional Office premises, planned activities include the introduction of a new global procurement system, strengthening of the Region's existing communication infrastructure and maximization of cost-efficiencies in providing services.

137. In view of the difficulties faced by the smaller countries in the Region in procurement of pharmaceutical and non-pharmaceutical supplies, WHO was requested to provide support for bulk purchasing by neighbouring countries.

138. An explanation was requested as to why there was expansion of office space in Harare in spite of the official return of the Regional Office to Brazzaville.

139. In his explanation, the Regional Director reminded the Committee of its decision to return the Regional Office to Brazzaville. He informed them that before the war, there were about 250 members of staff at the Regional Office, and since its relocation to Harare that number had doubled. He said that already 300 staff members had returned to Brazzaville. As more office and accommodation facilities become available in Brazzaville, the staff remaining in Harare would move to Brazzaville.

# **Adoption of the Annual Report**

140. The Regional Committee adopted the report as contained in document AFR/RC53/2 taking into account the additional information and comments proposed by the delegates.

# CORRELATION BETWEEN THE WORK OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE, THE EXECUTIVE BOARD AND THE WORLD HEALTH ASSEMBLY (documents AFR/RC53/3, AFR/RC53/4 and AFR/RC53/5)

141. Dr L.G. Sambo of the Secretariat introduced the documents relating to agenda items 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3. He invited the Committee to examine the documents and provide guidance on the: (i) proposed strategies for implementing the various resolutions of interest to the African Region adopted by the Fifty-sixth World Health Assembly and the 111th session of the Executive Board; (ii) regional implications of the agendas of the 113th session of the Executive Board and the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly; and (iii) method of work and duration of the World Health Assembly.

# Ways and means of implementing resolutions of regional interest adopted by the World Health Assembly and the Executive Board (document AFR/RC53/3)

- 142. The document highlighted the resolutions of regional interest adopted by the Fifty-sixth World Health Assembly and the 111th Executive Board. These included:
  - (a) WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (WHA56.1)
  - (b) International Conference on Primary Health Care, Alma-Ata, Twenty-fifth Anniversary (WHA56.5)
  - (c) Real Estate Fund, Regional Office for Africa (WHA56.14)
  - (d) Human resources: Gender balance (WHA56.17)
  - (e) Reducing global measles mortality (WHA56.20)
  - (f) Strategy for child and adolescent health and development (WHA56.21)
  - (g) Implementing the recommendations of the World Report on Violence and Health (WHA56.24)
  - (h) The role of contractual arrangements in improving health systems performance (WHA56.25)
  - (i) Elimination of avoidable blindness (WHA56.26)
  - (j) Intellectual property rights, innovation and public health (WHA56.27)
  - (k) Traditional medicine (WHA56.31).

- 143. The report contained only relevant operative paragraphs that appear in the resolutions. Each resolution was accompanied by the measures already taken or being planned.
- 144. The Committee was invited to examine and comment on the proposed strategies for implementing resolutions of interest to the African Region and to provide guidance for the implementation.
- 145. Concerning the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control WHA56.1, delegates expressed uncertainty about availability and timing of the funds pledged for countries to phase into alternative crops. Given that other sectors needed to be involved in making the Convention feasible, delegates requested WHO to develop guidelines for implementing it. Regional training of trainers should be arranged for all countries, especially those needing to draft legislation. South Africa proposed to host a meeting in November 2003 entitled, "Towards a Tobacco Control Strategy for Africa".
- 146. In response, the Regional Director acknowledged the commitment made by Member States to implement the Convention; however, he informed the delegates that replacement funding was still unclear. He encouraged countries to attend the meeting to be held in South Africa.
- 147. Concerning resolution WHA56.5 on the International Conference on Primary Health Care (PHC), Alma-Ata, Twenty-fifth Anniversary, delegates noted its importance and advocated for its placement in the broader context of the health for all strategy and advocacy to policy-makers and development partners. They recommended evaluation of the impact of PHC in each country and that a final synthesis report be widely disseminated. They expressed the need to update strategies, given the existence of new health problems such as HIV/AIDS as well as the need to mobilize more resources for PHC implementation. It was proposed that debt relief funds be used for improving PHC as well as strengthening the referral system and community participation. South Africa offered to host the 25th anniversary celebrations for Alma-Ata once the dates were indicated.
- 148. Concerning resolution WHA56.17 on Human resources: Gender balance, delegates commended WHO efforts regarding this matter but recommended that at least 30% of professionals shortlisted for positions should be women. Since women make up more than 50% of the populations in countries of the region, Member States were encouraged to promote the education of girls as a prerequisite to gender balance within and outside the health sector as well as in decision-making bodies.
- 149. Concerning resolution WHA56.20 on Reducing global measles mortality, delegates emphasized the importance of cross-border collaboration in immunization campaigns, community ownership, improved surveillance, research to clarify reasons for measles deaths and complications in vaccinated children as well as

increasing resources for social mobilization activities. Special attention was requested for programmes for countries in conflict and for refugees. The Regional Director informed the delegates that funding for measles was less than that for polio; however, advocacy around measles funding would continue. WHO understands the new constraints countries are facing and will endeavour to assist Member States.

- 150. Concerning resolution WHA56.21 on the Strategy for child and adolescent health and development, delegates underscored the need to mobilize more funds for smooth implementation.
- 151. Concerning resolution WHA56.25 on contractual arrangements in improving health systems performance, the delegates recommended that WHO advocate at the highest level of decision-making in Member States to facilitate the implementation.
- 152. Concerning resolution WHA56.26 on Elimination of avoidable blindness, delegates requested WHO to strengthen capacities and advocate to governments for increased budget allocation for this programme and provide technical assistance for research and monitoring.
- 153. Concerning resolution WHA56.27 on Intellectual property rights, innovation and public health, delegates requested WHO and Member States to continue to improve accessibility to affordable generic drugs for ethical and humanitarian reasons.
- 154. Concerning resolution WHA56.31 on Traditional medicine, the delegates recalled that three years had elapsed since the Organization of African Unity declared the "International Decade of Traditional Medicine", and they recommended that WHO should convene an inter-country meeting to raise awareness and evaluate the progress made.

Agendas of the one-hundred-and-thirteenth session of the Executive Board, the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly and the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee (document AFR/RC53/4)

155. The document contained the draft provisional agendas of the 113th session of the Executive Board which will be held in January 2004 and the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly, scheduled for May 2004, as well as the draft provisional agenda of the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee to be held in Brazzaville in September 2004.

156. The Committee was invited to take note of the correlation between the work of the Executive Board, the World Health Assembly and the Regional Committee.

157. The following items appeared on the agendas for the three governing bodies of WHO:

- (a) HIV/AIDS
- (b) Health promotion and healthy lifestyles
- (c) Quality and safety of medicines, including of blood products
- (d) Health systems, including primary health care
- (e) Influence of poverty on health
- (f) Human resources
- (g) Severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS)
- (h) Eradication of poliomyelitis.

158. The Committee was invited to consider the provisional agenda of its fifty-fourth session and decide on issues that should be recommended to the one-hundred-and-thirteenth session of the Executive Board and the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly.

# Method of work and duration of the World Health Assembly (document AFR/RC53/5)

- 159. The purpose of the document was to facilitate the work of Member States at the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly in accordance with the relevant decisions of the Executive Board and the World Health Assembly concerning the method of work and duration of the Health Assembly.
- 160. The Regional Committee examined the document and advised on the draft procedural decisions. The recommendations will be transmitted to the Director-General.
- 161. Delegates agreed to review the method of appointing members of the Executive Board following sub-regional groupings and established a task force to discuss and prepare new criteria for appointing countries on subregional basis. The task force constituted by four representatives of Member States from four different subregions and assisted by one member of WHO Secretariat will present a preliminary report to the African ministers of health during the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly. Special consideration should be given to defining sub-regions, and involving countries that do not fall under sub-regional groupings.
- 162. The Regional Committee expressed concern at the duration of the World Health Assembly and proposed a matching of agenda items to the time allocated.

# Evaluation of the implementation of resolution WHA51.31, Regular budget allocations to regions (document AFR/RC53/14)

- 163. Mr B. Chandra presented the document AFR/RC53/14. He reminded the Committee that in 1998, the World Health Assembly adopted resolution 51.31 that recommended that regional, inter-country and country Regular budget allocations should be guided, for the most part, by a model that:
  - (a) draws upon the United Nations Development Programme Human Development Index, possibly adjusted for immunization;
  - (b) incorporates national population statistics calculated according to commonly accepted methods such as "logarithmic smoothing";
  - (c) is gradually implemented so that reductions for any region do not exceed 3% per year and are spread over a period of three biennia.
- 164. He informed the Committee that document AFR/RC53/14 was intended to provide regional committees with information relating to the financial impact of implementing the resolution in each of the six regions of WHO.
- 165. The delegates agreed to thank the Director-General, Executive Board and World Health Assembly for the resolution and added that these funds would have an impact on the health needs of the populations in the African region. They suggested that the decision be fully implemented in the shortest time frame possible, and they also supported the evaluation of the model in accordance with operative paragraph 4 of resolution WHA51.31.

#### **REPORT OF THE PROGRAMME SUBCOMMITTEE** (document AFR/RC53/7)

- 166. Professor Pierre-Andre Kombila-Koumba, Chairperson of the Programme Subcommittee, presented the report of the Subcommittee. He reported that 10 of its 12 members as well as Executive Board members from Gabon and Gambia had participated in the deliberations of the Subcommittee, which had met in Brazzaville from 17 to 20 June 2003. The Vice-Chairperson of the African Advisory Committee for Health Research and Development was also present.
- 167. He informed the Committee that the Secretariat had duly incorporated the specific comments and suggestions of the Subcommittee in the revised documents presented to the Regional Committee for adoption.
- 168. Professor Kombila-Koumba commended the Regional Director and his staff for the quality and relevance of the technical documents.

# Macroeconomics and health: The way forward in the African Region (document AFR/RC53/8 Rev.1)

- 169. Professor Kombila-Koumba recalled that in December 2001, the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health (CMH) provided evidence that ill-health contributes significantly to poverty and low economic growth; a few conditions account for the high proportion of ill-health and premature deaths; and substantial expansion of coverage of cost-effective interventions into priority health problems could potentially save millions of lives per year.
- 170. He informed the Committee that the Programme Subcommittee had taken note of the CMH overarching recommendation of substantive increase in domestic and donor investment into a "close-to-client" system to facilitate significant expansion in the coverage of pro-poor health interventions.
- 171. He explained that in order to facilitate the scaling up of pro-poor health investments proposed by the CMH, document AFR/RC53/8 Rev. 1 proposed the following generic steps: consensus building on the relevance of the findings and recommendations of CMH at country level; setting up institutional arrangements to facilitate implementation of the CMH recommendations in countries; situation analysis and development of strategic health investment plan; guidelines on how to bridge funding gaps; revision of health and health-related sectoral development plans and the relevant components of Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSPs); implementation of multi-year strategic plans by the lead ministries and agencies; monitoring, evaluation and reporting.
- 172. He recommended to the Committee the adoption of document AFR/RC53/8 Rev.1 and its draft resolution AFR/RC53/WP/1.
- 173. All the participants recognized the relevance and timeliness of the document on Macroeconomics and Health, which coincides with other global initiatives. It was suggested that Member States should follow a step-wise approach to implementation of the Commission's recommendations, namely:
  - (a) Each country should develop a consensus within ministries of health on the recommendations of the Commission on Microeconomics and Health before bringing other stakeholders on board.
  - (b) Each country should bring on board all the stakeholders, including other relevant sectors and development partners.
  - (c) The CMH action agenda should be discussed and endorsed by the national cabinets.
- 174. The delegates indicated that there was a need to analyse the factors behind the increasing prevalence and severity of poverty in the African Region. They attributed this to: the structural adjustment programmes, which were often implemented

without a human face; globalization that had led to privatization of even social services; introduction of user-fees programmes that are largely paid by the poor; HIV/AIDS pandemic; escalation in health care costs since countries have no control over the pricing of drugs, medical equipment, etc. To get around these challenges, the delegates recommended: strengthening the regional economic integration; addressing the care of the people living with AIDS more seriously through the use of antiretroviral drugs; lobbying strongly for debt cancellation and for allocation of the majority of HIPC funds to the health sector.

175. The Committee made a number of suggestions for improving the document:

- (a) There are other human resource challenges, besides brain drain, unlike what is implied in paragraph 16(e).
- (b) The report should include an analysis of the other ongoing regional macroeconomic initiatives.
- (c) While thinking of the linkage between macroeconomics and health, it is important to bear in mind that, the scaling up of interventions will have to take place within health systems.

176. The delegates said that additional responsibilities of WHO should include: (i) development of a minimum set of indicators for monitoring and evaluating the implementation of multi-year health investment plans; (ii) provision of technical and catalytic financial support to Member States intending to develop plans for implementing the Commission's action agenda; (iii) supporting countries to undertake macroeconomic studies on public health expenditure review and on the impact of health investments on socio-economic development; (iv) undertaking advocacy among Bretton Woods institutions (the World Bank and IMF) and other UN agencies for scaling up health investments as recommended by the CMH.

177. Member States also recommended that: irrespective of the support coming from different partners, the governments should always be on the driving seat of health development; Member States should acknowledge the instrumental role of the media in advocating for increased investments in health.

178. Member States proposed to prioritize the steps recommended in the document. The first priority should be raising the profile of health as a key determinant of socioeconomic development and poverty reduction strategies. In this regard, ministries of health should advocate more strongly with other relevant sectors (e.g. finance and planning) for increased investments in health. The Committee recommended that: WHO and Member States should also advocate for a special UN session on macroeconomics and health; the WHO Regional Office for Africa should liaise with the African Union Commission to adopt the proposed macroeconomics and health strategy; ministries of health should demonstrate more commitment in improving the health status of populations; there should be an annual macroeconomics and

health strategy implementation progress report to the Regional Committee; and WHO should support countries to institutionalize or strengthen National Health Accounts.

- 179. Countries should honour the commitment of the Heads of State to allocate 15% of national budgets to health. However, Member States acknowledged that some of the countries might have difficulties in honouring such commitment, given the prevailing adverse macroeconomic conditions. In this regard, WHO should provide technical support to Member States to define a regional strategy on resource mobilization for health. WHO and Member States should advocate strongly among bilateral and multilateral donor agencies for special conditions for provision of funding to the health sector, especially during humanitarian emergency situations.
- 180. The Committee proposed that national social health insurance should be included in the agenda of the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee.
- 181. The Regional Director thanked the Committee for not only acknowledging the linkages between health and development but also for providing clear suggestions and recommendations on the way forward. He assured the delegates that WHO will continue to advocate strongly for increased debt cancellation and for the allocation of more funds to health and health-related sectors.
- 182. The Regional Committee adopted document AFR/RC53/8 Rev. 1 and resolution AFR/RC53/R1.

# Strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems (document AFR/RC53/9 Rev. 1)

- 183. Professor Kombila-Koumba explained that the document proposes a framework for improving the performance of hospitals in national health systems. The document reiterated the three core functions of hospitals: which are provision of high quality health care services; development of human resources for health; and information and research.
- 184. He informed the Committee that the document further suggested a number of orientations for improving performance of hospitals, namely: hospital development and government stewardship; enhancing collaboration between hospitals and other levels of the health system; development of human resources for health including improvement of working conditions in hospitals, training and remuneration as crucial for the motivation and retention of health workers; making quality of care paramount for hospital development; improving hospital financing mechanisms; improving organization and management of hospitals taking into account the need to affirm the role of community participation; improving responsiveness; and improving collaboration between traditional medicine and hospitals.

- 185. Professor Kombila-Koumba concluded that development of hospitals in the Region should be undertaken within the context of health sector reforms. Giving appropriate consideration to hospitals should not divert attention from other levels of the health system. In this regard, efforts to boost primary health care (PHC) should continue to be pursued. This requires strong stewardship by national authorities and commitment by partners.
- 186. He recommended to the Committee the adoption of document AFR/RC53/9 Rev.1 and its resolution AFR/RC53/R2.
- 187. The delegates proposed that the management of hospitals should be done by professionally trained hospital managers rather than by medical experts in order to create a management culture in hospitals. In addition, they put emphasis on the development of hospital plans for the promotion of value for money.
- 188. In their comments, the delegates emphasized the need to improve the quality of care in hospitals, to conduct operational research to demonstrate what works and what does not work; develop tools and indicators for monitoring the performance of hospitals and regular updating of staff needs and staff requirement of hospitals; standardize hospital equipment to facilitate its purchase, procurement of supplies and maintenance; collaborate with traditional practitioners; use innovative approaches to motivate staff to ensure their retention.
- 189. Among other mechanisms for improving hospital performance and health financing, delegates cited cost sharing, drug revolving fund, intra-mural private practice and health insurance, sub-contractual arrangements and regulation of the private sector, and certification of programmes for hospitals. They expressed the need for close liaison with the ministries of finance in order to handle the issue of increasing budgets to the health sector.
- 190. Member States suggested that WHO should lobby other development partners to provide grants and soft loans for refurbishing hospitals and purchase hospital equipment. In addition, WHO should support studies that will enhance performance of hospitals, develop tools, including indicators of performance and support documentation and dissemination of hospital best practices.
- 191. The Regional Director thanked the ministers for their valuable contributions and informed them that their suggestions would be incorporated into the document. The improved document will be circulated to the ministers and the Secretariat will closely work with Member States on the ways and means of implementing the recommendations.
- 192. The Committee adopted document AFR/RC53/9 Rev.1 and resolution AFR/RC53/R2.

# Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation and agenda for action (document AFR/RC53/10 Rev. 1)

- 193. Dr Omar Sam, Rapporteur, Programme Subcommittee, explained that the document highlighted the fact that injuries were as important as other diseases, and their prevention and control involved the same principles as other public health problems. Injuries were categorized as unintentional and intentional. Unintentional injuries comprised road traffic crashes, poisoning, falls, fires and drowning; intentional injuries comprise interpersonal, collective and self-inflicted violence.
- 194. He pointed out that the document emphasized that injuries are social problems with major public health implications in both developed and developing countries. Injuries represented 11% of the global mortality rate and 13% of all disability-adjusted life years lost. In the year 2000, in the African Region alone, an estimated 725 000 people died as a result of injuries, accounting for 7% of all deaths in the Region and 15% of injury-related deaths worldwide. In the African Region, road traffic injuries, conflicts and interpersonal violence were the leading causes of mortality and disability related to injuries.
- 195. Dr Omar Sam summarised the document which underscored that the health sector should promote evidence-based preventive measures; improve pre-hospital care, hospital care and rehabilitation programmes; undertake surveillance; reinforce the role of pre-emptive research; mobilize and support other sectors and stakeholders in advocacy, development and coordination of comprehensive policies, strategies and programmes to prevent and manage injuries and violence.
- 196. He recommended to the Committee the adoption of document AFR/RC53/10 Rev. 1 and resolution AFR/RC53/R3.
- 197. During the discussions, the delegates noted with satisfaction the relevance of the document on injury and violence. They commended WHO for choosing the theme "Prevention of Road Traffic Accidents" for the 2004 World Health Day.
- 198. To improve the document, the delegates requested that special emphasis be put on psychological trauma, especially in post-conflict countries. In addition, they suggested that linkages should be established between the various documents proposed by the sub-committee, notably the document on the strengthening of the role of hospitals in national health services and the document on injury and violence. In the latter, this would entail strengthening emergency care in hospitals and health services as part of injury management.
- 199. In order to scale up the activities for the prevention and control of injury and violence, the delegates recommended (i) that technical assistance be provided to Member States to set up surveillance and control programmes for injury and violence using a multisectoral approach; (ii) establishment or reinforcement of

community-based rehabilitation programmes and (iii) the creation of comprehensive post conflict programmes to include demobilization and integration for excombatants.

200. Delegates further requested that the Regional Office support advocacy for increased awareness of the relationship between alcohol abuse and injury and violence control; countries for emergency care and control of sexual abuse in conflict situations; the effective availability of funds for "third-party insurance" to manage victims of road traffic accidents; advocacy for the application of the Convention on the Rights of the Child and adoption of legislative instruments on violence and health; training of health personnel in psychiatry.

201. In response to comments by the delegates, the Regional Director expressed his gratitude to the delegates for their valuable contributions and assured them that their suggestions and recommendations would be incorporated into the document.

202. The Committee adopted the document AFR/RC53/10 Rev. 1 and resolution AFR/RC53/R3.

# Women's health: A strategy for the African Region (document AFR/RC53/11 Rev. 1)

203. Dr Omar Sam informed the Committee that the document defined women's health as a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being throughout their entire lifespan, and not only their reproductive health. Women's biological vulnerability to health conditions (such as HIV/AIDS), their low social status, limited access to health services, low literacy level and lack of decision-making power were argued to be major determinants of ill-health.

204. He said that the document described the various stages of women's lifespan and the related health issues. For example, infections, physical injuries and sexual abuse were common in childhood. Adolescence was characterized by early marriage, unwanted pregnancy unsafe abortions and harmful traditional practices (HTPs)/Female genital mutilation (FGM). In the reproductive years, maternal morbidity and mortality were major public health challenges. Cervical and breast cancers, osteoporosis, post-menopausal syndrome and mental depression were principal causes of morbidity and mortality in later life. Sexually-transmitted infections (STIs), HIV/AIDS and violence occurred throughout women's lifespan. Tuberculosis, malaria and HIV/AIDS constituted a deadly triad for African women.

205. Dr Omar Sam explained that the women's health strategy was meant to contribute to the attainment of the highest possible level of health for women. The strategy addressed health conditions that were exclusive to or more prevalent in women as well as those which had more severe consequences and implied different risk factors for women. It proposed interventions focusing on improving the responsiveness of health systems to the specific needs of women; developing

appropriate policies, advocacy strategies and communication strategies; strengthening the capacity of various cadres of health providers to deliver quality care. Implementation was described within the context of health sector reform and equity in health; in partnership with women, men, opinion leaders, community-based organizations, NGOs, relevant government ministries, public and private institutions.

206. He recommended to the Committee the adoption of the document AFR/RC53/11 Rev.1 and its draft resolution AFR/RC53/WP/4.

207. The Committee congratulated the Regional Director and his staff for producing a comprehensive and relevant document, "Women's health: a strategy for the African Region".

208. Delegates underscored that women's health was a priority in the African Region. They said that in order to adequately address problems related to maternal mortality, education and nutrition of girls and women should be given high priority. The Committee expressed need for WHO support to strengthen national family planning programmes and to set up programmes for menopausal women.

209. The Committee lamented that countries had not adequately addressed the issue of "culture of silence and endurance". WHO was requested to sensitize the Heads of State and governments at the African Union on the importance of adequately addressing women's health issues as a prerequisite for socioeconomic development in Africa. These include among others the elimination of harmful traditional practices, e.g. early marriage and female genital mutilation. Women's health in Africa is strongly associated with poverty, and, therefore, economic empowerment of women is a necessary condition for attainment of high health status of women.

210. Delegates recalled that in 1997, the Regional Committee adopted a Reproductive Health Strategy which provided a very comprehensive framework. However, there would be need to keep the following issues in the forefront for addressing women's health: violence against women and children; pregnancy; cancer, especially of the cervix; female genital mutilation; and human cloning. Given that the latter issue is on the agenda of the forthcoming United Nations General Assembly, it is important that the delegates from the African Region be adequately briefed by WHO.

211. Concerning paragraph 9, the delegates indicated that the technologies needed in the prevention of pregnancy and childbirth-related complications are neither available nor affordable in our countries. Paragraph 23 should include "early detection and management of uterine fibroid".

- 212. Delegates underscored the need for strengthening the referral systems especially in the rural areas and establishing mechanisms for monitoring and evaluation of women's health programmes. They emphasized the need for active involvement of women in operational research, policy and programme developments related to women's health.
- 213. In the context of women's health, delegates recommended that there should be a closer working relationship among UN agencies, especially WHO and UNFPA in the area of family planning. In addition, they underscored the need for synergy of efforts between all sectors that impact on women's access to quality health care.
- 214. The Regional Director thanked the Committee for their comments and suggestions on this important matter. Concerning the comments made regarding paragraph 9, he underscored the fact that these technologies are available but are not accessible to the majority. He took the opportunity to introduce Ambassador Gertrude Mongela, Member of Parliament from the United Republic of Tanzania, and former Secretary-General of the Fourth World Conference on Women as the Good-will Ambassador on maternal and child health. She will support the Regional Office in advocating for reduction in maternal and child mortality. In her response, Ambassador Mongela thanked the Regional Director for her nomination and assured the Regional Committee of her commitment to work hard for Africa in addressing maternal and child health issues through advocacy and international linkages.
- 215. The Director, Division of Family and Reproductive Health, regretted that women's health is not on the list of regional priorities. In addition, only a third of Member States selected this area of work in their 2002-2003 Programme Budget. She appealed to countries to reflect the discussions of the Regional Committee and the Director-General's emphasis on the health of women and children in 2004-2005 workplans.

216. The Committee adopted document AFR/RC53/11 Rev. 1 and resolution AFR/RC53/R4.

# Food safety and health: Situation analysis and perspectives (AFR/RC53/12 Rev. 1)

217. Dr Miaka-Mia Bilenge, Rapporteur of the Programme Subcommittee, reported that the document described foodborne illness as a major public health problem which also lowered economic productivity. Every year, millions of people worldwide became sick as a result of consuming contaminated and unsafe food. Ensuring food safety was a critical and fundamental component of public health and food security. The Fifty-third World Health Assembly adopted resolution WHA53.15 urging WHO and its Member States to recognize food safety as an essential public health concern.

- 218. He said that the document identified the principal food hazards. It also described the socioeconomic, environmental and climatic factors as well as the poor personal hygiene practices which predispose food to contamination.
- 219. Dr Bilenge explained that the main challenges to food safety included provision of basic urban infrastructure and services in order to meet the health and social needs related to widespread poverty and urbanization; establishing effective and sustainable food safety regulatory systems based on scientific risk assessment and prevention; ensuring interdisciplinary collaboration and coordination in food safety management, including strengthening the role of laboratories; regulating street food vending while giving appropriate education and information to street vendors; testing, regulation, good labeling and provision of adequate information to consumers on genetically engineered or modified foods; and the pressure of international trade agreements.
- 220. He informed the Committee that the document explained that the reduction of foodborne diseases involved risk reduction and control interventions targeted at processes from production to consumption. Those interventions included the system of Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP); food safety education for consumers and food handlers; elaboration of evidence-based enforceable policies; and implementation of an integrated foodborne surveillance system, an intercountry information network and quick awareness mechanisms.
- 221. He invited the Committee to adopt document AFR/RC53/12 Rev.1 and its draft resolution AFR/RC53/WP/5.
- 222. The Committee congratulated the Secretariat for the timeliness and pertinence of the document. They observed that rapid urbanization had increased the risk of foodborne illnesses in vulnerable groups; at the same time, accelerated growth of the informal sector and privatization of the food trade presented further problems. They requested WHO to provide technical support in the development or elaboration of food safety policies and legislation, formulation and implementation of a regional strategy on food safety, and strengthening of national food safety programmes to include the informal sector. Recognizing that current legislation in most countries was more repressive than educative and preventive, it was suggested that attention should be paid to raising consumer awareness.
- 223. Delegates emphasized the importance of tackling food safety using a multisectoral and multidisciplinary approach. In this regard it was proposed that the sectors mentioned in paragraph 27 be expanded to include, *inter alia*, agriculture, commerce and trade, home affairs, water and sanitation, customs as well as local government. The role of civil society should be clearly stated in the section on challenges. In paragraph 34, the role of the family and household as a target for health education should be included.

- 224. The Committee highlighted the issue of genetically-modified foods (GMFs) and urged the Regional Office to assist Member States with formulation of guidelines on GMFs. They further requested assistance for putting in place monitoring systems for in-coming GMFs. The issue of threats from international trade agreements was emphasized and collective action recommended.
- 225. The delegates pointed out the need for good quality control in the area of food safety and mentioned that public health laboratories could play an important role. WHO was requested to help in boosting country capacities. Special attention would need to be given to residual pesticides.
- 226. The Regional Director thanked the delegates for their valuable contributions and assured them that the suggestions would be incorporated accordingly. He promised that the Regional Office would provide guidelines on GMFs. He further informed them that there would be discussions on trade agreements and that information would be provided to the ministers.
- 227. The Committee adopted document AFR/RC53/12 Rev. 1 and resolution AFR/RC53/R5.

# Scaling up interventions against HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria (document AFR/RC53/13 Rev. 1)

- 228. Dr Bilenge informed the Committee that document AFR/RC53/13 Rev. 1 underscored the fact that HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria contributed to high morbidity and mortality in the WHO African Region, and accounted for more than 90% of the global cases and deaths associated with those diseases. They exerted an enormous economic burden on governments, communities and families, trapping millions in a vicious cycle of poverty and ill-health.
- 229. He said that the document underlined the efforts made to reduce the burden of these three diseases, in terms of increased political commitment, development of national strategic plans and partnership building; ongoing capacity building for the prevention and control of the three diseases; increased knowledge about HIV/AIDS and safe blood for transfusion; increased tuberculosis (TB) case detection rates and implementation of the DOTS strategy; and more capacity to plan, implement, monitor and evaluate malaria prevention and control programmes in almost all countries.
- 230. He underscored that despite the aforementioned efforts and achievements, the document lamented that: coverage and access to interventions had remained low, e.g. only 6% of the adult population had access to voluntary counselling and testing, 40% of countries had nationwide coverage of directly-observed treatment, short course (DOTS) services, and coverage of insecticide-treated nets (ITNs) was 5%. Trends in these diseases were not declining, largely due to limited human and

financial resources, unaffordable drugs for prevention and treatment, and poor infrastructure. Those constraints had been compounded by inadequate approaches to the implementation of existing strategies for programmes.

- 231. Dr Bilenge appraised the Committee that the document emphasized that success in scaling up interventions against these three diseases required country ownership, equity and sustainability. He called for intensification of advocacy to ensure a health sector that was responsive to the needs of people; enhancing multisectoral action; taking into account the special problems of conflict and post-conflict situations; increasing the quantity and quality of staff involved in the delivery of services; strengthening programme management and resource allocation; effective decentralization of services; enhancing integrated service delivery at district level; strengthening partnerships with communities for service delivery; ensuring availability of drugs and commodities at all levels, including formulation of appropriate mechanisms to prevent leakage of cheaper antiretrovirals from developing to developed countries; promoting operational research for improved management and service delivery taking into account the role of traditional medicine; and ensuring financial resource mobilization and disbursement at operational level.
- 232. He invited the Committee to adopt document AFR/RC53/13 Rev.1 and its draft resolution AFR/RC53/WP/6.
- 233. The delegates congratulated the Secretariat for the quality of the document. They underscored the burden of disease contributed by HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria and proposed that the scaling up be taken in the context of sector-wide approaches, and that health systems should be strengthened since the prevalence of these diseases is rapidly increasing. They suggested that the document emphasize the role of laboratories.
- 234. The participants proposed that the document should also emphasize nutritional support to patients, patient networks, prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) and voluntary counseling and testing (VCT). The role of traditional medicine in the treatment of HIV/AIDS and malaria should be given more prominence.
- 235. The Committee recommended South-to-South or inter-country cooperation in sharing best practices among Member States. Furthermore, they suggested that WHO should organize inter-country meetings and technical networks for these exchanges; if countries have changed their treatment regimes, WHO could assist in the re-distribution of surplus drugs where necessary.
- 236. The delegates lamented the delays and complicated mechanisms for the disbursement of funds from the Global Fund, and they requested WHO to advocate for simplification of these procedures.

- 237. The delegates underscored the need to pay special attention to specific groups such as orphans, health workers and long-distance drivers. They also proposed that the document should discuss psychological support to people living with HIV/AIDS, their families and other structures providing palliative care.
- 238. The Committee requested WHO to provide some guidance to countries on how to recognize non-professional counselors. They highlighted the role of traditional leaders in the scaling up process, advocacy and decision-making. They further emphasized that women play a prominent role in community-based programmes.
- 239. To facilitate scaling up, governments should reinforce their political commitment while partners should recognize the leadership of ministries of health. Realizing the prohibitive costs of antiretrovirals (ARVs), delegates requested that WHO advocate for friendly countries and the international community to support access to drugs for needy countries.
- 240. With regard to malaria, delegates said that ITN coverage of 60% should not be used as the only criterion for reaching the Abuja targets. Countries with good residual indoor spraying should use that as a valid indicator, since several countries in southern Africa are using this and not ITNs.
- 241. Delegates suggested that consideration should be given to cost of interventions. WHO should look critically into areas in which drug prices can be reduced. The recent World Trade Organization (WTO) decision should be examined to see what can be done while considering local production of drugs within Member States that have the capacity to do so.
- 242. The Committee requested clarification on the use of DDT in public health versus its ban for use in agriculture.
- 243. Concerning the section on monitoring and evaluation, the delegates suggested that the monitoring process should be done through a network of experts based in Member countries. WHO should standardize the methodology for determining HIV prevalence, and countries should be encouraged to carry out national HIV sero-surveys to get actual statistics if such data collection is affordable.
- 244. Delegates made the following suggestions for improving the text:
  - (a) in paragraph 4, add "Stop TB Partnership" after "(RBM) initiative";
  - (b) in the section on constraints, add a new paragraph on: "human resources"; also add, "WHO should advocate for simpler mechanisms for disbursements from the Global Fund as well as access to care and atraumatic restorative treatment (ART) to contribute to the "3 by 5" target";

- (c) at the end of paragraph 15, add the following statement: "Community level structures should be established as integrated components of health systems";
- (d) in paragraph 20, add to the general objective: "as well as a reduction of impact (especially social impact) of the three diseases";
- (e) in paragraph 22, add an item (e) on "Community Participation";
- (f) in paragraph 26(a), include criteria for selecting credible NGOs and the means of monitoring and evaluating their performance;
- (g) in paragraph 26, add an item (e) as follows: "including community programmes in the health system";
- (h) to paragraph 28, add "strengthening multisectoral mechanisms" to the list;
- (i) in paragraph 30, emphasize that voluntary counselling and testing (VCT) and highly-active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) will further stretch capacities of health systems and include integration of treatment, especially the directly-observed treatment short-course (DOTS) and antiretrovirals (ARVs);
- (j) in the subhead of paragraph 32, add "(including ARVs)" after "drugs";
- (k) in paragraph 33, do not restrict research only to operational research. Either add a new paragraph promoting "basic research" or incorporate "basic research" into the sentences. Examples of such basic research priorities that African scientists should undertake include rapid diagnostic testing for TB, more effective anti-TB drugs to shorten duration of treatment, etc.
- 245. The Regional Director, in his closing remarks, thanked the delegates for their useful comments and promised that the proposals made would be duly incorporated to enrich the document. He informed the delegates that there would be a session with the staff of the Global Fund for their further information. He explained that dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) is still an acceptable public health tool but it continues to be banned in agriculture because of its effects on the environment. He supported the acknowledgement by delegates of the usefulness of traditional medicines and highlighted ongoing research to test their toxicity and efficacy.
- 246. The Committee adopted the document AFR/RC53/13 Rev.1 with amendments and the resolution AFR/RC53/R6.

# Eradication of dracunculiasis in the WHO African Region (document AFR/RC53/INF/Doc.1)

247. Dr A. Kabore, Director, Division of Prevention and Control of communicable Diseases, presented the document for the information of the Committee. He outlined the epidemiological situation in the region, the socioeconomic impact of the disease, achievements to date, constraints and challenges. Worth noting was that this typical

disease of poverty was endemic only in Africa. Although there is no vaccine and no cure, the disease is easily preventable.

# SARS preparedness and response in the WHO African Region (document AFR/RC53/INF/Doc.2)

248. Dr A. Kabore, Director, Division of Prevention and Control of communicable diseases, introduced the document. He said that following the identification of the first case of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) in China, it has spread to 17 countries worldwide. Dr Kabore further informed the Committee members that the epidemiology, pathophysiology and evolution of the disease has been described. He outlined the Regional Office's response to the epidemic and the main achievements and concluded by emphasizing the need to strengthen surveillance systems in order to ensure prompt response by Member States.

249. The delegates underscored the need to increase the number of reference laboratories from the current four, given the problems of communication and transportation in Africa. A request was made to WHO to strengthen the diagnostic capacities of countries. Given that SARS case management requires Intensive Care facilities, the Committee underlined the need for countries to reinforce their health systems. Delegates noted the international concern and solidarity generated in responding to SARS and requested that HIV/AIDS and Ebola be given the same attention and response.

#### Qualifications and selection of the Regional Director (document AFR/RC53/15)

- 250. Mr Gian Luca Burci, Senior Legal Officer, presented the document and recalled resolution AFR/RC48/R7 by which the Regional Committee set the qualifications and criteria for the nomination of the Regional Director at its forty-ninth session and established a Search Committee.
- 251. After outlining the possible terms of reference, size, membership and cost implications of the Search Committee, Mr Burci invited the Regional Committee to deliberate and decide on the need to set up a Search Committee and, if agreed, the modality of selecting its members and designating its Chairperson.
- 252. After deliberating on the matter, the Regional Committee finally agreed that it was not necessary to establish a Search Committee, given the expenses involved in maintaining it and the fact that a Search Committee would have no legal mandate to shortlist candidates. The Regional Committee went on to emphasize the right of every candidate nominated by any Member State to stand for election, as long as the candidate has the right qualifications as set out in Annex 1 to document AFR/RC/53/15, and that it would be the prerogative of the Regional Committee to evaluate candidates and nominate the candidate it considered most appropriate. The Committee agreed that the process of selection required further clarification and

requested the Secretariat to prepare a paper outlining possible options to improve the current procedure.

253. After considering the paper of the Secretariat, the Committee agreed on the following procedure as an amendment to Rule 52 of the Rules of Procedure:

- If more than five (5) candidatures are received, the Regional Committee will proceed to the establishment of a shortlist of five candidates;
- To arrive at this number, the Committee will hold a secret ballot and will retain the five candidates receiving the highest number of votes;
- The Committee will interview the short-listed candidates, and the interviews will consist of a presentation by each candidate followed by a question-and-answer session;
- After the interviews, the Committee will proceed to elect the Regional Director in accordance with Rule 52 of the Rules of Procedure.

ROUND TABLES (documents AFR/RC53/RT/1, AFR/RC53/RT/2, AFR/RC53/RT/3)

## Reports of the Round Tables (document AFR/RC53/16)

254. The Round Table discussions were conducted in parallel with the Regional Committee meeting and were on the following topics:

- (a) **Round Table 1**: Laboratory services in the provision of quality health care (document AFR/RC53/RT/1).
- (b) **Round Table 2**: Safe motherhood: Improving access to emergency obstetric care (document AFR/RC53/RT/2)
- (c) **Round Table 3**: Emergency and humanitarian action: Improving the effectiveness of health interventions (document AFR/RC53/RT/3)

255. The Chairpersons of the Round Tables presented their respective reports as follows:

- (a) Dr Albert Toikeusse Mabri, Minister of Health and Population, Côte d'Ivoire, on Round Table 1: Laboratory services in the provision of quality health care.
- (b) Dr Aida Theodomira de Nobreza, Vice Minister of Health, Mozambique, on Round Table 2: Safe motherhood: Improving access to emergency obstetric care.

(c) Dr Abdelhamid Aberkane, Minister of Health, Population and Reform, Algeria, on Round Table 3: Emergency and humanitarian action: Improving the effectiveness of health interventions.

256. The reports of the Round Tables can be found in Annexes 4a, 4b and 4c of this report.

## Choice of subjects for the Round Tables in 2004 (document AFR/RC53/20)

257. Dr Luis Sambo of the Secretariat introduced document AFR/RC53/20 specifying two main themes for the Round Table discussions for the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee.

258. After some discussion, the following themes were agreed upon:

Round Table 1: Child sexual abuse: A silent emergency;

Round Table 2: Challenge to improving nutrition in the African Region.

# Nomination of Chairpersons and Alternate Chairpersons for the Round Tables in 2004 (document AFR/RC53/20)

259. The Committee appointed the following as Chairpersons and Alternate Chairpersons for the Round Tables in 2004:

## Round Table 1

Chairperson: Togo Alternate Chairperson: Chad

#### **Round Table 2**

Chairperson: Zambia Alternate Chairperson: Mauritania

# DATES AND PLACES OF THE FIFTY-FOURTH AND FIFTY-FIFTH SESSIONS OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE (document AFR/RC53/17)

260. Mr B. Chandra, Director, Division of administration and finance, introduced the document.

261. The Regional Committee agreed that the venue of its fifty-fourth session would be at the Regional Office in Brazzaville, Republic of Congo, and that it would be from 30 August to 3 September 2004. The venue of the fifty-fifth session in 2005 would be determined at the fifty-fourth session.

### ADOPTION OF THE REPORT OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE

(document AFR/RC53/18)

262. The report of the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee was adopted with minor amendments.

#### CLOSURE OF THE FIFTY-THIRD SESSION OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE

## Closing remarks of the Regional Director

- 263. In his closing remarks, the Regional Director, Dr Ebrahim M. Samba, expressed his thanks and appreciation to His Excellency, the President of the Republic of South Africa, Mr Thabo Mbeki, for hosting the Regional Committee meeting in the city of Johannesburg. He recalled that this was the second time the Regional Committee meeting was being held in South Africa. He acknowledged the excellent accommodation, conference and printing facilities and logistical support provided by the South African government, all of which immensely facilitated the work of the Committee and the Secretariat. He said that the all-round superb support from the South African government had contributed to making this session one of the most successful Regional Committee meetings to have been held in the Region.
- 264. He thanked the delegates for their punctual attendance at all the sessions, their exhaustive and passionate discussion of all the agenda items, and for their guidance and clear orientation for further enhancing the quality and relevance of WHO Regional Office support to countries. He also expressed thanks to the Chairperson of the Regional Committee for the remarkable way in which she managed the proceedings of the entire meeting.
- 265. He called on the Regional Committee to join him in thanking staff of the Regional Office for their hard work and dedication as demonstrated by the quality of the documents presented at the meeting. He complimented the Director of Programme Management for his loyalty and selfless efforts in providing overall supervision of the work of all the Regional Office divisions and Country Offices.
- 266. Finally, Dr Samba reminded the Committee that the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee would take place in Brazzaville according to the decision taken by the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee.

#### Vote of thanks

267. The motion of vote of thanks to the President, the Government and people of South Africa, for hosting the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee, was moved by the Minister of Health, Uganda, Mr Jim Muhwezi, on behalf of the delegates. It was adopted by the Regional Committee.

## Remarks of the Chairperson and closure of the meeting

- 268. The Chairperson, Dr M. Tshabalala-Msimang, said that the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee had been a successful meeting. She attributed the success to the very high standard of contributions made by the delegates.
- 269. She recalled that some of the challenges discussed at the meeting included strengthening of hospitals as critical centres for referral care; migration of human resources for health; devastating effects of armed conflicts and interpersonal violence; the high maternal mortality rate; scaling up of interventions related to HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria; macroeconomics and health; and the NEPAD Health Strategy.
- 270. Dr Tshabalala-Msimang reminded the delegates of their six agreements to: (i) table a resolution on migration of human resources for health at the fifty-seventh World Health Assembly; (ii) prioritize women's health and ensure that health systems respond adequately and particularly to the needs of particularly pregnant women; (iii) allocate more national resources for scaling up access and coverage of HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria interventions; (iv) discuss, during the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee, the pros and cons of using the phrase HIV and AIDS instead of HIV/AIDS to give hope to HIV positive people; (v) explore subregional representation of African countries on the WHO Executive Board; (vi) advocate for more national and global investments in health and improve country capacity to absorb these resources.
- 271. She said that the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD) gave countries an opportunity to work together as Africans and approach the world as equal partners in addressing health challenges. Dr Tshabalala-Msimang appealed to the delegates, as they celebrate the 25th anniversary of the Alma-Ata Declaration, to commit themselves to the renewal of primary health care as a pillar of their interventions so as to reach the targets set in the millennium development goals.
- 272. Dr Tshabalala-Msimang wished all the delegates a safe journey back home, and invited them to attend the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee that would take place in Brazzaville, Republic of Congo, in 2004.
- 273. The Chairperson then declared the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee closed.

Part III

**ANNEXES** 

#### LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

## 1. REPRESENTATIVES OF MEMBER STATES

#### **ALGERIA**

Prof. Abdelhamid Aberkane Ministre de la Santé, de la Population et de la Réforme hospitalière Chef de Délégation Alger

Dr Mohamed El Kamel Kellou Directeur de la Prévention Alger

M. Messaoud Belkessam Directeur de la Communication Ministère de la Santé, de la Population et de la Réforme hospitalière Alger

#### **ANGOLA**

Dra. Albertina Júlia Hamukwaya Ministro da Saúde Luanda Chefe da Delegação

Dr. José Vieira Dias Van-Dúnem Vice-Ministro da Saude Luanda

Dr. Augusto Rosa Mateus Neto Directora da Gabinete de Intercâmbio Internacional Luanda

Dr Adelaide de Carvalho Director Nacional de Saúde Pública Luanda Dr António Bento Director de la Saúde de Província de Benguela

Dra. Maria José de Souza G. Alfredo Directora do Gabinete do Vice-Ministro da Saúde Luanda

Sra. Alice Ondino Sousa Mendonça Ministério da Saúde Luanda

### **BENIN**

Dr (Mme) Y. C. Seignon née Kandissounon Ministre de la Santé publique Chef de Délégation Cotonou

Dr Dorothée Agoï Yevide Directrice nationale de la Protection sanitaire Cotonou

Dr Perrin René Xavier Médecin Cordonnateur, Hôpital de la Mère et de l'Enfant (HOMEL) Professeur de Gynécologie-Obstétrique/Lagune Cotonou

Dr Abdoulaye Idrissou Directeur des Pharmacies et Laboratoires Ministère de la Santé publique Cotonou

## **BOTSWANA**

Mrs Lesego E. Motsumi Minister of Health Head of Delegation Gaborone

Dr Themba Lebogang Moeti
Deputy Director of Health Services

Gaborone

Miss Theresa Naniki Bokete Chief Laboratory Scientist Gaborone

Mr Thuso G. Ramodimoosi Counsellor, Botswana High Commission

Pretoria, RSA

Switzerland

Ms Lucy Sejo Maribe Principal Health Officer (Maternal Child Health) Gaborone

Mr Gobe Pitso First Secretary, Botswana Permanent Mission Geneva

## **BURKINA FASO**

M. Bédouna Alain Yoda Ministre de la Santé Chef de Délégation Ouagadougou

Dr Brahima K. Michel Sombié Conseiller technique en Santé Ouagadougou Dr Daogo Sosthène Zombré

Directeur général de la Santé publique

Ouagadougou

Dr Sibdou Ghislaine Conombo/Kafando

Directrice de la Santé de la Famille

Ouagadougou

Dr Joseph-André Tiendrébéogo Secrétaire permanent du CNLS-IST Ouagadougou

### **BURUNDI**

Dr Jean Kamana Ministre de la Santé publique Chef de Délégation Bujumbura

Mme Gloriose Mbonigaba Advisor/Minister's Office Bujumbura

Dr Jean Rirangira Directeur général de la Santé publique Bujumbura

## **CAMEROON**

M. Urbain Olanguena Awono Ministre de la Santé publique Chef de Délégation Yaoundé Dr Basile Kollo Chef de Division de la Coopération Ministère de la Santé publique Yaoundé

Professor Assumpta Lucienne Bella Directeur de la Lutte contre la Maladie Yaoundé Dr Djibrilla Kaou Bakari Directeur de la Santé familiale Yaoundé

Dr John Yap Chief of Maternal and Infant Service Ministry of Health Yaoundé

### **CAPE VERDE**

Dr Basílio Ramos Ministro da Saúde Chefe da Delegação Praia

Dra. (Mme) Fátima Monteiro Directora do Programa Saúde e Reprodução Praia

### **CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC**

Prof. Nestor Mamadou Nali Ministre de la Santé publique et de la Population Chef de Délégation Bangui

Dr Gilbert Nzil'Koué-Dimanche Chargé de Mission au Ministère de la Santé publique et de la Population Bangui

#### **CHAD**

Mme Aziza Baroud Ministre de la Santé publique Chef de Délégation N'Djaména M. Harba Kamis

Directeur général adjoint des Ressources et de la Planification

N'Djaména

Dr Haoua Outman Directrice de la Santé préventive Et de la lutte contre les maladies N'Djaména

### **COMOROS\***

#### CONGO (REPUBLIC OF)

Dr Alain Moka Ministre de la Santé et de la Population Chef de Délégation Brazzaville

Dr Damase Bodzongo Directeur général de la Santé Brazzaville

Dr Yolande Voumbo Mavoungou Conseillère à la Santé Brazzaville

Maître Gilbert Bondongo Conseiller administratif et juridique du Ministre de la Santé et de la Population Brazzaville

Dr J. Opfou Counsellor, Embassy, Republic of Congo Pretoria

M. Antoine Mouangoueya Chargé du Protocole au Cabinet du Ministre de la Santé et de la Population Brazzaville

<sup>\*</sup> Unable to attend

## **COTE D'IVOIRE**

Dr Mabri Albert Toikeusse Ministre d'Etat, Ministre de la Santé et de la Population Chef de Délégation Abidjan

Prof. Mireille Carine Dosso Chef de Service du Laboratoire central du CHU de Yopougon Abidjan

Prof. Djokouehi Djeha Secrétaire technique permanent du Plan national de Développement sanitaire (STP/PNDS) Abidjan

Dr Laure Amenan Aie-Tanoh Directeur national du Programme de la Santé de la Reproduction Abidjan 22

## DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO

M. Oscar Assani-Rashidi Conseiller principal, Ministère de la Santé Chef de Délégation Kinshasa

Dr C. Miaka Mia Bilenge Secrétaire général à la Santé Kinshasa

Dr Lokonga Nzeyabe Directeur, Chef des Services des Hôpitaux Kinshasa Dr Kebela Ilunga Directeur, Chef des Services de Lutte contre la Maladie Kinshasa

Dr Lepira Bompeka Directeur du Programme national de Lutte contre le VIH/SIDA Kinshasa

Dr Jack Kokolomami Directeur Adjoint, Programme national de Lutte contre le VIH/SIDA Kinshasa

Dr Jean-Honoré Miakala mia Ndolo Médecin-Inspecteur, Ville de Kinshasa Kinshasa

Mr Rombaut Kasongo Secrétaire particulier du Ministre de la Santé Kinshasa

Dr Pascal Tshiamala Médecin-Directeur Clinique Ngaliema Kinshasa

Dr Lelo Patrice Nowa Office congolais de Contrôle Kinshasa

Dr Ondjo Shulungu Médecin-Directeur de la SNEL Kinshasa

## **EQUATORIAL GUINEA**

Dr Justino Obama Nve Ministro de Sanidad Chef de Délégation

Malabo

Dr Gregorio Gori Momolu

Directeur général de la Santé publique

Malabo

Dr Emma Bachmakova Asesora de Ministro

Malabo

**ERITREA** 

Mr Saleh Meky Minister of Health Head of Delegation

Asmara

Dr Goitom Mebrahtu Medhani Director of Disease Prevention and Control Division

Asmara

ETHIOPIA\*

**GABON** 

Mr Faustin Boukoubi

Ministre de la Santé publique

Chef de Délégation

Libreville

Prof. Pierre André Kombila

Directeur général de la Santé

Libreville

\* Unable to attend

Dr Abel Roger Nlome-Nze Conseiller technique du Ministre

de la Santé Libreville

Dr G. Malonga-Mouelet

Directeur du Programme national de

Lutte contre le SIDA/IST

Libreville

THE GAMBIA

Dr Yankuba Kassama

Minister of Health and Social Welfare

Head of Delegation

Banjul

Mr Njie Abdoulie Mam

Permanent Secretary, Department of

State for Health

Dr Omar Sam

Director of Health Services

Banjul

Dr Mariatou Jallow

Deputy Director of Health Services

Banjul

**GHANA** 

Dr Kwaku Afriyie Minister of Health Head of Delegation

Accra

Dr Kofi Ahmed Chief Medical Officer

Accra

Dr A. Nsiah-Asare Chief Executive/KATH

Kumasi

Dr Alex Asamoah-Adu

Head, Health Laboratory Services

Accra

Regional Committee: Fifty-third session (Part III)

Page 75

Dr Rhoda Manu

PMO Gender Affairs on Health

Accra

Dr Sylvia Aveley Deganus Tema General Hospital

Tema

**GUINEA** 

Prof. Mamadou Saliou Diallo Ministre de la Santé publique

Chef de Délégation

Conakry

Dr Johanna Lucinda Austin

Conseiller chargé de la Coopération

Conakry

Dr Mohamed Mahy Barry Directeur national de la Santé

Conakry

**GUINEA-BISSAU** 

Dr. António Serifo Embalo

Ministro da Saúde Chefe da Delegação

Bissau

Dr. Júlio César Sa Nogueira Director-Geral de Saúde Pública

Bissau

Dr. Francisco Dias

Director do Laboratório Nacional de

Saúde Bissau **KENYA** 

Mr W. P. Godo

Permanent Secretary, Ministry of

Health Nairobi

Dr Teniin J. Gakuruh

Deputy Director of Medical Services

Nairobi

Mrs Agnes Nanjala Waudo

Chief Nursing Officer, Ministry of

Health Nairobi

**LESOTHO** 

Hon. Dr Motloheloa Phooko

Minister of Health and Social Welfare

Head of Delegation

Maseru

Mrs Matseliso Joyce Rasethuntsa

Deputy Principal Secretary

Ministry of Health and Social Welfare

Maseru

Dr Thabelo Ramatlapeng

Director General of Health Services

Maseru

Dr Pearl Ntsekhe

Director, Disease Control

Maseru

Dr Nyane Letsie

Head, Family Health Services

Maseru

Dr T. Mohapi

Plastic Surgeon, MOHSW

Maseru

Mr T. Theko

Chief Health Inspector, MOHSW

Maseru

Mrs Majoel Makhakhe

Director, Health Planning and

Statistics

Ministry of Health and Social Welfare

Maseru

#### **LIBERIA**

Dr Peter S. Coleman

Minister of Health and Social Welfare

Head of Delegation

Moronvia

Dr Nathaniel S. Bartee

Deputy Minister/Chief Medical Officer

Moronvia

## **MADAGASCAR**

Professor Andry Rasamindrakotroka

Ministre de la Santé Chef de Délégation

Antananarivo

Dr Charles Ravaonjanahary

Directeur de Cabinet du Ministre

de la Santé

Antananarivo

M. Fenosoa Ratsimanetrimanana

Secrétaire exécutif du Comité national

de Lutte contre le SIDA

Antananarivo

Dr Marie Perline Odette

Rahantanirima

Directeur de la Santé familiale

Ministère de la Santé

Antananarivo

Dr Nivo Hanitra Rasoanaivo

Chef du Service de la Transfusion

sanguine

Ministère de la Santé

Antananarivo

#### **MALAWI**

Hon. Yusuf Mwawa

Minister of Health and Population

Head of Delegation

Lilongwe

Dr Richard Bakali Pendame

Principal Secretary for Health

Lilongwe

Dr Ann Maureen Phoya

**Director of Nursing Services** 

Lilongwe

Mr Flywell Chintolo

Deputy Director of Health Technical

Support Services (Diagnostic Services)

Ministry of Health and Population

Lilongwe

Dr Benson Chilima

Medical Microbiologist

Ministry of Health and Population

Lilongwe

## **MALI**

Prof. Rokiatou Ndiaye Keita

Ministre de la Santé

Chef de Délégation

Bamako

Dr Mamadou Sidibe Conseiller technique, Ministère de la Santé Bamako

Prof. Boubakar S. Cissé Conseiller technique Ministère de la Santé Bamako

Dr Youssouf Konaté Directeur national de la Santé Bamako

Prof. Flabou Bougoudogo Directeur général de l'Institut national de Recherche en Santé publique Bamako

#### **MAURITANIA**

M. Hamma Ould Soueilem Ministre de la Santé et des Affaires sociales Chef de Délégation Nouakchott

Prof. Mohamed Lemine Ba Conseiller technique du Ministre de la Santé et des Affaires sociales Nouakchott

Dr Mohamed Idoumou Ould Vall Directeur de la Protection sanitaire Nouakchott

#### **MAURITIUS**

Hon. Mr Ashock K. Jugnauth Minister of Health and Quality of Life Head of Delegation Port-Louis H.E John Harold Dacruz High Commissioner Mauritius High Commission Pretoria (South Africa)

Mrs R. Veerapen Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Health and Quality of Life Port-Louis

Mr Vikash Neethalia Second Secretary, Mauritius High Commission Pretoria (South Africa)

## **MOZAMBIQUE**

Dra. Aida Theodomira de Nobreza Libombo Vice-Ministra de Saúde Chefe da Delegação Maputo

Dr. Humberto Cossa Director Nacional do Plano e da Cooperaçion do Ministério da Saúde Maputo

Dr. Marinho Dgedge Director Nacional do Ministério da Saúde Maputo

Dra. Ivete Pinto Dinande Médica Chefe de Província de Maputo Maputo

Dra. Geraldina Paula Langa Técnica da Cooperação Internacional Ministério da Saúde Maputo

## **NAMIBIA**

Hon. Mr Richard Nchabi Kamwi Deputy Minister of Health and Social Services Heald of Delegation Windhoek

Dr Robert Forster Under Secretary - Health Care Services Windhoek

Mr Michael Likando Regional Director - Northeast Directorate Windhoek

Ms Hilma S. D. Auala Health Programme Officer, Reproductive Health Windhoek

Mrs Victoria S. Clarke Registered Nurse Walvibay

Ms Helena P. Shifotoka Health Programme Administrator Windhoek

## **NIGER**

M. Mamadou Sourghia Ministre de la Santé publique Chef de Délégation Niamey

Dr Aboubacar Alarou Directeur général de la Santé publique Niamey Mme Dania Rakiatou Abdoulaye Secrétaire générale adjointe, Ministère de la Santé publique

Dr Maman Elhadji Maty
Directeur des Laboratoires
Ministère de la Santé publique et
de la Lutte contre les Endémies
Niamey

#### **NIGERIA**

Prof. Eyitayo Lambo Minister of Health Head of Delegation Abuja

Dr Shehu Mahdi Executive Director, National Primary Health Care Development Agency Abuja

Dr Suleiman Sani Director Federal Ministry of Health Abuja

Dr Shehu Sule Director, Health Planning and Research Abuja

Dr D. Awosika Chief Executive – NPI Abuja

Dr Edugie A. Abebe Director Public Health Abuja Dr Titilola I. Koleoso-Adelekan Director, Health Systems Development Abuja

Dr Tolu Fakeye Deputy Director, International Health Federal Ministry of Health Abuja

Professor Oluwole Akande Chairman, Regional Reproductive Health Task Force Ibadan

## **RWANDA**

Prof. Abel Dushimimana Ministre de la Santé Chef de Délégation Kigali

Dr Claude Sekabaraga Directeur des Soins de Santé Kigali

Dr Etienne Gasana Directeur de Santé, Genre et Affaires sociales en Province de Gikongoro Gikongoro

Dr Justin Wane Vice-Doyen de la Faculté de Médecine Université nationale du Rwanda Butare

#### SAO TOME AND PRINCIPE\*

### **SENEGAL**

Dr Mandiaye Loume Directeur de la Santé Chef de Délégation Dakar Dr Adama Ndoye Chef de la Division de la Santé reproductive Dakar

#### **SEYCHELLES**

Mr Patrick G. Pillay Minister of Health Head of Delegation Victoria

Mrs Marie-France MacGregor Director of International Cooperation Ministry of Health Mont Fleuri

### **SIERRA LEONE\***

#### **SOUTH AFRICA**

Dr M. Tshabalala Msimang Minister of Health Head of Delegation Pretoria

Mr Renier Schoerman Deputy Minister of Health Cape Town

Mrs M. Matsau Deputy Director-General

Dr K. Chetty Deputy Director-General

<sup>\*</sup> Unable to attend

Mr R. Mabope

Minister's Special Advisor

Advocate P. Lambert

Minister's Legal Advisor, Advocate

Ms Nobayeni C. Dladla

Health Attaché

Embassady of South Africa

Washington (USA)

Ms D. Mafubelu Health Attaché

Geneva

Dr T. Balfour

Head, International Health Liaison

Mr I. Mayeng

Health Attaché, Africa

Dr N. Madela-Mntla

Acting Director, Mental Health and

Substance Abuse

Dr R. Matji

Director, TB Control

Dr B. Maloba

Director, Communicable Disease

Control

Mrs Thembisile Rose Mdlalose

Director, Human Resource

Development

Pretoria

Dr T. Sibeko

Chief Director, Hospital Services

Dr R. E Mhlanga

Chief Director, Maternal, Child and

Women's Health

Dr I. Makubalo

Chief Director, Health Information,

Evaluation and Research

Dr Ivan de Venter

Director, Food Control

Mr P. Moonasar

Deputy Director, Malaria Control

Programme

Mr H. Chabalala

**Deputy Director** 

Mr P. Mahlathi

Chief Director

Mr P. Fuhri

**Deputy Director** 

Dr Y. Pillay

Department of Health

Ms N. Mtsila

Administrative Officer

**SWAZILAND** 

Dr John M. Kunene

Principal Secretary

Head of Delegation

Mbabane

Dr Cesphina Mabuza

Director of Health Services

Mbabane

Mrs Elizbeth Mndebele

Chief Nursing Officer

Mbabane

Mr Simon Kunene

Malaria Programme Manager

Mbabane

Ms Beatrice S. Dlamini

HIV/AIDS Programme Coordinator

Mbabane

**TOGO** 

Mme Suzanne Aho Ministre de la Santé

Chef de Délégation

Lomé

Dr Potougnima Tchamdja

Directeur général de la Santé

Lomé

**UGANDA** 

Hon. Mr Jim Katugugu Muhwezi

Minister of Health and Member of

Parliament

Head of Delegation

Kampala

Prof. Francis G. Omaswa

Director-General Health Services

Entebbe

Dr Edward Kigonya c/o Ministry of Health

Entebbe

Dr Alex Opio

Assistant Commissioner, Health

Services

(National Disease Control)

Kampala

Amb J. Tomusange c/o High Commission

Pretoria

Prof. Emmanuel Kaijuka c/o Ministry of Health

Entebbe

UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA

Dr Mwinyihaji Makame

Minister for Health, Zanzibar

Head of Delegation

Dar es-Salaam

Hon. Dr Hussein A. Mwiyi

Deputy Minister for Health

Deputy Head of Delegation

Dar es-Salaam

Dr Ali A. Mzige

Director of Preventive Services

Ministry of Health

Dar es-Salaam

Mr Juma Rajab Juma

Director of Preventive Services

Ministry of Health and Social Welfare

Zanzibar

Dr Ali Salim Ali

Medical Superintendent, Mnazi

Mmoja Hospital

Zanzibar

Dr Catherine Sanga

Head, Reproductive and Child Health

Services

Dar es-Salaam

Dr Eligius F. Lyamuya

Head, Department of Microbiology

and Immunology

Muhimbili University College of

Health Sciences

Dar es-Salaam

**ZAMBIA** 

Dr Brian Chituwo

Minister of Health

Head of Delegation

Lusaka

Mr D. M. Chimfwembe Director of Planning and

Development Ministry of Health

Lusaka

Dr Mary Katepa Bwalya Child Health Specialist

Lusaka

**ZIMBABWE** 

Dr D. Parirenyatwa Minister of Health and Child Welfare

Head of Delegation

Harare

Dr Elizabeth Xaba Permanent Secretary for Health and Child Welfare Harare Dr Stanley M. Midzi

Deputy Director, Disease Prevention

and Control Harare

Dr Owen Mugurungi

AIDS and TB Programme Coordinator

Mrs Margaret Nyandoro

Reproductive Health Coordinator

Harare

Dr M. Murwira

Director Technical Services,

Zimbabwe National Family Planning

Centre Harare

# 2. REPRESENTATIVES OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND SPECIALIZED AGENCIES

## **United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)**

Dr Joseph Foumbi UNICEF, Representative Bangui, République centrafricaine

## **United Nations Population (UNFPA**

Dr Uche Azie UNFPA/CST Director doe Southern Africa P.O. Box 4775 – Mount Pleasant Harare, Zimbabwe

## Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS)

Dr Grunitzky Bekele Meskerem Associate Director for Africa, UNAIDS 20 Av. Appia Geneva, Switzerland Tel. 0041227914412 Dr Mbulawa Mugabe UNAIDS Country Coordinator – South Africa 351 Schoeman Str. Pretoria, South Africa

Tel.: +27-12-345-8490

Regional Committee: Fifty-third session (Part III)

Page 83

## **International Organization for Migration (IOM)**

Dr Maryinez Lyons Coordinator for HIV/AIDS, East and Central Africa P.O. Box 55040 Nairobi, Kenya M. Philipe Boncour c/o OIM

#### 3. REPRESENTATIVES OF INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

### **African Union**

Ethiopia

M. Mahamat H. Doutoum

(Ambassadeur)

Dr Laban Masimba

Senior Policy Officer/Health and

Nutrition

Commisaire chargé des Affaires Nutrition sociales et de la Coopération P.O. Box 3243 afro-arabe Addis Ababa

Chef de Délégation Addis Abéba Ethiopie

Dr Grace Kalimuyogo Director a.i., Social Affairs P.O. Box 3243 Addis Ababa Ethiopia

West African Economic and Monetary Union

Dr Amadou Moctar Mbaye Directeur de la Santé 01 B.P. 543 Ouagadougou 01 Burkina Faso

## **European Commission**

Dr M. Pletschette Dr M. Hoelscher

Principal Scientific Administrator Scientific director, Mbeya Medical

B – 1040 Bruxelles Research Programme (Tanzania)

Belgium University of Munich
Leopold Strasse 5
80802 Munich
Germany

## Commonwealth Regional Health Community Secretariat

Mr Steven Velabo Shogwe P.O. Box 1009 Arusha Tanzania

## Southern Africa Development Community (SADC)

Dr Thuthula Balfour Head IHL SADC Pretoria 0001 South Africa

## New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD)

Professor Wiseman Nkhulu Professor Eric Buch

President, Organizing Committee NEPAD

### 4. REPRESENTATIVES OF NONGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

### **International Committee of Pediatric Association (IPA)**

Dr Cherif Rahimy Member, Standing Committee of International Pediatric Association (IPA) 01 B.P. 2640 Cotonou, Benin

## Pharmaceutical Manufacturer's Association of South Africa (PMA) (standing also for the IFPMA of Geneva, Switzerland)

Mr George G. Djlov Chief Economist P.O. Box 12123 Vorna Valley 1686, South Africa

### 5. BILATERAL DONOR AGENCIES

## Norwegian Agency for Development (NORAD)

Dr Michael Tawanda First Secretary, the Royal Norwegian Embassy, Malawi P.O. Box 323 Lilongwe 3, Malawi

#### 6. OBSERVERS AND SPECIAL GUESTS

Mr W. R. Steiger Special Assistant to the Secretary for International Affairs, Department of Health and Human Service, USA

Dr Pascoal Mocumbi Prime Minister of Mozambique Maputo

Dr Pascoal Mocumbi Prime Minister of Mozambique Maputo

Mr Philippe Busquin

European Commissioner in charge of Research (EU - Funding Health Research in the African Region) Professor Jeffrey Sachs Director, Earth Institute Columbia University New York, USA

Ambassador Gertrude Mongella, MP Goodwill Ambassador for Maternal and Newborn Health P.O. Box 31293 Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

Professor O. Okande Chairman, Regional Reproductive Health Task Force c/o WR/Nigeria

Mr Frank Grag Handley Regional Representative of US Department of Health and Human Services and Health Attaché US Embassy Pretoria, SA 0001

Dr P. V. Venugopal Director, International Opeerations A-11, Sarvodaya Enclale -New-Delhi, India 110017

Dr D. Boateng Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer P.O. Box 78959 Sandton 2146 Johannesburg, South Africa

Dr E.R. Eben-Moussi B.P. 155, Yaounde, Cameroon

Professor J.J. Muyembe-Tamfum Director, National Institute of Biomedical Research Kinshasa/Gombe Democratic Republic of Congo jjmuyembe@yahoo.fr

## AGENDA OF THE FIFTY-THIRD SESSION OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE

- 1. Opening of the meeting
- 2. Composition of the Subcommittee on Nominations
- 3. Election of the Chairperson, the Vice-Chairpersons and the Rapporteurs
- 4. Adoption of the Agenda (document AFR/RC53/1)
- 5. Appointment of members of the Subcommittee on Credentials
- 6. The Work of WHO in the African Region: Annual Report of the Regional Director for 2002 (document AFR/RC53/2)
  - 6.1 Implementation of the Programme Budget 2002–2003
  - 6.2 Progress reports on specific resolutions
    - (a) Regional programme for tuberculosis
    - (b) Regional strategy for emergency and humanitarian action
    - (c) Integrated epidemiological surveillance of diseases: Regional strategy for communicable diseases
    - (d) Regional strategy for mental health
    - (e) Health-for-All Policy for the 21st century in the African Region: Agenda 2020
    - (f) Noncommunicable diseases: A strategy for the African Region
    - (g) Adolescent Health: A strategy for the African Region
    - (h) Regional strategy for immunization during the period 2003–2005
- 7. Correlation between the work of the Regional Committee, the Executive Board and the World Health Assembly
  - 7.1 Ways and means of implementing resolutions of regional interest adopted by the World Health Assembly and the Executive Board (document AFR/RC53/3)
  - 7.2 Agendas of the one-hundred-and-thirteenth session of the Executive Board, the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly and the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee (document AFR/RC53/4)

- 7.3 Method of work and duration of the World Health Assembly (document AFR/RC53/5)
- 7.4 Evaluation of the implementation of resolution WHA51.31—Regular budget allocations to regions (document AFR/RC53/14)
- 8. Report of the Programme Subcommittee (document AFR/RC53/7)
  - 8.1 Macroeconomics and health: The way forward in the African Region (document AFR/RC53/8 Rev. 1)
  - 8.2 Strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems (document AFR/RC53/9 Rev. 1)
  - 8.3 Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation and agenda for action (document AFR/RC53/10 Rev. 1)
  - 8.4 Women's health: A strategy for the African Region (document AFR/RC53/11 Rev. 1)
  - 8.5 Food safety and health: Situation analysis and perspectives (document AFR/RC53/12 Rev. 1)
  - 8.6 Scaling up the interventions related to HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria (document AFR/RC53/13 Rev. 1)
- 9. Information
  - 9.1 Eradication of dracunculiasis in the WHO African Region (AFR/RC53/INF/DOC.1)
  - 9.2 SARS preparedness and response in the WHO African Region (AFR/RC53/INF/DOC.2)
- 10. Qualifications and selection of the Regional Director (AFR/RC53/15)

#### 11. Round Tables

- 11.1 Laboratory services in the provision of quality health care (document AFR/RC53/RT/1)
- 11.2 Safe motherhood: Improving access to emergency obstetric care (document AFR/RC53/RT/2)
- 11.3 Emergency and humanitarian action: Improving the effectiveness of health interventions (document AFR/RC53/RT/3)
- 12. Report of the Round Tables (document AFR/RC53/16)

- 13. Procedural decisions (document AFR/RC53/20)
- 14. Dates and places of the fifty-fourth and fifty-fifth sessions of the Regional Committee (document AFR/RC53/17)
- 15. Adoption of the report of the Regional Committee (document AFR/RC53/18)
- 16. Closure of the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee.

## ANNEX 2b

## PROGRAMME OF WORK

## DAY 1: Monday, 1 September 2003

0.00 a.m. – 12.30 p.m. <b>Agenda item 1</b>		Official opening ceremony	
	Agenda item 2	Composition of the Subcommittee on Nominations	
	Agenda item 3	Election of the Chairperson, Vice- Chairpersons and the Rapporteurs	
	Agenda item 4	Adoption of the Agenda (document AFR/RC53/1)	
	Agenda item 5	Appointment of members of the Subcommittee on Credentials	
12.30 p.m. – 2.30 p.m.	Lunch Break		
2.30 p.m. – 3.30 p.m.	Agenda item 6	The Work of WHO in the African Region: Annual Report of the Regional Director for 2002 (document AFR/RC53/2)	
4.00 p.m. – 4.30 p.m.	Tea Break		
4.30 p.m. – 5.15 p.m.	Agenda item 6 (cont'd)		
5.15 p.m. – 5.30 p.m.	Guest speakers	<ul> <li>Statement by Mr Philippe Busquin, European Commissioner in charge of Research</li> <li>Statement by His Excellency Dr Pascoal M. Mocumbi, Prime Minister of the Republic of Mozambique</li> </ul>	

6.00 p.m. Reception by the WHO Regional Director for Africa

## DAY 2: Tuesday, 2 September 2003

8.30 a.m. – 10.00 a.m. (Agenda items 7 and 8)

**Agenda item 7** Correlation between the work of

the Regional Committee, the

Executive Board and the World Health Assembly

Agenda item 7.1 Ways and means of implementing

> resolutions of regional interest adopted by the World Health Assembly and the Executive Board

(document AFR/RC53/3)

Agenda item 7.2 Agendas of the one-hundred-and-

> thirteenth session of the Executive Board, the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly and the fiftyfourth session of the Regional

Committee (document

AFR/RC53/4)

Agenda item 7.3 Method of work and duration of

> the World Health Assembly (document AFR/RC53/5)

Agenda item 7.4 Evaluation of the implementation

of resolution WHA51.31-Regular budget allocations to regions (document AFR/RC53/14)

10.00 a.m. - 10.30 a.m. Tea Break

10.30 a.m. – 12.30 p.m. Agenda item 8 Report of the Programme

Subcommittee (document

AFR/RC53/7)

Macroeconomics and health: The Agenda item 8.1

> way forward in the African Region (document AFR/RC53/8 Rev. 1)

12.30 p.m. – 2.30 p.m. Lunch Break

2.30 p.m. – 4.00 p.m. Agenda item 8.2: Strengthening the role of hospitals

> in national health systems (document AFR/RC53/9 Rev. 1)

> > Page 91

4.00 p.m. – 4.30 p.m. Tea Break

4.30 p.m. – 5.30 p.m. **Special Session I:** NEPAD Health Strategy: Initial

Programme of Action

Regional Committee: Fifty-third session (Part III)

## Professor Eric Buch

## DAY 3: Wednesday, 3 September 2003

8.30 a.m. – 10.00 a.m.	Agenda item 8.3	Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation and agenda for action (document AFR/RC53/10 Rev. 1)
10.00 a.m. – 10.30 a.m.	Tea Break	
10.30 a.m. – 12.30 p.m.	Agenda item 8.4	Women's health: A strategy for the African Region (document AFR/RC53/11 Rev. 1)
12.30 p.m. – 2.30 p.m.	Lunch Break	
2.30 p.m. – 4.00 p.m.	Agenda item 8.5	Food safety and health: Situation analysis and perspectives (document AFR/RC53/12 Rev. 1)
4.00 p.m. – 4.30 p.m.	Tea Break	
4.30 p.m. – 5.30 p.m.	<b>Special Session II:</b> Human Resources for Health – Report on joint AFRO/IOM survey on migration	

## DAY 4: Thursday, 4 September 2003

8.30 a.m. – 10.30 a.m. <b>Agenda item 9</b>		Information	
	Agenda item 9.1	Eradication of dracunculiasis in the WHO African Region (document AFR/RC53/INF/DOC.1)	
	Agenda item 9.2	SARS preparedness and response in the WHO African Region (document AFR/RC53/INF/DOC.2)	
	Agenda item 10	Qualifications and selection of the Regional Director (document AFR/RC53/15)	
	Agenda item 14	Dates and places of the fifty-fourth and fifty-fifth sessions of the	

Regional Committee (document

AFR/RC53/17)

10.30 a.m. – 11.00 a.m. Tea Break

11.00 a.m. – 1.00 p.m. **Agenda item 11** Round Tables

**Agenda item 11.1** Laboratory services in the

provision of quality health care (document AFR/RC53/RT/1)

**Agenda item 11.2** Safe motherhood: Improving

access to emergency obstetric care (document AFR/RC53/RT/2)

Agenda item 11.3 Emergency and humanitarian

action: Improving the effectiveness of health interventions (document

AFR/RC53/RT/3)

1.00 p.m. – 2.30 p.m. *Lunch Break* 

2.30 p.m. –3.30 p.m. Agenda item 13 Procedural decisions (document

AFR/RC53/20)

**Agenda item 12** Report of the Round Tables

(document AFR/RC53/16)

Special Session II Human Resources for Health

(cont.) AFRO/IOM survey on migration

3.30 p.m. – 4.00 p.m. *Tea Break* 

4.00 p.m. – 6.00 p.m. Special Session III Developments in NEPAD and their

Implications to Health Professor Wiseman Nkhulu

DAY 5: Friday, 5 September 2003

2.30 p.m. – 4.30 p.m. (Agenda Items 15 and 16)

**Agenda Item 15** Adoption of the report of the

Regional Committee (document

AFR/RC53/18)

**Agenda Item 16** Closure of the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee.

### REPORT OF THE PROGRAMME SUBCOMMITTEE

### **OPENING OF THE MEETING**

1. The Programme Subcommittee met in Brazzaville, Congo, from 17 to 20 June 2003. The bureau was constituted as follows:

Chairman: Professor Pierre-Andre Kombila-Koumba (Gabon)

Vice-Chairman: Dr Teniin Jepkemoi Gakuruh (Kenya)

Rapporteurs: Dr Miaka-mia Bilenge (Democratic Republic of Congo)

Dr Omar Sam (Gambia)

2. The list of participants is attached as Appendix 1.

- 3. The Regional Director, Dr Ebrahim M. Samba, welcomed the members of the Programme Subcommittee (PSC), members of the Executive Board from the African Region and the Vice-Chairman of the African Advisory Committee for Health Research and Development (AACHRD). He informed the Subcommittee that this is the first PSC meeting to be held in Brazzaville since the return of the Regional Office. He further stated that the situation in Brazzaville has greatly improved thanks to the Government of the Republic of Congo in general, and particularly to the Head of State.
- 4. The Regional Director informed the Programme Subcommittee of the recent election of the World Health Organization Director-General, Dr J.W. Lee, whom he described as an experienced and friendly person. Dr Samba also acknowledged the valuable contribution of the out-going Director-General, Dr Gro Harlem Brundtland, whom he described as a true friend of Africa. The Regional Director expressed gratitude to Dr Brundtland for considerably increasing budgetary allocations to the African Region and for initiating the country focus initiative which will result in the increased capacity of country offices and further facilitate decentralization in large countries.
- 5. Speaking on other programmatic areas such as polio, malaria and tuberculosis, Dr Samba reminded the PSC, with satisfaction, that the extrabudgetary funds have increased tremendously. He announced that the European Union (EU) was prepared to give the African Region €600 million for medical research. He reminded the PSC that accountability and transparency were the secrets to mobilizing extrabudgetary funding. He pleaded with countries and WHO staff to efficiently utilize all the available funds and to duly account for them. He reaffirmed the WHO commitment

to eradicate polio and reduce the prevalence of other priority diseases such as malaria, tuberculosis and HIV/AIDS.

- 6. Dr Samba recalled that the role of PSC had broadened since the Regional Committee held in Sun City, South Africa. He stated that the work of the PSC now went beyond discussion of the Programme Budget to include all other technical issues.
- 7. Commenting on the agenda, Dr Samba underscored the role of hospitals in provision of specialized care to minimize expensive evacuations outside Africa and informed the Programme Subcommittee of the efforts made by the Regional Office to promote subregional referral hospitals. He cautioned that these attempts could fail if competition among the different countries is not resolved. He further reiterated that emergencies such as droughts, floods, earthquakes and disease outbreaks are endemic in Africa.
- 8. The Regional Director recalled the proposal made by ministers of health in the Regional Committee meeting held in 1995 in Libreville to allocate 15% of national budgets to the health sector. This was confirmed at the Heads of State meeting in Abuja in 2000. He lamented that Member States have moved at a slow pace in achieving this target. The study on macroeconomics and health initiated by Dr Brundtland demonstrated that investing in health has high economic returns. Therefore, Africa could not develop when the majority of the population were in poor health. He urged Member States to increase investments in health as an effective poverty reduction strategy.
- 9. Dr Samba expressed his sincere gratitude to Heads of State for electing him and to his entire staff for doing a wonderful job which has made the African Region one of the best in the World Health Organization. He said that Africa can hold its own in international fora.
- 10. Professor Pierre-Andre Kombila-Koumba, Chairman of the PSC, thanked the members for the honour bestowed on him and his country. He congratulated the Regional Director and his team for the excellent job they are doing and for the good quality of the documents. He concluded by informing members that his task as the Chairman was to coordinate and facilitate the work of the Programme Subcommittee.
- 11. The agenda (Appendix 2) and the programme of work (Appendix 3) were adopted without amendments.

# MACROECONOMICS AND HEALTH: THE WAY FORWARD IN THE AFRICAN REGION (document AFR/RC53/8)

12. Dr J.M. Kirigia of the Secretariat presented an overview of the document on macroeconomics and health.

- 13. He explained that in January 2000, the Director-General of the World Health Organization established a Commission on Macroeconomics and Health (CMH) to study the linkages between increased investments in health, economic development and poverty reduction.
- 14. The CMH analysis provided evidence that ill-health contributes significantly to poverty and low economic growth; a few conditions account for the high proportion of ill-health and premature deaths; substantial expansion of coverage of cost-effective interventions into priority health problems could potentially save millions of lives per year; a "close-to-client" (CTC) system is required to scale up cost-effective interventions targeting the poor; and the current level of spending on health in Member States is insufficient to scale-up the cost-effective interventions.
- 15. In light of the above findings, the CMH recommended enhanced political commitment, at both national and international levels, to increased investments in "close-to-client" health systems and expanded coverage of cost-effective interventions for priority national health programmes. Since different Member States present different contexts and challenges, the document suggests, rather than prescribes, generic steps that could be taken to develop investment plans for expanding the coverage of priority cost-effective health and health-related interventions.
- 16. Dr Kirigia described the generic steps: consensus building on the relevance of the findings and recommendations of CMH at the country level; setting up institutional arrangements to facilitate implementation of the CMH recommendations in countries; situation analysis and strategic plan development; guidelines on how to bridge funding gaps; revision of the health and health-related sectoral development plans and the relevant components of Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSPs); implementation of the multi-year strategic plan by the lead ministries and agencies; monitoring, evaluation and reporting.
- 17. Members of the Programme Subcommittee felt that the document would be a useful tool for planning to scale up health investments needed in the expansion of pro-poor health interventions. They said that the national health accounts activities being undertaken by Member States would be useful in quantifying funds currently available from all sources (including all relevant sectors) as well as their allocation and utilization.
- 18. The Programme Subcommittee said that there is need for strong stewardship for health. The health contribution from the activities undertaken by all the sectors, inter alia, education, water and sanitation, environment, agriculture, labour and industry, should be quantified in order to arrive at a comprehensive estimate of the contributions they make to health financing. National capacity in public health

should be strengthened to ensure the inclusion of health-related issues in the policies, projects and activities of all the sectors.

- 19. The Secretariat explained that Macroeconomics and Health was a relatively new area of work in WHO which constitutes a paradigm shift from a medicalized to a more developmental approach to health. Dr Gro Harlem Brundtland, Director-General of WHO, will always be remembered for having initiated the work on macroeconomics and health. The Secretariat assured the Programme Subcommittee that WHO would continue advocating for and strengthening the capacity of Member States in health economics.
- 20. The Programme Subcommittee recommended the document with amendments and prepared a draft resolution (AFR/RC53/WP/1) on the subject, to be submitted to the Regional Committee for adoption.

## STRENGTHENING THE ROLE OF HOSPITALS IN NATIONAL HEALTH SYSTEMS (document AFR/RC53/9)

- 21. The document was presented by Dr R. Chatora of the Secretariat.
- 22. He said that the document proposed a framework for improving the performance of hospitals in national health systems. The situation analysis revealed that in the last two decades, a decline of health systems performance in the African Region had been observed. It highlighted that the role of hospitals within national health systems was one of the fundamental issues which required priority attention.
- 23. Dr Chatora added that the framework proposed in the document defined three core functions of hospitals: provision of high quality health care services; development of human resources for health; and information and research.
- 24. To enable hospitals to undertake the aforementioned core functions, some orientations were proposed. They include: hospital development and government stewardship; enhancing collaboration between hospitals and other levels of the health system; development of human resources for health; making quality of care central to hospital development; improving hospital financing mechanisms; improving organization and management of hospitals; improving responsiveness; and improving collaboration between traditional medicine and hospitals.
- 25. The roles and responsibilities of countries, partners and the World Health Organization (WHO) in the implementation of the framework were described.
- 26. Dr Chatora said that the document concluded by pointing out that development of hospitals in the Region should be undertaken within the context of health sector reforms. Giving appropriate consideration to hospitals should not divert attention from other levels of the health system. In this regard, efforts to boost Primary Health

Care (PHC) should continue to be pursued which requires strong stewardship by national authorities and commitment by partners.

- 27. Members of the Programme Subcommittee expressed their satisfaction with the quality, relevance and pertinence of the document. However, it was observed that this issue should have been tabled for discussion much earlier in view of its significance in health care delivery system. They stressed that the document could be a useful tool for advocating for support from governments and partners in order to allow hospitals to play their important roles of providing quality care, training health personnel and research. Members reiterated that the improvement of working conditions in hospitals, including training and remuneration, are crucial for the motivation and retention of health workers. The PSC underscored the fact that improvement of hospitals will entail simultaneous revamping of health worker training institutions.
- 28. The Programme Subcommittee emphasized the need to affirm the role of community participation in the development and management of hospitals to ensure sustainability. The members stressed the importance of increasing hospital budget allocations as well as ensuring their timely availability and proper management.
- 29. With regard to resource mobilization for hospitals, members of the Programme Subcommittee underlined the importance of inter-institutional partnerships. This will entail twinning of hospitals in Africa with those in developed countries. The PSC strongly felt that the issue of strengthening of hospitals should be addressed globally before embarking on a country-by-country approach. In addition, effective decentralization of healthcare delivery mechanisms coupled with rational utilization of available resources is needed to ensure better performance of health systems.
- 30. The following were some of the specific amendments to the document proposed by the Programme Subcommittee:
  - (a) In the Executive Summary, paragraph 3 (a) should read "hospital development with government stewardship and effective community participation".
  - (b) Under Situation Analysis:
    - paragraph 5, second sentence should read "The network of hospitals includes district, regional, tertiary and teaching hospitals."
    - paragraph 7, first sentence should read "Funding for hospitals presents
      a dilemma as they generally consume a greater portion of ministry of
      health budgets (sometimes more than 70% of the total)."
    - paragraph 9, last sentence should read "In many countries, senior public officials and the rich members of society demonstrate their lack of trust in public hospitals by seeking medical care in private hospitals or outside the country."

- paragraph 13, first sentence should read "Some health programmes use district health facilities for in-service training and staff development."
- (c) In the section on "Framework for strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems":
  - add: "(d) Community participation" in paragraph 18.
  - paragraph 19 (a) should read "provision of referral care,"
  - paragraph 20, first sentence should read "Provision of cost-effective health care is the central function of hospitals in their handling of referred cases."
  - paragraph 24 (a) should read "hospital development with government stewardship and effective community participation;"
  - paragraph 31, first sentence should read "Quality of care should become a central issue of hospital reform and a corporate responsibility for all health professionals."
- 31. The Secretariat thanked the Programme Subcommittee for their comments which would be used to enrich the document. They recognized that the current status of hospitals is a consequence of economic deterioration, lack of commitment to social care among the leadership and the effects of civil strife. The Secretariat stressed the necessity of increased investments in the health sector by governments and better management of resources. They emphasized that the ultimate responsibility of improving the health status of Africans lies with their governments.
- 32. The Programme Subcommittee recommended the document with amendments and prepared a draft resolution (AFR/RC53/WP/2) on the subject, to be submitted to the Regional Committee for adoption.

## INJURY PREVENTION AND CONTROL IN THE AFRICAN REGION: CURRENT SITUATION AND AGENDA FOR ACTION (document AFR/RC53/10)

- 33. Dr Mohamed Belhocine of the Secretariat presented this document.
- 34. He recalled that the document underscored the fact that injuries are as important as other diseases, and their prevention and control involve the same principles as other public health problems. Injuries are categorized as unintentional and intentional. Unintentional injuries comprise road traffic crashes, poisoning, falls, fires and drowning; intentional injuries comprise interpersonal, collective and self-inflicted violence.
- 35. Dr Belhocine emphasized that injuries are social problems with major public health implications in both developed and developing countries. Injuries represent 11% of the global mortality rate and 13% of all disability-adjusted life years lost. In the year 2000, in the African Region alone, an estimated 725,000 people died as a

result of injuries, accounting for 7% of all deaths in the Region and 15% of injury-related deaths worldwide.

- 36. He further stated that the health, economic and social impacts of injury and violence are more significant in poor countries and among disadvantaged populations. Injuries may lead to poverty, and poverty is a risk factor for injury and violence. In the African Region, road traffic injuries, conflicts and interpersonal violence are the leading causes of mortality and disability related to injuries.
- 37. Dr Belhocine said that the health sector is the final common point of convergence of all injuries. This is because information, education, communication, data surveillance, pre-hospital care, hospital care and rehabilitation involve the individuals and institutions of the healthcare sector.
- 38. The document concluded, therefore, that the health sector is central to raising awareness; as well as mobilizing other sectors and stakeholders. It should also advocate for and contribute to the formulation, adoption and implementation of comprehensive policies, strategies and programmes to prevent and manage injuries and violence.
- 39. Members of the Subcommittee described the document as relevant and pertinent. They recommended that the following factors be emphasized in the document: globalization; natural disasters; negative effects of haphazard urbanization; psychosocial and mental effects of injuries; political instability; lack of security; effects of war; high homicide rates; drug abuse among youth which resulted in speeding; and harmful traditional practices. In addition, the Programme Subcommittee recommended that the notion of "peace" and its determinants should be researched further to facilitate development of a clear orientation that could be used for advocacy at the highest level in countries.
- 40. The following were specific amendments to the document prescribed by the Subcommittee:
  - (a) In the executive summary:
    - In paragraph 1, second sentence, after the words "a lack of" add "well researched information and public..."
    - In paragraph 4, after the words "pre-hospital care" insert "(including emergency and ambulance services)".
    - In paragraph 5, after the word "comprehensive" add "evidence-based...". At the end of the sentence, insert "and consequences of injuries".
  - (b) In the introduction section:

- In paragraphs 3 and 4 mention "natural disasters" as a cause of injuries. This should also be reflected in paragraph 8.
- In paragraph 4, define the term "collective". Correlation between poverty and injuries should be highlighted and supported by relevant statistics.
- Paragraph 7, first sentence, after the word "effects", include "on".
- Paragraph 8, include "emergency mechanisms".

#### (c) Under current situation:

- In paragraph 11, include "political unrest and socio-cultural factors".
- In paragraph 13, update Figure 2 with more recent statistics.
- In paragraph 25, present statistics of the number of suicides in the African Region.

#### (d) In the agenda for action section:

- Paragraph 28, include "evidence-based" after the word "promote" and reinforce the role of research.
- Paragraph 30, second sentence: include the phrase "encourage more efficient broad-based partnership" and reinforce the role of pre-emptive research.

#### (e) Under roles and responsibilities:

- Paragraph 31, the concept of "peace" should be defined. Also make the difference between "peace" and "absence of war".
- In paragraph 35, there should be mention of "first-aid". In addition, "community-based prevention, rehabilitation…" should be inserted.
- In paragraph 37, the word "adjust" should be replaced with "strengthen".
- In paragraph 38, insert "curative and preventive" before "interventions".
- (f) In the section on monitoring and evaluation, incorporate the aspect of emergency preparedness, and mention who is responsible for monitoring and evaluation.
- 41. The Secretariat thanked the Programme Subcommittee for their comments which would be used to enrich the document. They recognized that the psychosocial consequences of injuries are a major problem in the Region. The Secretariat clarified that the lack of data on suicide in Africa is due to various reasons such as limited information systems and specific cultural considerations. They emphasized that the responsibility of monitoring and evaluation lies with countries and WHO will provide the necessary support.

42. The Programme Subcommittee recommended the document with amendments and prepared a draft resolution (AFR/RC53/WP/3) on the subject, to be submitted to the Regional Committee for adoption.

## WOMEN'S HEALTH: A STRATEGY FOR THE AFRICAN REGION (document AFR/RC53/11)

- 43. Dr Doyin Oluwole of the Secretariat introduced this document.
- 44. She said that the document defined women's health as a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being throughout their entire lifespan, and not only their reproductive health. Women's biological vulnerability to health conditions (such as HIV/AIDS), their low social status, limited access to health services, low literacy level and lack of decision-making power are major determinants of ill-health.
- 45. Dr Oluwole pointed out that the document described the various stages of women's lifespan and the related health issues. For example, infections, physical injuries and sexual abuse are common in childhood. Adolescence is characterized by early marriage, unwanted pregnancy, unsafe abortions and harmful traditional practices (HTPs)/Female genital mutilation (FGM). In the reproductive years, maternal morbidity and mortality are major public health challenges. Cervical and breast cancers, osteoporosis, post-menopausal syndrome and mental depression are principal causes of morbidity and mortality in later life. Sexually-transmitted infections (STIs), HIV/AIDS and violence occur throughout women's lifespan. Tuberculosis, malaria and HIV/AIDS constitute a deadly triad in African women.
- 46. She said that the women's health strategy was meant to contribute to the attainment of the highest possible level of health for women. The strategy addresses health conditions that are exclusive to or more prevalent in women as well as those which have more severe consequences and imply different risk factors for women.
- 47. Dr Oluwole further reported that the proposed interventions focused on improving the responsiveness of health systems to the specific needs of women; developing appropriate policies, advocacy strategies and communication strategies; strengthening the capacity of various cadres of health providers to deliver quality care. Implementation was described within the context of health sector reform and equity in health; in partnership with women, men, opinion leaders, community-based organizations, NGOs, relevant government ministries, public and private institutions.
- 48. She reiterated that the document required that Member States should develop or revise legal frameworks, and collect sex-disaggregated data to promote women's health. WHO and partners should provide technical assistance, develop generic tools

Regional Committee: Fifty-third session (Part III)

and guidelines, and assist countries to apply appropriate indicators. An enabling environment should be provided to promote health system responsiveness to women's needs, education of the girl-child, quality healthcare, elimination of gender discrimination and HTPs, and an appreciation of the role of women in sustaining the cycle of human life. Concluding her presentation, Dr Oluwole proposed a change in paragraphs 24 and 34 of the French version to read "SOU" instead of "EOC". In paragraph 34, second sentence, it should read "statistiques sanitaires indispensables désaggrégées" instead of "statistiques sanitaires indispensables ventilées".

- 49. Members of the PSC congratulated the Secretariat for developing a strategy on women's health. They discussed the various aspects of the document and raised the following issues:
  - (a) the need to address specific issues related to rural women;
  - (b) position of WHO on the proposed change from female genital mutilation (FGM) to female genital cutting;
  - (c) education of the girl-child for emancipating women from the burden of women-related conditions, including poverty.
- 50. Members of PSC made the following specific comments and suggestions for improving the document:
  - (a) in paragraph 2 clarification was sought on the meaning of "geographical and financial access";
  - (b) in the last sentence of paragraph 2, the factors listed are not specific to women;
  - (c) in paragraph 9, in the fourth sentence, replace the word "unacceptably" with "extremely" and add "lack of antenatal care";
  - (d) in paragraph 10, clarification was requested on "maternal exhaustion", "maternal disability" and "culture of silence and endurance";
  - (e) in paragraph 12, the issue of HIV/AIDS orphans and the burden of care it imposes on elderly women should be included, and biological vulnerability of women to HIV/AIDS should be clarified;
  - (f) in paragraph 13, clarification was sought on the sentence beginning with "the re-emergence of tuberculosis";
  - (g) in paragraph 15, a progress report on the implementation of activities on FGM elimination in the Region was requested;
  - (h) in paragraph 19(a) the clause "advocate for sensitive women's health policies and programmes" should be changed to read "advocate for women-sensitive health policies and programmes";
  - (i) in paragraph 19(b), add "in particular, maternal mortality" at the end of the sentence;
  - (j) in paragraph 19(c), add "and ensure safe motherhood" at the end of the sentence;
  - (k) in paragraph 20, it was suggested to include the issue of education of the

- girl-child;
- (l) in paragraph 20(b), at the end of the sentence, add "in particular, emergency obstetric care";
- (m) in paragraph 23, second sentence, before "diabetes and blindness" insert "hypertension";
- (n) in paragraph 35 of the French version, second sentence, it was requested to change "engagement ferme" to "ferme engagement";
- 51. Reviewing the executive summary, the following suggestions and comments were made:
  - (a) add at the end of paragraph 2: "All these factors require detailed studies in order to inform policies and promote effective planning and interventions.";
  - (b) in paragraph 4, it was suggested to link the objectives of this regional strategy with appropriate millennium development goals (MDGs);
  - (c) in paragraph 5, after "health systems" add "based on well researched information on" and add "evidence-based" after "appropriate".
- 52. The Secretariat expressed appreciation for the comments and suggestions made by the Programme Subcommittee and assured members that these would be included in the revised version.
- 53. In addition, the PSC members were reminded that over 50% of the population in Africa are women and consequently, they should be part of the development process. In particular, the education of the girl-child was identified as one of the leading factors for the promotion of equity, women empowerment, accessibility to health systems and reduction of harmful traditional practices. It was emphasized that although poverty and lack of development affect both women and men, there was greater impact on women. Furthermore, it was reiterated that while maternal mortality is recognized as a major challenge, this strategy document goes beyond safe motherhood to include risks throughout a woman's lifespan.
- 54. In response to specific issues raised, the Secretariat provided the following explanations:
  - (a) The expression Female Genital Mutilation is still retained by WHO despite the proposed move to change to female genital cutting (FGC) because the practice involves real mutilation of the female genitalia rather than just cutting;
  - (b) geographical accessibility referred to the distance/topography to a health facility, and financial accessibility concerns the affordability of health care;
  - (c) disaggregated data are needed to provide better information on the health status of women and men; on the basis of this explanation, the phrase

- "disaggregated data" should be retained and the Portuguese version reviewed accordingly;
- (d) on the issue of female biological vulnerability to HIV/AIDS, four contributory factors were mentioned, namely: larger surface area of the vagina, accommodation of large amounts of semen in the vagina, higher viral load in the semen and multiple micro-tears in the vagina during intercourse;
- (e) regarding the factors listed in paragraph 2, the PSC was referred to paragraph 17 of the document: Even though the factors are common to women and men, they have severe consequences and imply different risk factors for women, and this is one of the added values of the strategy;
- (f) concerning "culture of silence and endurance", the explanation provided was that in the African traditional context, children in general and girls in particular are brought up to stay silent when other members of the household are speaking; hence, they grow up with this silence and pay more attention to matters involving the rest of the family rather than themselves;
- (g) with reference to "maternal exhaustion", this was explained as a common syndrome consisting of chronic fatigue caused by multi-parity or short birth intervals and aggravated by malnutrition and anaemia;
- (h) in paragraph in the Portuguese text, it was proposed that "incapacidades maternas" should be changed to incapacidades decorrentes da maternidade;
- (i) concerning the progress on FGM elimination, PSC members were informed that there is an ongoing survey to evaluate the first 5 years of implementation of the 20-year Regional Plan of Action to Accelerate the Elimination of FGM. It was further stated that by December 2003, preliminary results would be available to share with Member States.
- 55. The Programme Subcommittee recommended the document with amendments and prepared a draft resolution (AFR/RC53/WP/4) on the subject, to be submitted to the Regional Committee for adoption.

## **FOOD SAFETY AND HEALTH: SITUATION ANALYSIS AND PERSPECTIVES** (document AFR/RC53/12)

- 56. Dr E. Anikpo-Ntame of the Secretariat introduced this document.
- 57. She explained that the document described foodborne illness as a major public health problem which also lowers economic productivity. Every year, millions of people worldwide become sick as a result of consuming contaminated and unsafe food. Ensuring food safety is a critical and fundamental component of public health and food security. The Fifty-third World Health Assembly adopted

resolution WHA53.15 urging WHO and its Member States to recognize food safety as an essential public health function.

- 58. Dr Anikpo-Ntame said that food hazards include foodborne microbial pathogens and both chemical and physical contaminants. Socioeconomic, environmental and climatic factors along with poor personal hygiene predispose food to contamination within the Region.
- 59. She mentioned that the high incidence of foodborne illness was a continuing challenge in the Region. Though some positive steps have been taken to improve food safety, success has been elusive. The 2002 WHO Regional safety survey showed that most national policies and programmes have gaps and inadequate linkages between strategies. There was a need to strengthen the capacities of countries to develop comprehensive, sustainable and integrated food safety systems. The reduction of foodborne diseases depended on availability and enforcement of food safety legislation, application of preventive risk-based approaches, surveillance and capacity building.
- 60. Because of the need to raise the profile of food safety in the Region, the document highlighted the dimensions of the food safety problem; examined the linkages between food safety, health and development; and proposed approaches and priority actions for strengthening food safety activities in countries.
- 61. The members of the Programme Subcommittee thanked the Secretariat for proposing the discussion of this important issue and also for the quality of the document. They pointed out that the document had not mentioned the role of laboratories in food safety surveillance. Recognizing the involvement of different sectors in food production, handling, inspection, import and export, the members emphasized the need for multisectoral collaboration under the coordination and leadership of ministries of health. Roles of the respective sectors should be clearly defined by governments to avoid duplication and improve synergy.
- 62. The Programme Subcommittee also highlighted the lack of tools and preparedness of countries in the Region to tackle the issue of food hazards such as radioactive, chemical and bacteriological contamination, among others. They stressed the need to establish inter-country information networks and rapid alert mechanisms.
- 63. The PSC proposed the following specific suggestions for improving the document:
  - (a) in paragraph 26 of the French text, add "sur" after "fondee";
  - (b) in paragraph 37, in the first sentence, add the word "coordinated" before the word "enforceable" and at the end of the sentence add "including their enforcement";

- (c) in the executive summary there was a proposal to include another paragraph to cover the issue of duplication of efforts, synergy and coordination among sector ministries.
- 64. The Secretariat thanked the members for their valuable comments and assured them that they would be incorporated in the final document.
- 65. The Programme Subcommittee recommended the document with amendments and prepared a draft resolution (AFR/RC53/WP/5) on the subject, to be submitted to the Regional Committee for adoption.

## SCALING UP INTERVENTIONS AGAINST HIV/AIDS, TUBERCULOSIS AND MALARIA (document AFR/RC53/13)

- 66. Dr A. Kabore of the Secretariat presented this document.
- 67. He underscored the fact that HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria contribute to high morbidity and mortality in the WHO African Region, and account for more than 90% of the global cases and deaths associated with these diseases. They exert enormous economic burden on governments, communities and families, trapping millions in a vicious cycle of poverty and ill-health.
- 68. Dr Kabore reported that a number of innovative and cost-effective interventions had been developed over the years to reduce the burden of the three diseases. The Region had adopted strategies, frameworks and resolutions; countries had developed and are implementing plans of action in line with these decisions.
- 69. The following achievements have so far been made: increased political commitment in countries and partnership building for accelerating implementation of interventions; ongoing capacity building for the prevention and control of the three diseases; increased knowledge about HIV/AIDS and safe blood for transfusion; increased TB case detection rates and implementation of the DOTS strategy; and more capacity to plan, implement, monitor and evaluate malaria prevention and control programmes in almost all countries.
- 70. Dr Kabore lamented that despite these achievements, coverage and access to interventions remained low: only 6% of the adult population had access to voluntary counselling and testing, 40% of countries had nationwide coverage of DOTS services and coverage of ITN was 5%. Trends in these diseases were not declining largely due to limited human and financial resources, unaffordable drugs for prevention and treatment, and poor infrastructure. These constraints were compounded by inadequate approaches to the implementation of existing strategies for programmes.

- 71. Dr Kabore stressed that implementation of the approaches outlined in this document would significantly contribute to scaling-up interventions for the three diseases. The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, the Global TB Drug Facility and Roll Back Malaria Initiative offered enormous opportunities to scale up implementation of activities. In concluding his presentation, Dr Kabore proposed a change to paragraph 21 of the French text to read, "Les objectifs spécifiques, en accord avec les déclarations d'Abuja et la session extraordinaire de l'Assemble générale des Nations Unies, sont:".
- 72. Members of the Programme Subcommittee thanked the Secretariat for the document. They expressed the need to include and emphasize traditional medicine as it has a role to play with regard to research and management of the three diseases. In addition, the mechanism to prevent leakage of cheaper antiretrovirals (ARVs) from developing to developed countries required formulation. They proposed that the document should consistently use the abbreviations *HIV/AIDS* rather than *HIV* only. The special problems of countries in conflict and post-conflict situations, the resulting displaced populations and the issues of worsening poverty should be taken into account in the section on constraints.
- 73. Members made the following specific suggestions for improving the document:
  - (a) in paragraph 6, the last sentence should begin: "Some countries in the Region have";
  - (b) paragraph 7, the second sentence should begin: "It accounts for 30–50%";
  - (c) since paragraphs 11–14 are all dealing with *management issues*, there was a proposal to have them merged;
  - (d) in paragraph 13, second sentence, it was proposed to add "and inappropriate composition of coordinating bodies" after "planning and management";
  - (e) in paragraph 18, add "Community Based Organizations" after NGOs;
  - (f) in paragraph 19, last sentence, before "further reaffirm" add "and other initiatives for poverty reduction";
  - (g) in paragraph 22 (c), clarification was sought on "cultural acceptability"; also add "and participation of the community" after "to ensure sustainability";
  - (h) in paragraph 24, in the last sentence, add "and interpersonal communication", after "rural radio stations";
  - (i) in paragraph 25, the last sentence in the Portuguese version, change "catalitico" to "catalizador";
  - (j) in paragraph 26 (a), add "CBOs" after NGOs, and in 26 (b) add "corporate sector" before NGOs;
  - (k) in paragraph 38, in the first sentence, add "at all levels" after "participate"
  - (l) in paragraph 39, there was a request for clarification of the phrase "suprimentos dispendiosos para a prevencao" in the Portuguese text;

- (m) in the executive summary, paragraph 3, add "development of strategic plans by countries" after "political commitment";
- (n) in the executive summary, paragraph 4, clarification was sought on why "Environmental sanitation" had not been included.
- 74. The Secretariat expressed appreciation for the comments and suggestions made by the Programme Subcommittee and assured members that these would be included in the revised version.
- 75. In response to the question of 30% of outpatient cases and hospital admissions being caused by malaria, the Secretariat proposed reviewing the reference documents to correct the figure, if necessary, and quote the source. On "cultural acceptability," the explanation given was the need to take into account the cultural environment when implementing strategies developed at regional level. Concerning the translation of the word *supplies* in paragraph 39, it was proposed to use the terms *materiais* in the Portuguese text and *materials* in the French text.
- 76. Concerning the issue of "Environmental sanitation," the Secretariat responded that currently available evidence indicates that it was not a cost-effective intervention for preventing malaria transmission.
- 77. The Programme Subcommittee recommended the document with amendments and prepared a draft resolution (AFR/RC53/WP/6) on the subject to be submitted to the Regional Committee for adoption.

## ADOPTION OF THE REPORT OF THE PROGRAMME SUBCOMMITTEE (document AFR/RC53/7)

78. After a review of the document and some discussions and amendments, the Programme Subcommittee adopted the report as amended.

## ASSIGNMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE PRESENTATION OF THE REPORT OF THE PROGRAMME SUBCOMMITTEE TO THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE

- 79. The Programme Subcommittee decided that its Chairman and the Rapporteurs would present the report to the Regional Committee, and that in the event that any of the Rapporteurs was unable to attend the Regional Committee, the Chairman would present that Section of the report.
- 80. The assignment of responsibilities for presentation of the report to the Regional Committee was as follows:
  - (a) Macroeconomics and health: The way forward in the African Region (document AFR/RC53/8)

- Professor Pierre-Andre Kombila-Koumba (Chairman)
- (b) Strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems (document AFR/RC53/9)
  - Professor Pierre-Andre Kombila-Koumba (Chairman)
- (c) Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation and agenda for action (document AFR/RC53/10)

  Dr Omar Sam (Rapporteur)
- (d) Women's health: A strategy for the African Region (AFR/RC53/11) Dr Omar Sam (Rapporteur)
- (e) Food safety and health: Situation analysis and perspectives (AFR/RC53/12) Dr Miaka-mia Bilenge (Rapporteur)
- (f) Scaling up the interventions related to HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria (document AFR/RC53/13)
  - Dr Miaka-mia Bilenge (Rapporteur)

#### **CLOSURE OF THE MEETING**

- 81. Professor Pierre-Andre Kombila-Koumba thanked the members of the Programme Subcommittee for facilitating his role. He commended the Regional Director and the staff of the Regional Office for the quality and relevance of the documents presented which facilitated discussion. He pointed out that while the topics discussed were not completely new, the learning process had been useful and the solutions to the problems need to be implemented by Member States and governments.
- 82. The Chairman informed the participants that the term of Programme Subcommittee membership held by Democratic Republic of Congo, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Gabon and Gambia had come to an end. He thanked them for their diligent contributions to the work of the Subcommittee. They will be replaced by Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania, Mauritius and Mozambique.
- 83. Dr Sambo, on behalf of the Regional Director, thanked the Chairman for his able leadership throughout the meeting, and the members of the Programme Subcommittee for their excellent contributions and guidance which served to enrich the documents. He assured the PSC that their suggestions and recommendations would be taken into account when revising the documents for submission to the forthcoming Regional Committee meeting.
- 84. He said that he could not overemphasize the need for taking into account all the key health determinants in the health development discourse. He further explained that, with the publication of the *World Health Report 2002*, the theme of which was reducing risks and promoting healthy life, WHO was increasingly using a multisectoral approach to mitigating health risks. At the country level, he said that

various health risks can only be addressed successfully through active engagement of all relevant sectors.

- 85. Dr Sambo thanked the Secretariat and the interpreters for doing a superb job which had contributed to making the meeting a success.
- 86. The Chairman then declared the meeting closed.

#### **APPENDIX 1**

#### LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

#### 1. MEMBER STATES OF SUBCOMMITTEE

#### DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO

#### THE GAMBIA

Dr C. Miaka mia Bilenge Secrétaire général à la Santé 123 A, Avenue de la Justice Kinshasa/Gombe

Dr Omar Sam Director of Health Services Ministry of Health The Quadrangle Banjul

#### **EQUATORIAL GUINEA**

#### **GHANA**

Dr Benigno Ela Ondo Mba Chef du Service de Planification et Programmation Ministère de la Santé et du Bien-Etre social Malabo

Dr Kofi Ahmed Chief Medical Officer, Ministry of Health P.O. Box M.B. 44 Accra

#### **ERITREA**

#### **GUINEA-BISSAU**

Dr Goitom Mebrahtu Head of Disease Surveillance Unit, Ministry of Health P.O. Box 418 Asmara E-mail goitom@tse.com.er

Dr. Júlio César Graça Sá Nogueira Director Geral de Saúde Pública

#### ETHIOPIA\*

#### **GUINEA\***

#### **GABON**

Professeur Pierre-André Kombila-Koumba Directeur général de la Santé B.P. 861 Libreville

\*Unable to attend

#### **KENYA**

Dr Teniin J. Gakuruh Deputy Director of Medical Services P.O. Box 30016 Nairobi

#### **LESOTHO**

Mr Matseliso Joyce Rasethumba Deputy Principal Secretary Ministry of Health and Social Welfare P.O. Box 514 Maseru

#### **LIBERIA**

Professor Eugene Didi Dolopei Deputy Chief Medical Officer P.O. Box 10-9009 Monrovia

#### 2. EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS

Dr Jean-Baptiste Ndong Inspecteur général de la Santé B.P. 13865 Libreville Gabon Dr Yankuba Kassama Secretary of State for Health and Social Welfare The Quadrangle Banjul Gambia

Dr Kwaku Afriyie\* Minister of Health Ghana

# 3. AFRICAN ADVISORY COMMITTEE FOR HEALTH RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT (AACHRD)

Dr Mohamed Said Abdullah Vice-Chairman of AACHRD P.O. Box 20707 Nairobi Kenya

*Unable to attend	_

#### **APPENDIX 2**

#### **AGENDA**

- 1. Opening of the meeting
- 2. Election of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman and the Rapporteurs
- 3. Adoption of the Agenda (document AFR/RC53/6)
- 4. Macroeconomics and health: the way forward in the African Region (document AFR/RC53/8)
- 5. Strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems (document AFR/RC53/9)
- 6. Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation and agenda for action (document AFR/RC53/10)
- 7. Women's health: A strategy for the African Region (document AFR/RC53/11)
- 8. Food safety and health: Situation analysis and perspectives (document AFR/RC53/12)
- 9. Scaling up the interventions related to HIV/AIDS, malaria and tuberculosis (document AFR/RC53/13)
- 10. Adoption of the report of the Programme Subcommittee (document AFR/RC53/7)
- 11. Assignment of responsibilities for the presentation of the report of the Programme Subcommittee to the Regional Committee
- 12. Closure of meeting

#### **APPENDIX 3**

#### PROGRAMME OF WORK

#### DAY 1: TUESDAY, 17 JUNE 2003

10.00 a.m. – 10.10 a.m.	Agenda item 1	Opening of the meeting	
10.10 a.m. – 10.20 a.m.	Agenda item 2	Election of the Chairman, the Vice- Chairman and the Rapporteurs	
10.20 a.m. – 10.30 a.m.	Agenda item 3	Adoption of the Agenda (document AFR/RC53/6)	
10.30 a.m. – 11.00 a.m.	Tea break		
11.00 a.m. – 12.30 p.m.	Agenda item 9	Scaling up the interventions related to HIV/AIDS, malaria and tuberculosis (document AFR/RC53/13)	
12.30 p.m. – 2.30 p.m.	Lunch break		
2.30 p.m. – 4.00 p.m.	Agenda item 5	Strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems (document AFR/RC53/9)	
DAY 2: WEDNESDAY, 18 JUNE 2003			
9.00 a.m. – 10.30 a.m.	Agenda item 6	Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation and agenda for action (document AFR/RC53/10)	
10.30 a.m. – 11.00 a.m.	Tea break		
11.00 a.m. – 12.30 p.m.	Agenda item 7	Women's health: A strategy for the African Region (document AFR/RC53/11)	

12.30 p.m. – 2.30 p.m. **Lunch break** 

2.30.pm. – 4.00 p.m. **Agenda item 8** Food safety and health: Situation

analysis and perspectives (document AFR/RC53/12)

5.00 p.m. Cocktail

DAY 3: THURSDAY, 19 JUNE 2003

9.00 a.m. – 10.30 p.m. **Agenda item 4** Macroeconomics and health: the

way forward in the African

Region

(document AFR/RC53/8)

11.00 p.m. – 5.00 p.m. Writing of report (By the secretariat)

**DAY 4: FRIDAY, 20 JUNE 2003** 

11.00 a.m. – 1.00 p.m. Agenda items 10, 11, and 12

- Adoption of the report of the Programme Subcommittee (document AFR/RC53/7)

- Assignment of responsibilities for the presentation of the report of the Programme Subcommittee to the

Regional Committee

- Closure of meeting

#### **REPORT OF ROUND TABLE 1**

#### Laboratory services in the provision of quality health care

#### INTRODUCTION

- 1. The Round Table on "Laboratory Services in the Provision of Quality Health Care" was held on 4 September 2003 under the chairmanship of the Minister of Health of Côte d'Ivoire, Mr Albert Mabri.
- 2. The facilitator was Prof. Muyembe Tamfum, Director of INRB, Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC). Dr Chatora, Director of Health Systems and Development Division, introduced the Chairman and facilitator.
- 3. The facilitator gave an overview of the situation of laboratories in countries of the Region, highlighting the major problems encountered and identifying various areas where solutions may be found in order to improve the performance of laboratory services.
- 4. The Chairman subsequently opened the floor for discussion.

#### **CONTRIBUTIONS**

- 5. Forty-eight country delegates took part in the Round Table. Fifteen contributions were made. In addition to acknowledging the primary role of laboratories in health care delivery, the contributors noted the disastrous situation in our Region before proposing the following solutions:
  - (a) Conduct a situation analysis of laboratories as a pre-requisite to any action aimed at improving the performance of laboratories;
  - (b) Formulate and implement an effective national laboratory policy with a full-fledged central directorate and a separate budget line.
  - (c) Put in place a national network of reference laboratories that would enable the supervision and coordination of activities.
  - (d) Standardize equipment, reagents and tests by level of the health pyramid.
  - (e) Formulate norms and rules of technical procedures and promote a programme of quality assurance.
  - (f) Encourage bulk purchases and the local production of what is considered to be basic reagents. Secure the loyalty of suppliers.
  - (g) Organize the legislative framework and the management of the accreditation procedures.

(h) Design investment plans in laboratory sector taking into account the maintenance and renewal of equipment.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

6. Following a general assessment of the solutions proposed, participants in the Round Table agreed that the main problem was the lack of an appropriate laboratory policy that would constitute the ideal framework for effective application of corrective interventions. Consequently, they recommended the following:

#### To countries:

- (a) Conduct a situation analysis of their laboratory services.
- (b) Formulate an effective national laboratory policy, as an integral part of the national health policy, implemented through a central directorate and a national network of laboratories.
- (c) Formulate a regulatory and legislative framework to govern the operation of laboratories.
- (d) Allocate adequate resources for laboratory activities.

#### To WHO and other partners:

- (a) Technical support should be provided for situation analysis, policy formulation and for definition of norms and rules of technical procedures;
- (b) Financial support should be provided to improve laboratory equipment at country level.

#### **REPORT OF ROUND TABLE 2**

#### Safe motherhood: Improving access to emergency obstetric care

#### INTRODUCTION

- 1. The Round Table discussion on *Safe motherhood: Improving access to emergency obstetric care* was held 4 September 2003. The objective of the Round Table was to identify the key actions needed to improve access to emergency obstetric care in the African region. It was chaired and co-chaired by Dr Aida Libombo, Deputy Minister of Health, Mozambique, and Dr Kweku Afriye, Minister of Health, Ghana, respectively, and facilitated by Prof Kasonde. A total of 74 delegates participated in the meeting.
- 2. Introductory statements on the subject were given by Dr Doyin Oluwole, Director, Family and reproductive health, and Dr Aida Theolamira de Nobreza Libombo, the Chairman. Prof Kasonde, the facilitator, made a presentation outlining:
  - (a) the magnitude of the problem of maternal mortality;
  - (b) steps taken on the road to safe motherhood;
  - (c) a framework for improving emergency obstetric care;
  - (d) the critical issues for discussion.

#### **DISCUSSION POINTS**

- 3. The Round Table deliberated on the following issues and questions:
  - (a) the necessary steps to establish and sustain comprehensive emergency obstetric care;
  - (b) how to increase awareness of the magnitude of maternal and newborn morbidity and mortality at community, national and international levels;
  - (c) how to improve the skills of the available health professionals in order to provide emergency obstetric care through devolution of functions and activities; human, material and financial implications of this strategy;
  - (d) how to ensure appropriate resource allocation and use for the strengthening of emergency obstetric care services; measures to be taken to ensure availability of essential supplies, medications and equipment, including safe blood;
  - (e) components of an obstetric emergency preparedness and response plan at community level;

(f) possible strategies to strengthen the role of the community in ensuring women's access to skilled attendance during child birth.

#### **MAIN CONCERNS**

- 4. The necessary steps to establish and sustain comprehensive emergency obstetric care
  - (a) political will sustained by repeated advocacy, including the willingness of governments to provide free delivery services;
  - (b) community and male involvement in the organization of services;
  - (c) emergency preparedness among professionals and community, such as delivery preparedness packs in hospitals;
  - (d) linkages between the community and health facilities;
  - (e) alternative financing schemes to improve access;
  - (f) insurance schemes or deferred payment plans;
  - (g) needs assessment to identify the weaknesses of required services;
  - (h) installation of two-way radio communication and appropriate emergency transport;
  - (i) effective monitoring and surveillance systems.
- 5. How to increase awareness of the magnitude of maternal and newborn morbidity and mortality at community, national and international levels
  - (a) sensitization of communities;
  - (b) sensitization of cabinet members and parliamentarians on maternal health and redirection of resources from wars to maternal survival strategies;
  - (c) sensitization of health management staff to boldly promote and allocate resources to safe motherhood;
  - (d) community-based associations and NGOs to advocate for improved maternal health care;
  - (e) needs assessments of community-based safe motherhood and emergency obstetric care;
  - (f) institutionalize a national safe motherhood day, e.g. observe the annual mother's day in May as the National Safe Motherhood Day.
- 6. How to improve the skills of the available health professionals in order to provide emergency obstetric care through devolution of functions and activities. What are the human, material and financial implications of this strategy?

- (a) revision of midwifery curricula to include emergency obstetric care (EOC);
- (b) training of general practitioners and paramedical professionals in EOC (e.g. surgical technicians in Mozambique);
- (c) allow general practitioners to perform caesarean sections;
- (d) give more responsibility to nurses and midwives to administer intravenous drugs, ultrasound and similar treatment;
- (e) train all nurses to have midwifery skills;
- (f) supportive supervision.

These should be backed up by relevant legislation.

- 7. How to ensure appropriate resource allocation and use for the strengthening of emergency obstetric care services. What measures can be taken to ensure availability of essential supplies, medications and equipment, including safe blood?
  - (a) in the context of health sector reforms, there is need for a policy which ensures that a portion of generated funds will be effectively used for maternal health services;
  - (b) government matching of resources mobilized at community level;
  - (c) strengthening maternity units in the management of funds;
  - (d) build hospital emergency services around EOC;
  - (e) emergency packs for the management of major maternal complications.
- 8. Components of an obstetric emergency preparedness and response plan at community level
  - (a) social mobilization comparable to National Immunization Days (NIDs);
  - (b) community funding schemes such as a mutual insurance scheme;
  - (c) organization of emergency transportation through local transport companies;
  - (d) development of waiting homes close to health facilities.
- Possible strategies to strengthen the role of the community in ensuring women's access to skilled attendance during child birth
  - (a) maternal death reviews at facility, community and national levels, with reports of the reviews to improve quality of care and feedback to all levels;

- (b) advocacy for improved health worker attitudes in order to ensure womenfriendly services that promote use;
- (c) involvement of the community in the supervision of maternal health services;
- (d) community support and ownership of an emergency preparedness plan, including provision of transport.
- 10. Other cross-cutting issues were raised and included education of the girl-child, reduction of poverty and prevention of conflicts. Political will and community participation were noted as fundamental requirements for the success of Safe Motherhood programmes. These will require sustained advocacy on the part of ministries of health and health professionals.

#### **REPORT OF ROUND TABLE 3**

### Emergency and humanitarian action: Improving the effectiveness of health interventions

#### INTRODUCTION

- 1. The Round Table discussion on "Emergency and humanitarian action: Improving the effectiveness of health interventions" was held on 4 September 2003 under the chairmanship of Professor Abdelhamid Aberkane, Minister of Public Health, Algeria. Professor Emmanuel Eben-Moussi (from Cameroon) played the role of facilitator and rapporteur. About 70 participants including many ministers of health participated actively in the discussions.
- 2. The objective of the Round Table discussion was to draw attention to the health impact of emergencies/disasters and humanitarian crises, determine more precisely the role of Member States and define measures that ministries of health and their partners may take to minimize the health impact of situations of emergency, disaster and humanitarian crisis.
- 3. Professor Aberkane gave a short introductory statement in which he stressed the importance of this subject, highlighted the highly intersectoral and interdisciplinary nature of disaster response, called for the detection and assessment of vulnerabilities and major risks, and deplored the limited capacity of our national health systems to organise themselves better.
- 4. The facilitator of the Round Table then provided some clarifications on the information document (AFR/RC53/RT3) distributed earlier to participants and on the notions of emergency and disaster, humanitarian aid and health interventions. He went on to outline the agreed method of work.
- 5. For her part, Mrs E. Anikpo-Ntame, Director, Division of Healthy Environments and Sustainable Development, WHO Regional Office for Africa, gave a presentation in which she reviewed the current situation, took stock of emergencies and disasters experienced in the African Region in recent years, their socioeconomic impact and the inadequacy of response, all of which cause concern about the burning, complex, depressing and challenging nature of emergencies which rapidly evolve into humanitarian crisis.

#### EXPERIENCES REPORTED AND LESSONS LEARNED

6. All the experiences reported by speakers pointed to:

- (a) the inadequacies of national response due to lack of preparedness; ensuing panic, rush and sometimes improvisation; delayed and/or inappropriate response; weaknesses of health systems and poor coordination; inadequate attention to the most vulnerable populations; and difficulties in assessing the scope of ensuing problems in time and space.
- (b) the importance of intersectoral partnerships.
- (c) the importance of involving, in response activities, all the active forces in the country especially the armed forces, humanitarian NGOs such as the Red Cross, and even the private sector.
- (d) difficulties in managing the mosaic of uncoordinated interventions.
- (e) the complexity of post-conflict, post-disaster or post-crisis situations in terms of their implications for the "health potential" of the country and the monitoring of victims.
- (f) the fact that there are major cross-border problems especially in the regions of the Great Lakes, the Horn of Africa and West Africa.
- (g) the need for WHO to play its normative, supportive, technical and coordination role.

#### DISCUSSION POINTS AND DELIBERATIONS

- 7. The Round Table discussed the following points:
  - (a) How can ministries of health mitigate the health impact of such situations?
  - (b) How can governments strengthen national capacity to appropriately manage emergencies and derive optimum benefit from the large amount of emergency assistance available from donors?
  - (c) How can governments and communities participate in managing emergency situations when most countries are suffering from extreme poverty?
  - (d) What kind of support do countries expect from WHO?

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

#### To Member States

- 8. The Round Table recommended that Member States:
  - (a) identify the potential risks of disasters and assess the vulnerability of the populations;

- (b) play a leadership role in all response activities by defining the intervention framework and its scope, clearly outlining the code of conduct, and providing normative approaches;
- (c) sensitize all national partners through advocacy at governmental and nongovernmental levels so as to strengthen mechanisms of collaboration and agree on coordination requirements;
- (d) have in place an interministerial crisis management team, unit or task force and /or to include a representative of the health sector in the national security council, if it already exists;
- (e) disseminate, as much as possible, preventive information concerning massive gathering of people and make regulatory provisions that will, upon request, ensure decentralization of close-to-client interventions especially those to be carried out in remote or border areas;
- (f) structure national plans around five areas of concern: forecast, prevention, preparedness, response, post-disaster management;
- (g) periodically organize simulated national disaster response drills;
- (h) enlist, consolidate and better regulate NGOs that will intervene, especially in the humanitarian aspect of response;
- (i) harness existing potential and train a critical mass of national human resources in emergencies (emergency medicine, planning, management, coordination, response, monitoring and evaluation);
- (j) to manage information gathered and improve country preparedness to channel information flow to communities in order to promote local mechanisms of solidarity and vigilance;
- (k) to strengthen emergency/disaster preparedness through:
  - a health and policy monitoring system within the framework of good governance;
  - updating of national intervention plans by ensuring that such plans take due account of the realities of some countries (e.g island regions); that they are operational and have the minimum funding and; that they are an operational part of civil protection plans;
  - reinforcing the capacities of structures that provide response especially the plans on hospital emergency care and on health emergency alert;
  - preventive measures such as immunization of vulnerable populations, synchronized cross-border immunization, keeping of strategic contingency stocks (food, drugs, vaccines) and improvement of nutrition status;
  - strengthening of capacity to respond to emergencies or disasters through better dissemination of a technical guidelines, well organized curative and preventive care, and sustained attention to their non-

health implications (habitat/environment, water/sanitation, food/nutrition).

#### **WHO**

- 9. The Round Table recommended that WHO:
  - (a) strengthen the organization of emergency and humanitarian action focal points and subregional intervention teams;
  - (b) pursue its efforts in training national experts in emergencies and related areas;
  - (c) keep Member States informed of all regional initiatives including appointments of subregional coordinators; development of humanitarian crisis response strategies; launch of consolidated appeal process; and establishment of support coordination centres (Johannesburg) or disease surveillance centres (Ouagadougou);
  - (d) strengthen its technical support (expertise, counselling) to countries and its advocacy on behalf of countries for resource mobilization;
  - (e) assist the countries in health risk assessment involving, if necessary, risk mapping, monitoring of prevailing risks, identification of residual uncertainties, and training in vulnerability assessment;
  - (f) assist the countries in coordinating health interventions with nationals and external partners;
  - (g) document lessons learnt.

#### CONCLUSION

10. The Round Table acknowledged the importance of the subject being discussed. Participants acknowledged that all countries are vulnerable to disasters and that emphasis must be put on disaster planning and management, strengthening of collaboration and partnerships and strengthening of national capacities. Moreover, all participants agreed on the need to intensify intercountry solidarity, strengthen complimentarities and coordination and advocate for smooth harnessing of all potentials in order to alleviate the suffering of disaster victims.

#### REPORT OF SPECIAL SESSIONS I

#### NEPAD health strategy: Initial programme of action

- 1. The session was chaired by Professor Abdelhamid Aberkane, Minister of Health, Algeria, who gave a historical background of the development of the NEPAD Health Programme. Professor Eric Buch made a presentation on the initial Programme of Action of NEPAD Health Strategy which ministers had earlier reviewed during the fifty-second session of the Regional Committee in Harare and at the Health Ministers Meeting in Tripoli in April 2003. He then outlined different projects and emphasized that an estimated US\$ 22 billion is required for the implementation of the programmes.
- 2. Member States acknowledged that Heads of State identified health as a priority in development in the NEPAD Strategy. However, countries expressed great concern about the fact that the NEPAD health component has barely been discussed in countries and therefore it is not well understood even by the ministers of health. Questions were raised with regard to the linkage between the NEPAD health programme of action and the existing programmes such as the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (GFATM), national health strategic plans or poverty reduction strategy papers (PRSPs).
- 3 Furthermore, it was noted that some key components of the existing interventions, such as indoor residual spraying and the cross-border truck driver programme on HIV/AIDS prevention, were omitted in the document. These should be included so they can benefit from the mobilized external resources.
- 4. It was also noted that some Member States already have programmes which are in line with the NEPAD health component but lack resources to move ahead. Therefore, they greatly appreciate the role taken by Heads of State to advocate for resource mobilization for health.
- 5. Concern was raised as to whether separate structures were going to be established for the implementation of the NEPAD Programme of Action. This concern based on the understanding that such new structures would duplicate and compete with existing structures. It was also felt that if NEPAD used the existing structures, then mechanisms for integrating the NEPAD Plan of Action into existing programmes should be clearly established. Fears were also expressed that NEPAD might eventually be transformed into an implementing agency.
- 6. In view of the issues raised above, Member States felt that the NEPAD Health Strategy and Programme of Action should be further discussed at fora like the

Health Ministers Meeting or meetings of Regional economic blocks. When the strategy and programme of action are well understood, the ministers of health should arrange for discussions in their countries (e.g. parliaments and cabinets).

- 7. In response, the NEPAD Secretariat acknowledged that communication between NEPAD Secretariat and ministries of health has not been sufficient and it will therefore take appropriate action. It was also explained that NEPAD is not intending to create parallel structures but to work within the existing ones. A clarification was made that the NEPAD Secretariat is not an implementing agency and would heavily rely on expertise from other agencies such WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank etc.
- 8. In his closing remarks, the Regional Director emphasized that implementing bodies should be the ministries of health and that WHO would be available to support them.

#### REPORT OF SPECIAL SESSIONS II

#### Migration of skilled health personnel: A challenge for health systems in Africa

Introductory remarks by the Regional Director

1. The Regional Director introduced the special session reminding the ministers about the requests made during the fifty-second session of the Regional Committee for the International Organization for Migration (IOM) and WHO to jointly undertake research on the migration issue.

#### Presentation by Dr Chatora

2. Dr R. Chatora presented the report of the study and survey done in the Region. He mentioned two major constraints encountered while conducting the study, that is, unavailability of up-to-date information on human resources in countries, and migrants unwilling to participate in the study. He presented some of the results and recommendations from both the study and the survey. He reminded the ministers of the African Union declaration to celebrate 2004 as the Year for Development of Human Resources in Africa, with particular focus on health workers. Dr Chatora suggested that this might provide a platform for addressing Human Resources for Health (HRH) issues, including brain drain, and he requested the countries to review the recommendations proposed.

#### Presentation by Mr Phillipe Boncour, International Organization for Migration

3. Mr Phillipe Boncour presented on behalf of Mme Ndioro Ndaiye, the Deputy Director-General of IOM. He reported on the HRH survey done in countries of the diaspora. He mentioned the difficulty in tracing and contacting migrants in the diaspora and informed members that the exercise is continuing. He stressed a number of important recommendations in the context of the African Union, particularly the IOM programme on Migration for Development in Africa. He also reiterated the importance of the NEPAD strategy on human resources for health development.

#### Discussion

4. Countries intervened and shared how they have dealt with migration. They made some important proposals to be taken further, such as preparation of a resolution that could be presented at the World Trade Organization (WTO) meeting

in Cancun, Mexico, as well as a resolution to be taken to the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly (WHA).

#### **Comments by the Regional Director**

- 5. The Regional Director thanked all Member countries for a lively debate and discussion on a very complex issue. He mentioned that this issue was discussed on and off since 1996; however, the issue has become grave, hence the serious discussion now. He mentioned that the recent study and survey have provided a road map for further directions on where to go.
- 6. The Regional Director concluded that the migration of health workers will be with us for a long time and should warrant an agenda item for every Regional Committee. He also informed members that a summary paper with possible proposals on how to positively tackle this issue and minimize the negative impact on health systems will be presented by the Regional Office in collaboration with IOM during the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee.

#### Recommendations

- 7. The meeting endorsed the proposal by the Regional Director to include an agenda item on human resources next year for the fifth-fourth session of the Regional Committee. This should include a progress report on action that will have been taken to implement these recommendations.
- 8. Furthermore, a process should be put in place to engage the Organization for Economic and Cooperative Development (OECD), G8 countries and Heads of State in international recruitment.
- 9. It was agreed that implementation of these recommendations should form the basis of activities in countries to celebrate 2004 as the Year for Development of Human Resources in Africa, with particular focus on health workers as declared by the African Union.
- 10. The proposal by Ghana for a resolution to be taken to the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly was endorsed as was the proposal by Zimbabwe for a resolution to be presented at the WTO meeting in Cancun, Mexico.

#### REPORT ON THE SPECIAL SESSION III

#### Developments in NEPAD and their implications to health

#### INTRODUCTION

1. Professor Wiseman Nkhulu made a presentation entitled "Developments in NEPAD and their implications for health".

#### DISCUSSION

- 2. In the discussions that ensued, the delegates posed the following questions:
  - (a) What are the linkages between the New Partnership for Africa's Development and the African Union?
  - (b) Is there duplication between NEPAD and AU?
  - (c) What is the operating budget for NEPAD?
  - (d) What is the difference between NEPAD and the Lagos Plan of Action drawn by the Heads of State in 1980?
  - (e) Is NEPAD going to set up country offices? If yes, what are the implications of this move in relation to existing structures in countries?
  - (f) Partners in the G8 are already involved in funding health systems in the Region. How will this now work under NEPAD?
  - (g) Since almost all countries already have national health plans, medium-term expenditure frameworks (MTEF) and other frameworks, how will NEPAD fit into existing national programmes?
  - (h) Since the World Bank has begun the process of phasing out project implementation units in most countries in line with SWAps, how will NEPAD work in countries?
  - (i) If NEPAD was meant to bridge the gap during the transition period of the AU, why should such a programme continue to be funded since financial resources are already limited in the Region?
  - (j) Since governments have failed to allocate the pledged 15% of national budgets to health as stated in the Abuja Declaration, how will this be possible under NEPAD? Also, since donor assistance to health is so low, how will the US\$ 22 billion per year as stipulated by NEPAD be honored by donors at this time?
  - (k) Will the peer review mechanisms also apply and penalties be imposed on those who fail to honour the 15% national budget allocation to health?

#### RESPONSES BY PROFESSOR WISEMAN NKHULU

- 3. Professor Wiseman Nkhulu explained that up to the July 2003 Maputo Summit, the African Union has been represented in NEPAD organs. Since the Maputo summit, an office has been set up in the office of the chairman of AU. Details of relationships are to be worked out. This was necessitated by changes taking place within AU. As commissions are set up, processes of synchronization and integration will take place. Within three years, the NEPAD Secretariat will be integrated in the AU.
- 4. The budget of the NEPAD Secretariat comes from the initiating states which pay 60% of the cost; the rest comes from development partners. Funds to support projects will come from Member States and development partners. When funds have been mobilized, they will go directly to countries.
- 5. Since the adoption of the Lagos Plan of Action, things have now changed. However, NEPAD is an update of the same Lagos Plan, with additions on good governance.
- 6. NEPAD is a socioeconomic development programme. Each member country must actively explain what NEPAD is and the implications it may have on normal government business. Countries themselves should own NEPAD.
- 7. NEPAD priorities should be integrated into national development plans. They should not be separate programmes. Although there are national plans in place, this does not mean that they are adequately covered and funded. Thus, NEPAD should be viewed as a way of scaling up the interventions.
- 8. NEPAD country structures refer to national socioeconomic structures so the people, not the NEPAD Secretariat, will own the development programmes.
- 9. Concerning funding and the raising of the US\$ 22 billion per annum, African leaders are saying that the continent needs to provide good political leadership and make the continent attractive to donors and investors through the promotion of good governance, transparency and accountability.
- 10. NEPAD is working on strengthening regional economic communities since these are responsible for African integration. Citizens will hold government accountable. Peer pressure will be applied in all sectors of concern to NEPAD.

Regional Committee: Fifty-third session (Part III)

#### **ANNEX 6**

# SPEECH BY DR MANTOMBAZANA TSHABALALA-MSIMANG, MINISTER OF HEALTH, SOUTH AFRICA

Programme Director,

Our Guest Speaker, the Minister of Defence, Mr Mosiuoa Lekota,

Director-General of World Health Organization, Dr Jong-Wook Lee,

Regional Director of WHO/AFRO, Dr Ebrahim Samba,

Representative of the African Union,

Chairperson of RC52, and Minister of Public Health, Cameroon, Honourable Mr Olanguena Awono Urbain,

Honourable Ministers of Health of the WHO/AFRO Region,

Excellencies, members of the Diplomatic Corps,

Delegates,

Ladies and Gentlemen,

It is my great pleasure and honour to welcome you to South Africa for the fifty-third session of the WHO Regional Committee for Africa. South Africa is honoured to host this meeting for the second time, the first time having been in Sun City in 1997. This demonstrates the enthusiasm with which we have embraced our late entry into the world arena as a democratic and free society. We are particularly excited that this meeting takes place as we draw close to the celebration of 10 years of our democracy and freedom which was established in 1994.

I am honoured to introduce to you my colleague, the Minister of Defence of South Africa, Mr Mosiuoa Lekota. Mr Lekota is also my boss because he is the Chairperson of the ruling party, the African National Congress. I welcome you, Dear Colleague, and I thank you sincerely for honouring our occasion as a guest speaker.

In April, we had a major Racing Against Malaria Rally through a number of countries in the SADC region, culminating in an Africa Malaria Day celebration in Dar es Salaam. This partnership demonstrated the good relationship between the health sector and defence forces in an effort to improve the life of our people.

I also wish to extend a special and warm welcome to the new WHO Director-General, Dr Jong-Wook Lee. Welcome to Africa. We are looking forward to your support on health matters that specifically relate to Africa as a region. I know that in you we have an advocate at the highest decision-making level of WHO. We are grateful for the special and additional support that our Region receives from WHO and we look forward to the implementation of your vision for the WHO over the next five years. You can count on us to work with you and to support you. I would

especially like to commend you for having chosen a colleague and a woman from the African Region as one of your Assistant Directors-General; I mean, of course, the former Minister of Health of Botswana, Mrs Joy Phumaphi.

I pay tribute to our own public health stalwart in the African Regional Office, the Regional Director, Dr Ebrahim Malick Samba. We have indeed been through a very long journey with this distinguished son of Africa, and he has led all the time with great vision, strength, and willingness to support and assist our countries at all times. I would also like to extend a special welcome to all the ministers from the WHO African Region as well as their delegates.

This year is a very important one for the health fraternity as it is the 25th celebration of the Alma-Ata Declaration which laid the foundation for the provision of primary health care. In South Africa, we have just had our celebration of Alma-Ata during which we reviewed the progress we have made and mapped the way forward for primary health care over the next five years. Among other important tasks at hand, we should use the opportunity of this meeting to review progress since Alma-Ata and to redirect our energies to achieve the millennium development goals.

A subject that will also receive special attention at this meeting is New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD). During the fifty-second session of the Regional Committee held in Harare, Zimbabwe, a presentation on the NEPAD Health Strategy was made to the ministers. This year, we will have a special session on NEPAD where we will discuss how we can best implement this strategy. I am also pleased that the African Union is represented at this meeting and will ensure that the objectives of African unity are promoted by this meeting of the health sector within our continent.

The settlement in Geneva over the weekend of the outstanding issue of trade-related aspects of intellectual property rights (TRIPS) and pharmaceuticals, based on the World Trade Organization (WTO) Doha Declaration, has come as a welcome piece of news. As most of you may be aware, the South African government's experience in relation to the provision of affordable medicines has been a hard struggle. The unconditional withdrawal by the 39 pharmaceutical companies in April 2001, and the government's victory paved the way for the Doha Declaration. We are delighted at the progress that has been made. This will open up many new channels for sourcing cheaper medicines, particularly generics. This is a vital human rights issue. The challenge for us now is to promote regional cooperation on this issue and to integrate our strategies into NEPAD. We all have to work towards the unity of our continent and the strengthening of our sub-regional blocs. For a long time, Africa has recognized the need to use regional economic blocs as the drivers of integration and cooperation among the countries of the continent.

During this session, we will be examining the method of work and the duration of the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly. In this regard, we might wish to reflect on the representation of the African Region on the Executive Board of the WHO. Currently, countries in the African Region of WHO rotate alphabetically to serve on the Executive Board. This means that during some periods, certain regional blocs may not be represented on the Executive Board. I hope that the Regional Director will start the dialogue on this subject, as I firmly believe that it will advance the unity of Africa in the Executive Board.

In conclusion, Programme Director, I am reminded of the words of our President, His Excellency, Mr Thabo Mbeki, when he addressed the African ministers of health last night. He challenged us to make it our business to know more about the health conditions that affect Africans and to advise our Heads of State and Government appropriately on how to respond to these challenges in a comprehensive and integrated manner. I sincerely hope that by the end of this meeting we will have a better sense of the health challenges facing our people and come up with strategies to response to these challenges.

Programme Director, Ministers of Health, Distinguished Delegates and Guests, I welcome you to South Africa and I wish you fruitful deliberations. I hope you will also find time to enjoy the little that our country has to offer. I thank you.

# SPEECH OF PROFESSOR RASAMINDRAKOTROKA ANDRY, MINISTER OF HEALTH, REPUBLIC OF MADAGASCAR, VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE FIFTY-SECOND SESSION OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE FOR AFRICA

Honourable Minister of Defence of the Republic of South Africa,
The Commissioner for Social Affairs, representing the African Union,
Honourable ministers and heads of delegation,
The WHO Director-General,
The WHO Regional Director for Africa,
Excellencies members of the diplomatic corps,
Distinguished representatives of the United Nations system, multilateral and bilateral cooperation agencies and nongovernmental organizations,
Distinguished members of country delegations,
Members of the organizing committee,
Distinguished invited guests,
Ladies and gentlemen.

On behalf of my colleagues ministers of health and heads of delegation and also on behalf of WHO, I wish to express how honoured I feel to be asked, in my capacity as Vice-chairman of the fifty-second session of the Regional Committee and in accordance with the rules of procedure, to chair the opening session of the WHO Regional Committee for Africa until a new chairman is nominated.

Excellencies, Ladies and gentlemen,

I wish to start my address by welcoming you all to this session which, once again, is providing us with an opportunity to take stock of the health situation in the African Region and, together, to look for the ways and means to promote health for the speedy, smooth and sustainable development of Africa. On behalf of all delegates gathered here, I should like to use this opportunity to express our warm greetings and our profound gratitude to the honourable Minister of Defence of the Republic of South Africa, Mr Mosiuoa Lekota for having graced this opening ceremony with his presence in spite of his very many and very important other obligations.

I wish to express our gratefulness to the Government of the Republic of South Africa for having accepted to host this important meeting in this beautiful city of Johannesburg. Our thankfulness also goes to the people of the Republic of South Africa for their warm hospitality and to the World Health Organization for the good quality of organization of this meeting. Last but not least, I should like to use this occasion to convey to you the brotherly and cordial greetings of His Excellency the

President of the Republic of Madagascar, Mr Marc Ravalomanana, and his wishes for the full success of our deliberations.

Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

A year has already passed since the last meeting of the Regional Committee was held in Harare, Zimbabwe. The health situation of countries of our region is still a major source of concern given the emergence of new social and health problems and the effects of the global economic crisis. Our continent is suffering the tragic consequences of epidemics, natural disasters, wars and conflicts, problems of maternal and child health, all of which are adversely affecting our already weak health systems and are further worsening the problems of poverty and inequality. Our region has gone through particularly severe emergencies such as:

- Galloping trend of HIV/AIDS which is taking a heavy toll on the populations.
- Degradation of infrastructures and loss of human lives resulting from natural disasters.
- Persistent internal conflicts resulting in discrimination, immigration, exodus and resurgence of epidemic diseases.
- Drought and famine that are affecting our region.

These repeated humanitarian crises are making us lose out on the health gains we have made from several decades of effort. Lastly, socio-economic and political upheavals have had negative effects on the resources available for health.

Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

At our last session, recommendations were made and resolutions passed on issues such as:

- Adoption of the 2004-2005 Programme-Budget;
- Re-direction of national EPI strategic plans of action for the 2003-2005 period;
- Consideration of environment-related health problems;
- Updating of national health policies based on a long-term planning approach and increased budget allocation to the health sector in accordance with the Abuja Declaration;
- Development of human resources as a matter of priority.

Taking these resolutions into account, the work of WHO in the African Region grew considerably in the past year, especially in the fight against HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria, trypanosomiasis, polio, etc. Efforts made in tobacco control have been crowned with success, with the adoption at the Fifty-sixth World Health

Assembly of the Framework Convention for Tobacco Control. Concerning the situation of African women, interventions were undertaken mainly on the implementation of anti-violence programmes, operationalization of the reproductive health of adolescents, and promotion of safe motherhood.

Upon reading the themes we are called upon to discuss, very important decisions await us at the end of this meeting. Indeed, at its last meeting in Harare, Zimbabwe, from 8 to 12 October 2002, the Regional committee decided that the present session would discuss:

- macroeconomics and health: the way forward in the African Region;
- strengthening of the role of hospitals in national health systems;
- women's health a strategy for the African Region;
- scaling up interventions related to HIV/AIDS, malaria and tuberculosis.

Excellency, Ladies and Gentlemen,

Let us be realistic: in Africa, poverty, social conflicts and insecurity are factors that perpetuate the outbreaks of endemic diseases. But we have demonstrated our unity of purpose and our capacity to solve our problems. We have done our best and I am convinced that we will continue to do so until the improvement of the health situation of our people becomes a reality. Before ending my address, I would like to reiterate my warm and sincere thanks to the WHO Regional Director for Africa and his team of WHO Staff for their constant devotion and unflinching support to our countries.

Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

I hope that the solidarity that binds us will grow even more in order that the African Region can achieve smooth and sustainable health and economic development.

Thank you.

#### **ANNEX 8**

# STATEMENT BY AMBASSADOR MAHAMAT H. DOUTOUM, AFRICAN UNION INTERIM COMMISSIONER FOR SOCIAL AFFAIRS AND AFRO-ARAB COOPERATION

Your Excellency, the Minister of Defence of the Republic of South Africa, Honourable Chairperson,
Honourable Ministers,
The WHO Regional Director for Africa, Dr Ebrahim M. Samba,
Distinguished Guests,
Ladies and Gentlemen,

On behalf of the Interim Chairperson of the African Union Commission, I thank the Head of State, the Government and people of the Republic of South Africa for hosting this important meeting. I would also like to express gratitude and appreciation to the Regional Director, Dr Ebrhaim M. Samba, and his team for their untiring efforts to promote health in the African Region.

As you may be aware, the transition from the OAU to the AU is now advanced. A number of important organs and structures are in place and a new cabinet for the Commission will be inaugurated this month to carry on the task of coordinating efforts for Africa's political and socioeconomic development.

On behalf of Mr Amara Essay, the outgoing Interim Chairperson, and the Interim Commissioners, I would like to express thanks for your cooperation and support in making our work challenging and yet enjoyable. The collaboration between the AU and WHO, with the keen involvement of the ministers of health, has moved Africa's health issues from the periphery to the centre of policymaking for the socioeconomic development of the continent. "Health being wealth", this is noteworthy development.

It was within such context that the first African Union Conference of African Ministers of Health which was held from 26-30 April 2003 in Tripoli, Libya chose the theme "Investing in Health for Africa's Socioeconomic Development". The Commission of the AU expresses its gratitude to all ministers who attended or were represented at the meeting. This greatly contributed to its success.

#### Honourable Ministers,

At the Tripoli conference, you considered at length and made recommendations on key issues under five sub-themes, each with relevant topics. These sub-themes were:

- Initiatives on major causes of morbidity and mortality in Africa;
- Violence and emergencies;

- Promotion of "a healthy start in life";
- Health systems promotion and service delivery: Resource mobilization and partnerships for development;
- Guidelines for effective implementation, monitoring and evaluation of health strategies.

You also adopted the NEPAD Health Strategy, the decision on violence and health, the recommendation on the establishment of health and social affairs desks within regional economic communities and the decision on polio eradication by 2005. In this regard, time is of essence and Africa cannot fail to achieve this target a second time. You disseminated a statement on severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) with recommendations on preparedness for tackling this epidemic. Finally you considered and adopted the Plan of Action for the African Union Decade for African Traditional Medicine (2001-2010). Subsequently, all the recommendations you made were endorsed by Heads of State during the Maputo Summit in July 2003. The task before us now is to turn those commitments into visible action at national level.

The Chairperson, Ladies and Gentlemen,

We are faced with the challenge of fighting against HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria and other infectious diseases which are the major causes of ill-health and death of Africans. I use the term "we" because, as those who are in the vanguard, we must provide comprehensive leadership for better health for our continent. We are aware that health is the foundation for accelerated socioeconomic development, and as such we must double our efforts to ensure that health is not made second-best in national policy-making and implementation. In this regard, the implementation of the Abuja Declarations on HIV/AIDS, TB and Other Infections diseases as well as on Roll Back Malaria must be integrated into poverty alleviation strategies at regional, national and community levels. The success of this process will depend on the communities "owning" or being part of the implementation process.

In July 2003 at Maputo, the Heads of State furthermore reaffirmed their support and commitment by adopting the Maputo Declaration on HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, Malaria and Other Related Infections Diseases at their Ordinary Assembly. Your role, Honorable Ministers, is to spearhead the implementation process. The Heads of State also endorsed the proposal to mark 31 August each year as African Traditional Medicine Day. Yesterday was, therefore, the inaugural day, on the theme selected by the WHO Regional Office for Africa, namely: "Traditional medicine: Our culture, our future". It is hoped that all Member States participated in this campaign.

The Chairperson,

#### Ladies and Gentlemen,

A major challenge in the fight against pandemics and other diseases is the annual loss of trained personnel to developed countries, some of which currently have programmes to recruit medical personnel from African countries. Human resources is a prerequisite for development of health systems. It was in this connection that the 2001 Lusaka Summit of African Leaders adopted the Decision on development of human resources for health in Africa. They declared 2004 the Year for Development of Human Resources, especially for the health and education sectors. The onus is on all of us to put our heads together and operationalize this declaration. The year 2004 is less than four months away!

This challenge has to be tackled from the highest levels of the UN system, the AU, Member States, professional organizations, NGOs and civil society organizations in order to find a long-lasting solution. One of the items on the agenda for this meeting is the Health-for-All Policy for the 21st Century in the African Region. In order to achieve the objectives of such a policy, Africa will need more investment in the health sector, especially trained personnel. The current 16 doctors per 100,000 population is grossly inadequate.

The AU Commission is, therefore, proposing that the issue of brain drain in Africa be put on the agenda of the next World Health Assembly and eventually to the UN General Assembly. Highly and expensively trained medical personnel have become a free commodity for the developed countries. We know that brain drain cannot be stopped completely. Nevertheless, one way of ameliorating the situation is for the importer of trained human resources to compensate equitably for such export, and for incentives to be put in place in African countries to retain the professionals.

Your Excellency, the Minister of Defence of the Republic of South Africa, The Chairperson, Honourable Ministers,

The World Report on Violence and Health which was launched by the WHO in October 2002 is an important and long overdue initiative on a universal problem. With the widespread conflicts and poverty, Africa should welcome the report and take steps to implement the recommendations for action at local, national and international levels. In the same vein, the NEPAD Health Strategy should be adopted as, in essence, it is a strategy for developing health systems and reducing the huge burden of preventable morbidity, disability and mortality as well as reducing poverty. Member States should also support international efforts in mobilizing resources for the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, aimed at improving access to essential drugs, care, support and prevention.

Africa is a continent prone to disasters and emergencies, both natural and manmade. In this regard, I wish to reiterate that mechanisms for emergency preparedness and response need to be put in place at all levels. In this and other endeavours, the only way forward is through partnerships with the international community. The AU is committed to playing its role in developing these partnerships and in other programmes to promote health in Africa.

I will conclude by wishing you very fruitful deliberations and a happy stay in Johannesburg.

I thank you for your attention.

#### **ANNEX 9**

# ADDRESS BY DR JONG-WOOK LEE, DIRECTOR-GENERAL OF THE WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION

Madam Chair, Honourable Ministers, Distinguished Representatives, Colleagues,

I am honoured to be with you here in Johannesburg, and to join your discussions on our work in the 46 countries of the African Region.

It is in Africa that the fight against HIV/AIDS and other major killer diseases is at its most intense. Here, many are working in the hardest conditions, whether because of poverty, drought, epidemics, civil war or other disasters. The path to peace and progress often remains difficult, but as I have just seen in Angola over the past few days, the tireless pursuit of peace and stability can bring about change. We start now on the same route in Liberia.

The United Nations system is going through a testing time. We were profoundly shocked by the bombing of the UN premises in Baghdad and by the deaths and injuries of so many of our colleagues. Despite these terrible losses, we continue our missions with great determination.

#### Madam Chair,

I feel a great responsibility being in charge of WHO, an important part of the UN system, and grateful for all of your support and expressions of good wishes for success. Most pressingly now, success means achieving specific goals in disease control. That is part of a longer-term effort to rethink and rebuild health systems in countries and for the world as a whole. A very recent reminder of this effort has been the danger represented by the SARS epidemic. More devastating is the continued spread of HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria.

"Unequal development in different countries in the promotion of health and control of disease... is a common danger," our Constitution says. In some countries conditions associated with poverty are bringing life expectancy down to 40 years, while in others, wealth and health technology are enabling it to rise towards 80. Inequality on this scale is not just a danger, but an injustice to human well-being.

On this 25th anniversary of the Alma-Ata Declaration on Primary Health Care it is good to remind ourselves that health is for all. Everyone equally needs health,

and, when society fails massively through negligence to meet that need, it is in very serious trouble.

The greatest challenge facing us now is the catastrophe of HIV/AIDS. In the African Region, more than 30 million people are HIV positive. They urgently need treatment. It has to come through an integrated global HIV/AIDS strategy linking prevention, care and treatment. The components exist but they need to be focused on strengthening health system, so that their effect is cumulative.

I am working with local, national and international partners to design the necessary programmes. A major objective is "3 by 5": three million people on antiretrovirals by the end of 2005. "Three by five" will not solve the problem but it will mark the beginning of a solution, and prove that it is possible. A comprehensive strategy for making this happen will be announced on 1 December, World AIDS Day, three months from now, and our work with countries will be initiated immediately.

We are working with many partners, including UNAIDS and the Global Fund, to mobilize the resources to put these plans into action. It will require the commitment of civil society, United Nations agencies and the private sector. Above all, it will require the commitment of each one of us here today.

The work done towards eradicating polio has made a tremendous contribution to strengthening health infrastructure through community mobilization, and this work has contributed to disease surveillance and immunization against all the vaccine-preventable diseases. Pressing home this hard-won advantage to complete eradication during this year and next will also yield substantial dividends for the health services of every country.

The need for health care starts at birth. Protection during pregnancy, childbearing and motherhood forms the core of the health system. Half a million women die every year from giving birth. Skilled attendants are needed in pregnancy and childbirth, with access to emergency obstetric care when complications arise.

Despite the struggle of parents for their children's survival, ten million children in low- and middle-income countries die every year before reaching the age of five. Seven million of those deaths are from five preventable and treatable conditions: pneumonia, diarrhoea, malaria, measles and malnutrition. We can reduce this toll substantially by working with countries to build up strategies such as Making Pregnancy Safer and Integrated Management of Childhood Illnesses.

Malaria is the number one killer of children under five years old on the African continent. The disease is overshadowed by daily reports focussed on the HIV/AIDS plight. However, malaria remains a titanic health problem, and we have to do much

more. Reducing child mortality worldwide by two-thirds by 2015 is probably achievable, but it will not happen without major rethinking and commitment.

Surveillance systems showed their effectiveness in the eradication of smallpox and earlier this year in stopping the SARS epidemic. They are a key to success now, both for the eradication of polio and for the control of new and re-emerging infections. We also need to finalize the important work on the Revision of the International Health Regulations.

Meanwhile, noncommunicable diseases and injuries account for a growing share, now about 60%, of the burden of disease worldwide. In May, the World Health Assembly adopted the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. This was a global achievement in the fight against tobacco-related diseases. African countries took a united stand. The Convention has now been signed by 50 countries and ratified by one. It will give the world the means to protect people from tobacco harm by banning advertising, preventing smuggling, raising tobacco taxes and enforcing warning notices on packages. We must do everything we can to speed the process to the ratification by 40 countries that will bring the Convention into force.

The unbalanced nutrition now affecting all societies, rich and poor, poses a major challenge for health. Our objective is integrated approaches that work against malnutrition from deficiencies and excesses. The WHO Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health will be presented to the World Health Assembly next May.

This year's World Health Assembly reviewed the work of the Codex Alimentarius and concluded that the health sector should play a more prominent role in setting safety standards for food. The WHA also stressed that developing countries should be given more support to participate fully in the process of international food standard setting. In many cases this is a matter not just of food safety but of food security, of ensuring intake of the minimum calories essential for health.

Every year, more than a million people die in traffic crashes around the world, making it a leading cause of death in all regions. What is needed is to raise awareness and strengthen our response. World Health Day 2004 will be dedicated to road safety.

All that we are doing is reinforcing national health systems. Our work everywhere is important, but the real centre of it has to be countries. We have to give our country offices more people, more realistic budgets and more authority. At the same time, we also have to ensure sound management and financial practice as well as transparent budgeting. At Headquarters, all the Assistant Directors-General are

looking at the departments under their responsibility to see which of their activities could be better carried out in regional and country offices.

Overall, I want to see these changes come through in the 2006-2007 budget. They are a major objective for me because, having worked for 20 years in countries, regions and Headquarters, I can see very clearly that strengthening our work in countries is by far the most effective way to achieve our goals.

Health systems depend most of all on skilled and dedicated personnel, and here we face big challenges, particularly in this Region, which, on top of everything else, suffers heavy losses to the brain drain. It is, above all, good staff that will enable us to reach "3 by 5" and achieve the millennium development goals, and everyone is short of human resources. We will be working closely with countries on innovative methods to train, deploy and supervise health workers, with particular emphasis on the community and primary health care level. That is where we can make the swiftest progress in getting results, but we cannot neglect the needs of hospitals and laboratories in the process.

In most countries, the systems for providing reliable health information are also inadequate. This is one area in which the trend is on our side: the means for building effective information systems are becoming more powerful and more affordable all the time. I believe this problem can be effectively addressed with the health metrics network being formed by the WHO information partnership with Member States, foundations, the World Bank and UNICEF.

#### Madam Chair,

Over the years, WHO has built up strong and effective working relations with governments, foundations, nongovernmental organizations, the private sector and fellow multilateral organizations. Our work depends on partnerships; some long-standing and some more recent. By combining our strengths, we can do so much more.

There is a commitment to partnership by global leaders on a scale we have not seen before. At the United Nations Millennium Summit in September 2000, the global community committed itself to eight goals. Three of them were directly about health: to reduce child mortality, improve maternal health and control major infectious diseases. The five others are about poverty, education, gender equality, the environment and global partnership. All these, as we have seen, have a direct bearing on health. We need to make the most of these opportunities in Africa by working closely with the New Partnership for African Development (NEPAD).

Madam Chair, Honourable Ministers,

I look forward to listening to your debate. I shall be returning to Africa in November to take forward some of these themes at the informal session of the WHO Executive Board that the Ghanaian Government has so kindly offered to host, the first such occasion outside Europe.

Better health for all of the nearly 700 million people of this Region is our common goal. Let's work to achieve this.

Thank you.

# KEYNOTE SPEECH BY HONOURABLE MOSIUOA LEKOTA, MINISTER OF DEFENCE, REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Programme Director, Dr Zweli Mkhize,

Honourable Minister of Health, Republic of South Africa, Dr Mantombizana Tshabalala-Msimang,

Chairperson of the fifty-second session of the Regional Committee and Minister of Public Health, Cameroon, Honourable Mr Olanguena Awono Urbain,

Honourable Ministers of Health of the WHO African Region,

WHO Director-General, Dr Jong-Wook Lee,

WHO Regional Director for Africa, Dr Ebrahim Samba,

Representative of the African Union,

Members of the diplomatic corps and invited guests,

Distinguished Delegates,

Ladies and Gentlemen,

It is a privilege and an honour for me to speak at this auspicious meeting, the fifty-third session of the WHO Regional Committee for Africa, on behalf of my government.

South Africa is very appreciative of the decision by the fifty-second session of the Regional Committee to hold its fifty-third session in our country. South Africa wholeheartedly welcomes you. It is also significant to us that this meeting is held at a time when our country is on the verge of celebrating ten years of democracy and freedom. It is a democracy and freedom that the whole of Africa contributed to, and our people are thankful for your contribution.

I would like to assure you, Honourable Ministers, that President Thabo Mbeki, whom you met last night, would have loved to open this meeting himself, but other engagements outside the country, made this impossible. His commitment to Africa and its development, is, however, unquestioned.

It often puzzles me that we live with so much inequity in the world, and the gap between the rich and poor is getting wider and wider and yet we have enough resources in this world for everyone to have access to a basic package of health care. The second thing which puzzles me is the number of professional and skilled workers that developing countries are losing to developed nations on a daily basis, and there is no hope that we can compete with the kind of salaries that are offered by these rich countries. Although everyone has a right to sell one's labor to the highest bidder, this is one of the negative implications of globalization that is destabilizing our economies and, in particular, our health systems. Thirdly, our over-burdened health care systems are squaking under new and re-emerging epidemics. These new

diseases are putting a further strain on our health systems, especially when many developed countries did not achieve health for all by 2000 as envisaged at Alma-Ata. The fourth thing is to encourage African countries to collaborate with on another more than signing service level agreements with overseas countries. Finally, we have sufficient policy and institutional frameworks to coordinate our work in every sector on the continent using programmes such as the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD).

If this meeting can find some answers to some of these puzzles and challenges, we would really have gone a long way towards addressing the health problems on the continent.

Africa continues to face major challenges and problems. Poverty and ill-health continue unabated, while political instability, civil strife and war exacerbate these. Our continent continues to have a high burden of communicable diseases. Tuberculosis continues to grow. We are prone to epidemics such as meningitis, cholera, and Ebola, and noncommunicable diseases are on the increase. In addition, our weak health care infrastructure and human resource constraints make it difficult to respond to these major challenges.

Strong leadership is thus needed if the health sector is to realize the targets of the millennium development goals and various WHO resolutions. That leadership is right here in this room, in the form of African health ministers, the WHO and all partners that seek to advance the health of all people on our continent. This year we saw this leadership in action, in the efficient and effective manner with which governments and WHO handled the SARS epidemic. The threat of SARS, which had a potential to create a global economic havoc was contained with military precision. The world was once again reminded of the importance of public health in economic activity.

As an important player in world health, WHO, the Regional Office for Africa and health workers, in particular, must ensure that there is sustained pressure to achieve the following:

- (a) realization and enhancement of the stewardship role of governments in mobilizing and harnessing the required resources of government, civil society, the private sector and regional and international partners for health development;
- (b) strengthening health systems and services so that they can provide effective and equitable health care built on evidence-based public health practice, including traditional medicine.

As Minister of Defence, I am acutely aware that all the efforts of my colleagues, the ministers of health, will be in vain, if war, conflict and poor governance continue to plague Africa. Africa has a duty to end all conflicts to allow for its children to prosper. No country can comply with the principles of good governance unless conditions for good governance are in place. The African Union and sub-regional formations like SADC and ECOWAS fully appreciate the need for peace and stability on the African continent. ECOWAS has been responding to many crises in West Africa, while SADC Heads of State recently signed the SADC Mutual Defence Pact which is meant to enable SADC countries to respond swiftly to the threat of war. South Africa is also making its contribution to the maintenance of peace through the promotion of dialogue and as part of peacekeeping forces. As a country that previously experienced unrest, we are fully aware of the negative impact that conflict has on human development. We believe that peace is precious and should be protected at all costs. In addition to war and conflict, violence is also a threat to our development. The violent death rate in Africa is estimated at 60.9 per 100 000 population. This is over twice the global rate and substantially higher than for other regions, such as Latin America and eastern Europe, where violence is also a major public health issue. This is violence in the form of homicide, rape, the abuse and neglect of children, violence against women and violence against the elderly.

The second summit of the African Union responded to this challenge, in July this year, in Maputo, by adopting a resolution encouraging governments to respond to violence in all its forms as a priority public health challenge for countries in the region. This resolution endorses in their entirety the nine recommendations proposed by the WHO in the *World Report on Violence and Health*. I would like to add my support to the containment of these very pervasive forms of violence that are difficult for governments to control as many take place in the confines of our homes.

The African Union programme, the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD) has been designed specifically to promote development and good governance. It is a product of our continent that allows all spheres of society to contribute to a broader goal of self-sustenance. NEPAD, adopted by the African Union as its development strategy, was described as "a pledge by African leaders, based on a common vision and a firm and shared conviction, that they have a pressing duty to eradicate poverty and to place their countries, both individually and collectively, on a path of sustainable growth and development." This statement encompasses all projects and programmes that the AU develops. In this context, human development is the key to the success of the AU itself. Appropriate human resource development, recruitment and retention for sustainable health systems that are responsive to people's needs are crucial elements of the NEPAD Health Strategy. I am very pleased with the attention that the Regional Office has given to the NEPAD Health Strategy, both in prioritizing it as a strategy and in providing technical support for its development. We have noted with pleasure the report of the Conference of Ministers of Health of the AU held in Tripoli earlier this year where the NEPAD Health Strategy was endorsed, and especially noted that it incorporated an initial programme of action. We now look forward to the implementation of this programme of action. In this regard, the President of South Africa offers his full support and assures you that health is prioritized by the Heads of State of Africa.

It is also pleasing to note that the G8 leaders have prioritized health. In Kananaskas, the G8 Africa Plan was presented and it included health. In Evian, African Heads of State emphasized the need to support health systems, and not just disease control, and the G8 leaders supported this proposal.

In April this year, the defence forces of a number of SADC countries had the pleasure of collaborating with the SADC health sector in the Racing Against Malaria project. This was a major advocacy and educational initiative that raised awareness for malaria in our sub-region. Teams from nine SADC countries traveled from as far as Angola, Mozambique and South Africa to Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, and the defence forces in the region provided logistical, vehicular and other support. This was a practical example of intersectoral collaboration and showed how resources residing in defence forces can be used for civil purposes, in this case the promotion of health. We stand ready to assist the health sector where this is possible.

Honourable Ministers, the agenda for this fifty-third session of the Regional Committee is well structured to address most of the health problems that I have alluded to. I am also confident that with your strong leadership and experience you will make this meeting a success. You are fully aware of the challenges you face, and I wish you well in your deliberations. Let us all, as leaders, professionals, workers and citizens work to eliminate underdevelopment so that we can lead our countries to prosperity and reduce hunger and ultimately disease and ill-health.

I thank you.

## STATEMENT BY PHILIPPE BUSQUIN, EUROPEAN COMMISSIONER IN CHARGE OF RESEARCH

Madam Chairperson,
Honourable Ministers,
Your Excellency the Prime Minister,
WHO Director-General,
WHO Regional Director,
Ladies and Gentlemen,

It gives me immense pleasure to be gathered with you today, here in Johannesburg, at the annual meeting of the WHO Regional Committee for Africa. You are representatives of 46 countries and you make up an active force of Africa that has taken the bull by the horn in deciding to work in harness to face up to the major health challenges of our century. I thank you for having given me the floor. Indeed, I consider myself as one of your colleagues, because I was, myself, Minister of Health, prior to my appointment as European Commissioner in charge of the research policy of Europe.

Research and health complement one another in public health improvement. Today, there are just few efficacious drugs and no vaccine available for the three major communicable diseases that are of such importance to the world, especially to your respective countries. Controlling, AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria and preventing, diagnosing and effectively treating them, are the primary objectives being pursued by ministers of health. Research is an activity that complements your work and forms part of a same strategy. Research should lead to the discovery of new, efficacious and affordable drugs, and should propose new therapeutic strategies on drugs that are already known and are deemed appropriate for health services, taking account of cultural specificities.

I believe that instead of working in isolation from one another, which is no longer possible, we should work in close collaboration within the framework of a sustainable North-South partnership in order to create synergies between us. A major effort in research is needed if we should succeed in fighting those three diseases. That is a priority of your countries. In the Abuja Declaration adopted in April 2000, African Heads of State made a commitment to increase their efforts in order to reduce malaria cases by 50% by the year 2010 and, by so doing, fight against poverty. That is a priority of Europe as well. I would like to give you, in a few words, some concrete examples of what we have already achieved together.

#### Malaria

For a long time, we have been supporting malaria research, focusing specifically on the development of new products, vaccines or drugs for controlling malaria and on the problem of drug resistance. I wish to give you an idea of the actions we have undertaken so far. Under the last European framework programme (1998-2002), we implemented 26 different research projects on malaria at a cost of over 30 million Euros. Nearly one hundred research institutions based in 15 African countries, 11 European countries and five Asian and South American countries participated in the project. That is a concrete illustration of the partnerships that we have already established and that we would need to intensify.

The publication, last October, of the complete genome of *Plasmodium falciparum* and of the anopheles mosquito, the malaria vector, gives unprecedented hope to everyone working in this area.

A specific example of a research project being jointly implemented by Gabon, Cameroon and three European countries, namely France, Denmark and Netherlands, is a clinical trial on a drug that has demonstrated its efficacy *in vitro*. The drug is tested at different doses in order to evaluate the minimum efficacious dose and the possible side effects. The efficacy of that drug is also tested in combination with other antimalarial drugs in order to evaluate the reduction of treatment duration and the risk of resistance. Should the tests turn out to be positive, a new drug can be developed within three years.

#### **Tuberculosis**

For many years, we have been financing several tuberculosis projects, focusing either on the development of new drugs or on tuberculosis vaccines. BCG is a vaccine that provides some degree of protection to children but its efficacy varies, considerably, from one person to another and the vaccine hardly gives any protection in the case of adults. That is why it is necessary to develop a more efficacious vaccine. In this regard, one of our projects is working on the discovery of new vaccine molecules. That project involves nearly 40 leading research groups working in this field and based in 11 different countries. It is a beautiful basic research project coordinated by *Institut Pasteur* of Paris. Another project, this time on applied research, has just started and seeks to test a new vaccine for tuberculosis in West Africa. This project which is being implemented in partnership with Senegal and Gambia will also help to prepare two high-risk groups of people for future clinical trials on a larger scale.

The budget allocated for tuberculosis under the current European research programme is five times higher than in the past, which gives evidence of the strong commitment of the European Union to the fight against tuberculosis.

#### **AIDS**

In Africa, AIDS prevalence varies considerably from one country to another. For example, Senegal and Uganda have succeeded in containing the AIDS epidemic through coordination of all actors and implementation of specific and effective measures that are regularly reevaluated. The European Commission funded the first epidemiological studies on HIV way back to the 1980s. The types of HIV virus found in Europe differ from those found in Africa. Virus types also differ between countries even within Africa. However, no relationship has been established, as yet, between the virus subtypes and the pace of progression of the disease. In contrast, the results of the virus variability studies that we financed between 1994 and 1998 are of major value to AIDS vaccine research.

One of our projects that was implemented in Tanzania has demonstrated that co-infection with other sexually-transmitted diseases such as syphilis and gonorrhoea facilitates the onset of ulceration and, therefore, the penetration of the virus. It has shown, as well, that the treatment and prevention of other sexually transmitted diseases reduce AIDS transmission by about 50%.

Furthermore, since many women face difficulties in negotiating with their partners on the use of condoms, other measures of protection should be considered and evaluated. In this regard, the European Commission funded a project in Uganda and has just selected two research projects on microbicides acknowledged by an international panel of experts as being very promising. The two projects will start shortly and we expect them to prove the efficacy and safety of the microbicides among the women who would use them. Should this work on microbicides yield positive results, that would provide an excellent alternative to the use of male condoms.

#### A more structured programme

These many and varying projects that I have already mentioned have helped create active partnership with many African countries. Today, however, I would like to present to you a much more structured programme. The Commission has acknowledged the urgent need to establish an extensive programme of action that would make for a comprehensive and multisectoral approach to controlling major poverty-related diseases. The programme has three complementary components forming a coherent whole:

- (1) Research that will help accelerate the development of more efficacious new vaccines and drugs;
- (2) Health and development component that aims to improve the impact of existing health interventions (that is why the Commission has pledged its

contribution to the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria);

(3) Commercial policy intended to make essential drugs more affordable.

This cross-cutting action encompassing different policies is probably the only one of its kind, worldwide. None of these three components can operate independently of the others.

Before addressing the issue of research, I should like to commend the progress made in Geneva in the commercial field.

### **European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP)**

Under the research component, the fight against the three major poverty-related diseases is a priority of our 2002-2006 research programme which is meant to be globally-oriented. The European Commission will support one of the biggest research activities ever financed by a community research programme, i.e. Partnership of European countries and developing countries on clinical trials.

The goal of the EDCTP is to speed up the development of new clinical interventions to fight AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria. Today, available drugs are not well suited to developing countries; malaria drugs are becoming less and less efficacious as a result of increasing parasite resistance; AIDS drugs are too expensive and pose too many constraints as regards their administration and; tuberculosis treatment takes too long time and requires ingestion of three-to-four antibiotics over a period of more than six months. We should therefore find new drugs appropriate to Africa's specificities as regards the local strains of microbes, the habits and the cultural traditions in order that treatment can be well followed by patients and be suited to existing health systems. In other words, account should be taken of local specificities like problems of distribution or cold chain availability.

There is need to carry out clinical trials in Africa even though the trials are both complex and costly. Working in partnership will accelerate progress and enable shared costs and investment.

#### Close partnership between countries of Europe and countries of Africa

European scientists and African scientists have been working in harness since almost the past two years to prepare the blueprint of this programme. Several structures demonstrating the will to collaborate have been set up.

 The first structure is the Developing Countries Coordinating Committee which is composed of 15 scientists specialized in these diseases and representing the various regions of Africa. The aim of the Committee is to network clinical trials research activities in Africa. The Committee has already convened on several occasions. The most recent meeting of the Committee was held in Maputo last July on the invitation of the Prime Minister of Mozambique, Dr Mocumbi.

- The second structure is the committee of partners comprising four African and four European scientists on equal footing, and to which four other experts will be co-opted, based on their additional scientific expertise, by the first eight scientists. This committee of partners was selected last autumn following an international recruitment exercise and these persons are scientists of the highest calibre. This committee will have the task of defining the strategy and plans of action of EDCTP.
- The third structure is the setting up of the African Secretariat of the EDCTP which should be undertaken at the beginning of the year 2004, also following an international recruitment exercise, which I urge you to widely publicize.

EDCTP is a pilot programme in many ways. It is based on a real long-term south-north partnership. EDCTP is based on the real needs of developing countries, with the priorities determined by the countries themselves. It is the largest clinical trials programme ever to be implemented in Africa, with a total budget of 600 million euros. For the first time, 14 countries of the European Union, together with Norway, took the initiative with the support of the European Commission to come together to coordinate their national research programmes in the area of diseases of poverty.

#### Implementation schedule of the EDCTP

This programme will be developed on the short-, medium- and long-term basis. In the short-term, the initiative envisages the launch of the first set of initiatives whose objective is to strengthen clinical research capacities in your countries through a transfer of technologies and skills. This capacity building effort also constitutes one of the resolutions passed in Cape Town last July by all your colleagues, the ministers responsible for research. Support will also be provided in the area of training of researchers and clinicians to strengthen human resources available locally. These two immediate measures will make it possible to guarantee the long-term viability of the EDCTP programme. In addition, African researchers themselves will have to identify the needs of the local populations, for they know their environment and the additional efforts required better.

In the medium-term, the first clinical trials will probably be launched in three or four initially selected sites. These large-scale trials will be conducted in countries where the disease is endemic, and under real local clinical and biological conditions. It is the only way to obtain results that would directly benefit the most affected

populations. In the long-term, the programme will entail the development of new large-scale interventions for tests that will read positive in the course of clinical trials. This important initiative clearly demonstrates Europe's commitment to build a partnership with you in order to help you fight these diseases.

## Concrete actions on the part of Africa

During the final declaration of the second summit of the African Union, the heads of state confirmed that the fight against HIV/AIDS, malaria and tuberculosis were a priority for the continent. Greater assistance from the international community was also emphasized. The burden of these diseases and their impact on the population is excessively heavy. It could even wipe off certain development initiatives, even though they are programmed in NEPAD and the G8 plan.

Today, I bring to you Europe's offer of support. It is not possible to fight against these three diseases without new interventions that are adapted to the African population. In order to develop these vaccines and drugs, it is necessary to undertake research in Africa. As I emphasized at the beginning of my statement, research is complementary to actions on the international trade regulations, to actions facilitating access to existing affordable drugs and, especially, to development actions embodied in the NEPAD plan of action. Partnership between European countries and developing countries is a partnership that will make it possible to undertake clinical research in Africa, for Africans, and with African scientists.

Its success, Your Excellencies, depends on your support, evinced through certain specific actions that demonstrate your unambiguous political support for this important project.

In the short-term, as part of efforts to build the capacity of research centres, you could develop a national policy to enable more doctors, pharmacists or laboratory technicians to undergo further scientific training in order to specialize in the area of research and become competent researchers. This will make it possible to have a larger number of high calibre national scientists from your countries capable of spending their working life in their countries of origin. I have just visited two very promising research centres at Mbeya in Tanzania and at Manhiça in Mozambique, and other quality centres also exist.

In the medium term, still as part of capacity building, you could include the medical research project on the three major diseases of poverty in your national priority list and thus receive additional funding, for example through the European Development Fund. This would make it possible to strengthen the facilities of clinical research centres, which could also serve as reference laboratory to the health facilities of the Region.

Clinical sites should be organized in the major African sub-regions in order to facilitate the sharing of certain facilities and networking within each sub-region. In the initial phase, EDCTP will support a clinical site per sub-region. Scientists will prepare the list of selection criteria. This will include strong support from government and the national departments involved in the EDCTP which will greatly facilitate the development of a research centre of promise. Operating on a sub-regional basis will facilitate cooperation with NEPAD, which is essential for complementing research actions with development actions. Even though EDCTP's budget may be substantial, the funds meant for research could not be used to finance either the facilities or the construction of buildings.

Furthermore, the EDCTP will comply with the basic ethical rules, in particular, informed consent of patients, respect of confidentiality and post-trials care for participating persons. Organization of appropriate procedures and participation of the population will require the cooperation of local authorities. I am impressed by the experience garnered in the projects I have just visited in Mbeya and in Manhiça.

Additionally, in developing countries there is the question of making available to the local populations the products found to be effective at the end of clinical trials. This will be encouraged whenever possible.

In the long-term, at the end of a clinical trial, it is desirable for local health authorities in a close partnership with researchers to pursue care activities for clinical trial participants. During the trial period, participants receive special attention in terms of care and prevention. Hence we feel that it is the duty of the health institutions of countries to continue this activity after clinical trials.

Furthermore, in the case of clinical trials that have positive results, the national authorities of the country should facilitate access to the new product for the people needing treatment.

All these actions will clearly signal our political support in participating in this medical research programme and, finally, improve the health of your population. But let us not raise people's hope too soon. Research is a long-term process. One needs time, funds, competent scientists and, not the least, a strong political commitment, from both the developing and developed countries.

#### Collaboration with the World Health Organization (WHO)

I also want to point out the importance of a close collaboration with WHO. Immediately upon taking up my function as Commissioner of Research, I was

determined to strengthen ties with WHO in the control of diseases of poverty, for example through public health.

I am encouraged by the support that WHO has given to our actions from the outset. And I have high expectations that the new Director-General will help in getting African policy makers and scientists to participate in this effort and to invest in their research and development capacities.

### Private/Public partnership

Finally, it is essential to create new, lasting private-public partnerships to enable manufacturers to invest in drugs that are "economic orphans". Manufacturers' know-how for the clinical development of drugs is very precious, even indispensable. The establishment of new forms of solid and effective collaboration with industry is a key condition for the success of EDCTP. I believe I can even go further today, and inform you that some industrialists have already decided to actively support our clinical trials project. I invite those who are yet to support this effort to do so right away.

### Ladies and Gentlemen, Ministers,

I conclude my statement by saying that we absolutely need to take our partnership deeper right away if we want research to eventually deliver. Together we shall win! I also urge you to mobilize all your colleagues in government so that research and clinical trials will be included as a national priority in global development efforts. This resolution will allow, in your countries, the coordination of health policies with that of research and development, just as we have done in our plan of action in Europe. In supporting research, you are paving the way for scientists to discover new products adapted to the health problems of today. You will thus be preparing the future of the young generations, for whom, we hope, drugs and vaccines will be available and, who, thanks to our common efforts, will bear a lighter burden than their older generations.

# STATEMENT BY DR PASCOAL MOCUMBI, PRIME MINISTER, REPUBLIC OF MOZAMBIQUE

Madam Chairperson,
The WHO Regional Director for Africa,
The European Commissioner,
Honourable Ministers,
Excellencies Members of the Diplomatic Corps and International Organizations,
Distinguished Delegates,
Ladies and Gentlemen,

It gives me great pleasure to address this gathering of ministers of health of countries of the WHO African Region at this important session of the WHO Regional Committee for Africa convened to address critical issues of health development of the Member States. Being in government, and as a health professional, I have a sense of belonging to the effort that you have been making in the quest for better health for the people of Africa. With the technical support and leadership of WHO/AFRO, the African Region has made considerable progress in disease control and in health promotion and advocacy.

I wish to congratulate the WHO/AFRO team which, under the leadership of Dr Ebrahim Samba, has continued to provide support to countries by giving methodological orientations for the various health programmes being implemented in each of our countries. That continuing support becomes even more appreciable if we consider that, within a relatively short period of time, the Regional Office has had to relocate on more than two occasions due to circumstances.

Also deserving congratulations are the ministers of health and their health teams as well as all the health professionals who, through selflessness, abnegation and dedication, have continued to promote, restore and maintain the health of the African populations, often at the cost of their own lives, especially in situations of conflicts and/or epidemics.

All these efforts notwithstanding, the health status of the people of Africa leaves much to be desired and, in some cases, social indicators have worsened. On record, Africa has the highest maternal and perinatal mortality rates worldwide. Similarly, the incidences of acute or chronic malnutrition, hunger and poverty are unacceptably high. Over and above this gloomy picture of misery, some citizens in Africa continue to live in fear due to crime wave and armed conflicts which hamper the progress of our nations. The achievement of peace and political stability and the promotion of social

development are the most complex challenges that Africans must address, without delay, in this first decade of the third millenium.

In the light of the above, the Heads of State and Government of the African Union, at their very recent gathering at a Summit in Maputo, specifically addressed the issues of health and development, in addition to the important decisions that they had to take concerning the institutionalization of organs of the African Union.

Africa's political leaders showed evidence of the importance they attach to health in the context of regional development when they devoted a special session to HIV/AIDS, with worldwide participation, through videoconferencing, of people from all walks of life, including public health experts, donor agencies, academics, governments and their agencies, civil society organizations and persons living with HIV/AIDS.

That is why I have no doubt, and can state with conviction that we are going through a period of change and that there is now convergence of opinion on the crucial role of health in Africa's socioeconomic development process.

Madam Chairperson, Honourable Ministers,

The greatest challenge that we face today is how best to implement the health-related decisions that were taken by organs of the African Union and WHO bodies with a view to achieving the Millenium Development Goals. We believe that the NEPAD framework is the answer to that challenge. We should bear in mind, however, that NEPAD, all alone, cannot meet that challenge. What we need to do is to articulate the NEPAD "ideology" in national and subregional development policies and programmes. It is only by so doing, that we can successfully build an African Union that strengthens integration as has been the case of the Southern African Development Community (SADC). The adoption of strategic subregional health platforms is an option already identified and deserving to be further explored and consolidated.

To that end, we will have to improve our technical capacity to translate the policy statements of our leaders into specific, coherent, technically-sound and evidence-based health plans and programmes that take account of not only the success factors but also the related challenges. These processes require greater institutional capacity to satisfactorily formulate, implement and evaluate our interventions. That is why we should face up to the arduous task of mobilizing additional resources to strengthen health systems in each country and provide them with duly empowered human resources.

In the NEPAD context, training, consolidation and retention of qualified and motivated human resources for the social and economic sectors deserve attention, given the current trend of excessive brain drain in our Region. In the health sector, the problem of brain drain has special dimensions since the sector is characteristically labour-intensive. We should therefore examine this problem and find solutions that are appropriate in the NEPAD context. We should also examine initiatives proposed in the approach suggested in the report of the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health.

In the experience of Mozambique, the State owes it as a duty to improve the health status and health conditions of the population especially through primary health care and community participation. However, it has proved to be extremely difficult to mobilize sufficient domestic resources for the health sector because the majority of the population live below the absolute poverty line. In that respect, and based on the report of the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health, which aimed to assess the role of health in the overall context of economic development, I deem it essential that we think of designing new recurrent cost recovery models and mechanisms to improve the organization and management of health services and promote partnerships between the public sector and the private sector.

From another angle, and taking account of the response of the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health, we acknowledge that countries do have health policies at national level, defined by their respective governments as well as established national coordination mechanisms. Thus, the essence would be to analyze the monitoring mechanisms based on our common performance indicators and under the leadership of countries. However, I must emphasize that the report on Macroeconomics and Health is well grounded on the necessity of additional efforts for mobilizing, both internally and externally, more financial resources for health with a view to increasing investment in the health sector. This investment must have tangible medium- and long- term benefits. To that end, the investment must be relevant. Resources must be channeled to health problems that create major social burden. It must benefit populations that are most vulnerable and at heightened risk. It must cover areas with direct impact on health like for example, water, hygiene, environment, basic infrastructures, education and gender.

Governments are also concerned with improving the health systems performance as a prerequisite for achieving the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). We need to operate and manage our health services in line with concrete and measurable results, even with scarce resources that characterize our economies.

Our approach must be evidence-based. Only in this way will we succeed in selecting the most effective options for achieving the objectives we target. Thus, research cannot be avoided. It is precisely because we are poor, that we have to build research capacity in our countries. We must take concrete steps to make this objective materialize. To date, investment in research has been insignificant in the majority of the member states of the Region. To us, opting for health research is the correct approach for our Region. For example, the potential that African traditional medicine offers by way of solution and/or mitigation of serious health problems, like HIV/AIDS, still remains essentially unexplored. On the other hand, operational research is not receiving its deserved attention, mainly from decision-makers and health managers. We must find a platform of effective communication between African researchers and scientists and those taking decisions regarding policies and strategies, for, in fact, the definition of research agenda and priorities needs to be a participative process.

My country had the opportunity to host a meeting of African scientists who are members of the Developing Countries Coordinating Committee (DCCC) involved in the European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP). We are extremely impressed by the quality and depth of their proposals on how to push forward African participation in research on new tools, namely vaccines and drugs, for controlling diseases mostly affecting the poor, which are more neglected by research programmes of the pharmaceutical industry for being "unprofitable".

Discussing with members of this coordination committee, we learn that there are many research centers in Africa working without contact with their counterparts both within the country as well as between countries and sub-regions.

There is a ray of hope in the horizons, resulting from the coordination committee, that can trigger the development of a network of research institutions and promote south-south cooperation.

We are therefore of the opinion that it is urgent to mobilize political support for ongoing research and development initiatives in Africa.

The research development initiative (EDCTP) in the area of health in Africa is timely and constitutes a concrete response to the appeal of NEPAD. The initiative is positive and a catalyst in regard to health research. We already need therefore to reflect on sustainability of research programmes in Africa.

Madam Chairperson,

Your Excellencies,

The road before us demands that we put to use the synergies and meeting of minds offered by present situations and international climate. We need to own the leadership of all the processes orientated by the spirit of NEPAD. We have the historic responsibility to bring African renaissance to fruition.

Aware of our possibilities and limitations, if we integrate a research component into our development plans and programmes, we will be able to produce data and use them to solve the problems plaguing our fight for progress and the well-being of African people and against absolute poverty.

Diseases are no respecters of borders. In the face of this reality, it is urgent to harmonize disease control methodologies at common borders of neighbouring countries. In southern part of Africa, South Africa, Mozambique and Swaziland have a common malaria control programme that is already producing health benefits and from which important lessons could be learnt in regard to cooperation between countries.

I seize this opportunity to reiterate the importance of committing the African continent to continually ameliorate its internal mechanisms for solving health problems and promote research as well as establish coordination mechanisms, create regional and continent-wide research networks, with emphasis on human capacity-building, motivate health personnel and improve health infrastructures. This is the path that would bring us the best health systems and better operationality.

To conclude, I would like to appreciate the hospitality of South Africa and salute her positive role as the coordinating country of the health sector of the SADC sub-region and wish fruitful deliberation to all the participants of the 53rd session of the Regional Committee of the World Health Organization.

Thank you.

# DRAFT PROVISIONAL AGENDA OF THE FIFTY-FOURTH SESSION OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE

- 1. Opening of the meeting
- 2. Constitution of the Subcommittee on Nominations
- 3. Election of the Chairperson, the Vice-Chairpersons and the Rapporteurs
- 4. Adoption of the Agenda
- 5. Appointment of members of the Subcommittee on Credentials
- 6. The Work of WHO in the African Region 2002-2003: Biennial Report of the Regional Director:
  - 6.1 Implementation of the Programme Budget 2002-2003
  - 6.2 Progress reports on specific resolutions:
    - (a) Regional strategy for the development of human resources for health
    - (b) Strategic health research plan for the WHO African Region
    - (c) Blood safety: A strategy for the African Region
    - (d) Regional strategy for immunization during the period 2003-2005
    - (e) Health promotion: A strategy for the African Region
    - (f) Regional strategy for emergency and humanitarian action
- 7. Election of the Regional Director
- 8. Correlation between the work of the Regional Committee, the Executive Board and the World Health Assembly:
  - 8.1 Ways and means of implementing resolutions of regional interest adopted by the World Health Assembly and the Executive Board
  - 8.2 Agendas of the one-hundred-and fifteenth session of the Executive Board and the Fifty-eighth World Health Assembly: regional implications
  - 8.3 Method of work and duration of the World Health Assembly
- 9. Report of the Programme Subcommittee
  - 9.1 Proposed Programme Budget 2006-2007
  - 9.2 Accelerating the implementation of malaria control during the period 2005–2010

- 9.3 Repositioning family planning in reproductive health programmes: framework for accelerated action, 2005-2010
- 9.4 Strengthening national health information systems
- 9.5 Occupational health: situational analysis and perspectives
- 9.6 Improving access to care and treatment of people living with HIV/AIDS
- 9.7 Health research in the African Region: current situation, challenges and perspectives
- 10. Round Tables
  - 10.1 Child Sexual Abuse: a silent emergency
  - 10.2 Challenges to improving the nutrition situation in the African Region
- 11. Report of the Round Tables
- 12. Procedural decisions
- 13. Dates and places of the fifty-fifth and fifty-sixth sessions of the Regional Committee
- 14. Adoption of the report of the Regional Committee
- 15. Closure of the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee.

# **ANNEX 14**

# LIST OF DOCUMENTS

AFR/RC53/1 Rev.2	Agenda
AFR/RC53/1 Add.1 Rev.2	Programme of work of the Regional Committee
AFR/RC53/2	The Work of WHO in the African Region 2002: Report of the Regional Director
AFR/RC53/3	Ways and means of implementing resolutions of regional interest adopted by the World Health Assembly and the Executive Board
AFR/RC53/4	Agendas of the one-hundred-and-thirteenth session of the Executive Board, the Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly and the fifty-fourth session of the Regional Committee
AFR/RC53/5	Method of work and duration of the World Health Assembly
AFR/RC53/6	Programme of work of the Programme Subcommittee
AFR/RC53/7	Report of the Programme Subcommittee
AFR/RC53/8 Rev. 1	Macroeconomics and health: The way forward in the African Region
AFR/RC53/9 Rev. 1	Strengthening the role of hospitals in national health systems
AFR/RC53/10 Rev. 1	Injury prevention and control in the African Region: Current situation and agenda for action
AFR/RC53/11 Rev. 1	Women's health: A strategy for the African Region
AFR/RC53/12 Rev. 1	Food safety and health: Situation analysis and perspectives
AFR/RC53/13 Rev. 1	Scaling up interventions against HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria
AFR/RC53/RT/1	Laboratory services in the provision of quality health care
AFR/RC53/RT/2	Safe motherhood: Improving access to emergency obstetric care
AFR/RC53/RT/3	Emergency and humanitarian action: Improving the effectiveness of health interventions

AFR/RC53/14 Evaluation of the implementation of Resolution

WHA51.31-Regular budget allocations to regions

AFR/RC53/15 Qualifications and selection of the Regional Director

AFR/RC53/16 Report of the Round Tables

AFR/RC53/17 Dates and places of the fifty-fourth and fifty-fifth

sessions of the Regional Committee

AFR/RC53/18 Adoption of the report of the Regional Committee

AFR/RC53/19 List of Participants

AFR/RC53/20 Procedural Decisions

Decision 1: Composition of the Subcomittee on Nominations

Decision 2: Election of the Chairperson, the Vice-Chairperson and

the Rapporteurs

Decision 3: Composition of the Subcomittee on Credentials

Decision 4: Credentials

Decision 5: Replacement of members of the Programme

Subcommittee

Decision 6: Provisional agenda of the fifty-fourth session of the

Regional Committee

Decision 7: Agendas of the one-hundred-and-thirteenth session of

the Executive Board

Decision 8: Method of work and duration of the Fifty-seventh

World Health Assembly

Decision 9: Choice of subjects for the Round Tables in 2004

Decision 10: Dates and places of the fifty-fourth and fifty-fifth

sessions of the Regional Committee

Decision 11: Nomination of representatives of the African Region to

the Policy and Coordination Committee (PCC) of the Special Programme of Research, Development and

Research Training in Human Reproduction (HPR)

Decision 12: Nomination of representatives of the African Region on

the Steering Committee of the Roll Back Malaria

Partnership Board

Decision 13: Qualifications and selection of the Regional Director

AFR/RC53/R1: Macroeconomics and health: the way forward in the

African Region

AFR/RC53/R2: Strengthening the role of hospitals in national health

systems

AFR/RC53/R3: Injury prevention and control in the African Region:

Current

situation and agenda for action

AFR/RC53/R4: Women's health: A strategy for the African Region

AFR/RC53/R5: Food safety and health: Situation analysis and

perspectives

AFR/RC53/R6: Scaling up the interventions related to HIV/AIDS,

tuberculosis and malaria

AFR/RC53/R7: Vote of thanks

AFR/RC53/SCC/1 Report of the Subcommittee on Credentials

AFR/RC53/Conf.Doc/1 Speech by Dr Manto Tshabalala-Msimang, Minister of

Health, South Africa

AFR/RC53/Conf.Doc/2 Speech of Professor Rasamindrakotroka Andry,

Minister of Health, Republic of Madagascar

AFR/RC53/Conf.Doc/3 Statement by Ambassador Mahamat H. Doutoum,

African Union interim Commissioner for Social Affairs

and AFRP-Arab Cooperation

AFR/RC53/Conf.Doc/4-5 Address by Dr Jong-Wook Lee, Director-General of the

World Health Organization

AFR/RC53/Conf.Doc/6 Keynote speech by Honourable Mosiuoa Lekota,

Minister of Defence, Republic of South Africa

AFR/RC53/INF/01 Information bulletin for the Republic of South Africa